






























REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             709 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi, was convened at City Hall at 10:00 a.m. on August 29, 2023, being the fifth Tuesday 

of said month, when and where the following things were had and done to wit: 

  

 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Ward 6, Council President; Angelique 

Lee, Vice-President, Ward 2; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth Stokes, Ward 

3; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 

7. Directors: Chokwe Antar Lumumba, Mayor; Safiya Omari, Chief of 

Staff; Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council; Victor Allen, Chief 

Deputy Clerk of Council and Catoria Martin, City Attorney.  

 

 Absent:           None. 

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The invocation was offered by Rev. Rosa Barron of Greater Allen Temple AME Church. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

RESOLUTION DECLARING CERTAIN PARCELS OF REAL PROPERTY IN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON TO BE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 

AND WELFARE PURSUANT TO SECTION 21-19-11 OF THE MISSISSIPPI 

CODE AND BASED ON ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS HELD ON JUNE 6, 2023 

FOR THE FOLLOWING CASES: 

 

23-954        23-265         23-1084        22-166        22-1849 

23-285       23-283         23-276          23-274        23-273 

23-271        23-264         23-269          21-1768      22-2500 

22-2498      22-2497       23-1087        21-1929      22-1787 

22-895       22-162         21-69            23-33          21-1862 

22-726        22-2549       22-2550        23-777        22-1827 

22-1235      23-472 

 

WHEREAS, Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code, as amended, provides that a 

governing authority shall conduct a hearing to determine whether property or parcels of land 

located within a municipality is in such a state of uncleanliness as to be a menace to the public 

health, safety, and welfare of the community; and 

WHEREAS, Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code as amended sets forth the 

procedure for mailing and posting notice of the hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, hearings were held on June 6, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the hearing officer determined that notice was provided in accordance with 

Section 21-19-11 prior to the hearings; and 

 

WHEREAS, after hearing testimony and reviewing evidence, the hearing officer made 

findings and recommendations for adjudication concerning certain parcels as follows: 

 

1) Case #23-954: Parcel #613-50 located at 121 Savanna St.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00.  Ward 7 

 

shanekiaj
Text Box
Consent Agenda Item No. 49.26.2023(S.Jordan, Banks)



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             710 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to insure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

2) Case #23-285: Parcel #214-72 located at 260 Marla Ave.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $750.00.  Ward 5 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to insure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

3) Case #23-283: Parcel #214-64 located at 285 Marla Ave.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00.  Ward 5 

 

Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 

 

4) Case #23-276: Parcel #213-17 located at 1920 East Dr.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00.  Ward 5 

 

Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 

 

5) Case #23-274: Parcel #213-27 located at 1812 East Dr.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00.  Ward 5 

 

Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 

 

6) Case #23-273: Parcel #213-142 located at 1904 Willow Way: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $750.00.  Ward 5 

 

Scope of Work: Board up and/or secure structure(s). Remove trash and debris. 

 

7) Case #23-271: Parcel #213-171 located at 2028 Willow Way: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as 

a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00.  Ward 5 

 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris. 

8) Case #23-265:  Parcel #213-124 located at 2033 Will-O-Way: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as 

a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00.  Ward 5 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

9) Case #23-264: Parcel #213-121 located at 2005 Will-O-Way: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00. Ward 5 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             711 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to insure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

10) Case #23-269: Parcel #213-178 located at 2046 Willow Way: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as 

a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00.  Ward 5 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

11) Case #21-1768: Parcel #626-116-1 located at 217 Sykes Rd.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as 

a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00.  Ward 6 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

12) Case #22-2500: Parcel #97-225 located at 2117 Rondo St.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as 

a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards.  

 

13) Case #22-2498: Parcel #97-223 located at 2101 Rondo St.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as 

a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to insure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards.  

 

14) Case #22-2497: Parcel #97-338 located at 1827 Rondo St.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $750.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to insure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

15) Case #23-1084: Parcel #214-70 located at 270 Marla Ave.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as 

a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $750.00. Ward 5 

 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris. 

 

16) Case #23-1087: Parcel #213-192 located at 2115 Oakhurst Dr.: No appearance by 

owner or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 5 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             712 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

17) Case #21-1929: Parcel #500-304 located at 256 Culley Dr.: After hearing testimony 

from Charoni Ford, hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare; however, Charoni Ford shall be afforded 

fifteen (15) days until June 21, 2023 to cure the violations by completing the scope of 

work. If there is a default and the City proceeds with cleaning, hearing officer recommends 

an assessment of actual costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 2 

 

Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 

 

18) Case #22-1787: Parcel #566-67 located at 5077 Sunnyvale Dr.: No appearance by 

owner or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated 

as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00. Ward 1 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of the dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure the property is clear and 

free of any and all health hazards. 

 

19) Case #22-895: Parcel #104-95 located at 701 Spring St.: No appearance by owner or 

an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Board up and/or secure structure(s). Remove trash and debris. 

 

20) Case #22-162: Parcel #422-320 located at 3453 Bailey Ave.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 
 

21) Case #21-69: Parcel #430-176 located at 315 Stillwood Dr.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as 

a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, saplings as needed. 

Remove trash and debris. 

 

22) Case #22-166: Parcel #401-10-14 located at 760 Toole Ave.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $1,000.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of the dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure the property is clear and 

free of any and all health hazards. 

 

23) Case #23-33: Parcel #409-848-10 located at 2322 Idaho St.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00. Ward 4 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             713 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of the dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure the property is clear and 

free of any and all health hazards. 

 

24) Case #21-1862: Parcel #99-3-1 located at 1603 Pleasant Ave.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00. Ward 7 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

25) Case #22-726: Parcel #99-10-2 located at 1610 Pleasant Ave.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party. Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00. Ward 7 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

26) Case #22-2549: Parcel #95-159 located at 1021 Palmyra St.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 

 

27) Case #22-2550: Parcel #95-102 located at 1120 Palmyra St. Unit 22: No appearance 

by owner or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be 

adjudicated as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual 

costs and a penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 

 

28) Case #23-777: Parcel #95-171 located at 1251 Palmyra St.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a penalty 

of $500.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

29) Case #22-1849: Parcel #95-218 located at 1351 Palmyra St.: No appearance by owner 

or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated as 

a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00. Ward 3 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

30) Case #22-1827: Parcel #732-334 located at 3625 W. Northside Dr.: No appearance by 

owner or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated 

as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00. Ward 4 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             714 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Scope of Work: Remove trash and debris. 

 

31) Case #22-1235: Parcel #732-632 located at 3533 W. Northside Dr.: No appearance by 

owner or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated 

as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $500.00. Ward 4 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of the dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure the property is clear and 

free of any and all health hazards. 

 

32) Case #23-472: Parcel #642-370 located at 361 Queen Marie Ln.: No appearance by 

owner or an interested party.  Hearing officer recommends that the property be adjudicated 

as a menace to public health, safety, and welfare with assessment of actual costs and a 

penalty of $750.00. Ward 4 

 

Scope of Work: Demolish and remove remains of dilapidated structure, trash, debris, 

foundation, steps, driveway, tires, and any other items to ensure property is clear and free 

of any and all health hazards. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the above parcels be adjudicated a menace to 

public health, safety, and welfare as recommended by the hearing officer. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that a copy of the notices mailed and posted to owners 

and interested parties of the above parcels shall be included in the minutes along with this 

resolution pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code as amended. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Administration shall be authorized to remedy 

conditions on the parcels posing a threat to public health and safety using municipal resources 

or contract labor if the owners fail to do so. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the adjudication of penalties, if any, shall be 

reserved until such time that a resolution is approved assessing actual costs. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

 

The Notices of Hearing pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code, as it relates to each 

parcel of property, is incorporated herein in their entirety, and located in Public Notices, located 

in the City Clerk’s Office of the City of Jackson, Mississippi.   

       

          * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO 

DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; 

CUT GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY 

CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE 

TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO 

MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-1054 

LOCATED AT 3702 SKYLINE DR. PARCEL #410-395 – $4,739.00.  

 

WHEREAS, on May 23, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 

held on February 7, 2023, for Case #CE-22-1054 located at 3702 Skyline Dr. parcel #410-395 in 

Ward 3 of the City of Jackson; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             715 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 3702 Skyline Dr.; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid of $4,739.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 

 

WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed, Love Trucking Co., Inc. through 

its representative, Dennis Love, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, driveway 

and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, debris, tires, 

crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; and remedy 

conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel located at 3702 

Skyline Dr.  in an amount not to exceed $4,739.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office located at 761 Woodlake Dr. 

Jackson, MS 39206, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi Secretary of State’s 

website. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with     

Love Trucking Co., Inc. to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the property located 

at 3702 Skyline Dr. deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $4,739.00 shall be paid 

to Love Trucking Co., Inc. upon the completion of the services provided from funds budgeted for 

the Division. 

  

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO DEMOLISH 

THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT GRASS AND 

WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY CONDITIONS ON 

PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC 

HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE 

ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-370 LOCATED AT 2624 

MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. DR. UNIT 40 PARCEL #405-484-1 – $36,999.00.  

WHEREAS, on July 3, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 

held on March 7, 2023, for Case #CE-22-370 located at 2624 Martin Luther King Jr. Dr. Unit 40 

parcel #405-484-1 in Ward 3 of the City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 2624 Martin Luther King Jr. 

Dr. Unit 40; and 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid of $36,999.00; and 

WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             716 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed, Love Trucking Co., Inc. through 

its representative, Dennis Love, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, driveway 

and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, debris, tires, 

crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; and remedy 

conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel located at 2624 

Martin Luther King Jr. Dr. Unit 40 in an amount not to exceed $36,999.00; and 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office located at 761 Woodlake Dr. 

Jackson, MS 39206, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi Secretary of State’s 

website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with     

Love Trucking Co., Inc. to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the property located 

at 2624 Martin Luther King Jr. Dr. Unit 40 deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare. 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $36,999.00 shall be 

paid to Love Trucking Co., Inc. upon the completion of the services provided from funds budgeted 

for the Division. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizzell, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO 

DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; 

CUT GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY 

CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE 

TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO 

MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-1053 

LOCATED AT 3648 SKYLINE DR. PARCEL #410-394 – $4,739.00. 

 

WHEREAS, on May 23, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 

held on February 7, 2023, for Case #CE-22-1053 located at 3648 Skyline Dr. parcel #410-394 in 

Ward 3 of the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 3648 Skyline Dr.; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid of $4,739.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 

 

WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed, Love Trucking Co., Inc. through 

its representative, Dennis Love, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, driveway 

and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, debris, tires, 

crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; and remedy 

conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel located at 3648 

Skyline Dr.  in an amount not to exceed $4,739.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office located at 761 Woodlake Dr. 

Jackson, MS 39206, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi Secretary of State’s 

website. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             717 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with     

Love Trucking Co., Inc. to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the property located 

at 3648 Skyline Dr. deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $4,739.00 shall be paid 

to Love Trucking Co., Inc. upon the completion of the services provided from funds budgeted for 

the Division. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING, CO., INC. TO 

DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND DRIVEWAY, TO CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS, AND TO PERFORM 

OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS ON STATE-OWNED 

PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 

AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 

21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-21-1689 LOCATED AT 239 S PRENTISS ST – PARCEL 

#126-6-3 – $44,438.00.  

 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 239 S. Prentiss St. due to delinquent taxes; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 

 

WHEREAS, on August 1, 2023, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-21-1689 located at 239 S. Prentiss St parcel #126-6-3 in Ward 5 of the City 

of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and  

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid and through its Member, 

Dennis Love, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut grass and 

weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions constituting a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 239 S Prentiss St for the sum 

of $44,438.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office address of 761 Woodlake Dr. 

Jackson, MS 39206 according to the information appearing on the Mississippi Secretary of State’s 

website. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with Quality Landscape and Lawn Maintenance, Inc. to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, 

and driveway, to cut grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy 

the other conditions on the property located at 239 S. Prentiss St. deemed to be a menace to public 

health, safety, and welfare. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $44,438.00 shall be 

paid to Quality Landscape and Lawn Maintenance, Inc. for the services provided from funds 

budgeted for the Division. 

  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             718 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO 

DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND DRIVEWAY, TO CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS, AND TO PERFORM 

OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS ON STATE-OWNED 

PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 

AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED 

SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-21-1998 LOCATED AT 1037 BROOKLEY 

STREET – PARCEL #839-282 – $6,889.00. 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 1037 Brookley Street due to delinquent 

taxes; and 

WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 

WHEREAS, on April 12, 2023, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-21-1998 located at 1037 Brookley Street parcel #839-282 in Ward 6 of the 

City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and  

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid and through its Member, 

Dennis Love, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut grass and 

weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions constituting a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 1037 Brookley Street for the 

sum of $6,889.00; and 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office address of 761 Woodlake 

Drive Jackson, Mississippi 39206 according to the information appearing on the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with Love Trucking Co., Inc. to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut 

grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy the other conditions 

on the property located at 1037 Brookley Street deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, 

and welfare. 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $6,889.00 shall be paid 

to Love Trucking Co., Inc. for the services provided from funds budgeted for the Division. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO DEMOLISH THE 

STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT GRASS AND 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             719 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY CONDITIONS ON 

PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC 

HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE 

ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-21-55 LOCATED AT 2215 

DECATUR ST. PARCEL #104-139 – $7,769.00. 

 

WHEREAS, on March 14, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 

held on December 20, 2022, for Case #CE-21-55 located at 2215 Decatur St. parcel #104-139 in 

Ward 3 of the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and responded 

to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 2215 Decatur St.; and 

 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid of $7,769.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not subject 

to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi Code of 

1972; and 

 

WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed, Love Trucking Co., Inc. through 

its representative, Dennis Love, has agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, driveway 

and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, debris, tires, 

crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; and remedy 

conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel located at 2215 

Decatur St.  in an amount not to exceed $7,769.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office located at 761 Woodlake Dr. 

Jackson, MS 39206, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi Secretary of State’s 

website. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with     

Love Trucking Co., Inc. to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the property located at 

2215 Decatur St. deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $7,769.00 shall be paid 

to Love Trucking Co., Inc. upon the completion of the services provided from funds budgeted for 

the Division. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO 

DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND DRIVEWAY, TO CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS, AND TO PERFORM 

OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS ON STATE-OWNED 

PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 

AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED 

SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-23-1085 LOCATED AT 1750 UNIVERSITY 

BOULEVARD – PARCEL #201-81 – $9,338.00.  

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 1750 University Boulevard due to 

delinquent taxes; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             720 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 

WHEREAS, on April 19, 2023, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-23-1085 located at 1750 University Boulevard parcel #201-81 in Ward 7 of 

the City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and  

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid and through its Member, 

Dennis Love, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut grass and 

weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions constituting a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 1750 University Boulevard 

for the sum of $9,338.00; and 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office address of 761 Woodlake 

Drive Jackson, Mississippi 39206 according to the information appearing on the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with Love Trucking Co., Inc. to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut 

grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy the other conditions 

on the property located at 1750 University Boulevard deemed to be a menace to public health, 

safety, and welfare. 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $9,338.00 shall be paid 

to Love Trucking Co., Inc. for the services provided from funds budgeted for the Division. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO 

DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND DRIVEWAY, TO CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS, AND TO PERFORM 

OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS ON STATE-OWNED 

PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 

AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED 

SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-21-1997 LOCATED AT 1008 BROOKLEY 

STREET – PARCEL #839-308 – $6,889.00. 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 1008 Brookley Street due to delinquent 

taxes; and 

WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 

WHEREAS, on April 12, 2023, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-21-1997 located at 1008 Brookley Street parcel #839-308 in Ward 6 of the 

City of Jackson; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             721 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and  

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid and through its Member, 

Dennis Love, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut grass and 

weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions constituting a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 1008 Brookley Street for the 

sum of $6,889.00; and 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office address of 761 Woodlake 

Drive Jackson, Mississippi 39206 according to the information appearing on the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with Love Trucking Co., Inc. to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut 

grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy the other conditions 

on the property located at 1008 Brookley Street deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, 

and welfare. 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $6,889.00 shall be paid 

to Love Trucking Co., Inc. for the services provided from funds budgeted for the Division. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO 

DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND DRIVEWAY, TO CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS, AND TO PERFORM 

OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS ON STATE-OWNED 

PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 

AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED 

SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-21-1996 LOCATED AT 1020 BROOKLEY 

STREET – PARCEL #839-306 – $6,499.00.  

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 1020 Brookley Street due to delinquent 

taxes; and 

WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 

WHEREAS, on April 12, 2023, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-21-1996 located at 1020 Brookley Street parcel #839-306 in Ward 6 of the 

City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and  

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid and through its Member, 

Dennis Love, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut grass and 

weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions constituting a 

menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 1020 Brookley Street for the 

sum of $6,499.00; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             722 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office address of 761 Woodlake 

Drive Jackson, Mississippi 39206 according to the information appearing on the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with Love Trucking Co., Inc. to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut 

grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy the other conditions 

on the property located at 1020 Brookley Street deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, 

and welfare. 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $6,499.00 shall be paid 

to Love Trucking Co., Inc. for the services provided from funds budgeted for the Division. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO 

DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND DRIVEWAY, TO CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS, AND TO PERFORM 

OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS ON STATE-OWNED 

PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 

AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED 

SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-2034 LOCATED AT 1303 MARIA DRIVE 

– PARCEL #633-183 – $4,000.00.  

 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 1303 Maria Drive due to delinquent taxes; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 

 

WHEREAS, on January 26, 2023, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-22-2034 located at 1303 Maria Drive parcel #633-183 in Ward 6 of the City 

of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid and through its 

Member, Dennis Love, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut 

grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions 

constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 1303 Maria 

Drive for the sum of $4,000.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office address of 761 Woodlake 

Drive Jackson, Mississippi 39206 according to the information appearing on the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s website. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with Love Trucking Co., Inc. to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut 

grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy the other conditions 

on the property located at 1303 Maria Drive deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             723 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $4,000.00 shall be paid 

to Love Trucking Co., Inc. for the services provided from funds budgeted for the Division. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.     

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND TRIARC MANAGEMENT 

SERVICES LLC TO DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND 

DRIVEWAY, TO CUT GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASH AND 

DEBRIS, AND TO PERFORM OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS 

ON STATE-OWNED PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC 

HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE 

ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-721 LOCATED AT 2269 

HICKORY DRIVE – PARCEL #837-178-1 – $7,000.00. 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 2269 Hickory Drive due to delinquent taxes; 

and 

WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 

WHEREAS, on June 10, 2022, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-22-721 located at 2269 Hickory Drive parcel #837-178-1 in Ward 5 of the 

City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and  

WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC submitted the lowest bid and through its 

Member, Stacey Stowers, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut 

grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions 

constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 2269 Hickory 

Drive for the sum of $7,000.00; and 

WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC has a principal office address of 644 E. 

Rhinewalt Road, Lena, Mississippi 39094 according to the information appearing on the 

Mississippi Secretary of State’s website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with TriArc Management Services LLC to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, 

to cut grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy the other 

conditions on the property located at 2269 Hickory Drive deemed to be a menace to public health, 

safety, and welfare. 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $7,000.00 shall be paid 

to TriArc Management Services LLC for the services provided from funds budgeted for the 

Division. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             724 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND TRIARC MANAGEMENT 

SERVICES LLC TO DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND 

DRIVEWAY, TO CUT GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASH AND 

DEBRIS, AND TO PERFORM OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS 

ON STATE-OWNED PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC 

HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE 

ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-21-73 LOCATED AT 3105 

ADRIENNE DRIVE – PARCEL #622-173 – $5,000.00. 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 3105 Adrienne Drive due to delinquent 

taxes; and 

WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 

WHEREAS, on June 22, 2023, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-21-73 located at 3105 Adrienne Drive parcel #622-173 in Ward 6 of the 

City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and  

WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC submitted the lowest bid and through its 

Member, Stacey Stowers, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut 

grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions 

constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 3105 Adrienne 

Drive for the sum of $5,000.00; and 

WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC has a principal office address of 644 E. 

Rhinewalt Road, Lena, Mississippi 39094 according to the information appearing on the 

Mississippi Secretary of State’s website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with TriArc Management Services LLC to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, 

to cut grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy the other 

conditions on the property located at 3105 Adrienne Drive deemed to be a menace to public health, 

safety, and welfare. 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $5,000.00 shall be paid 

to TriArc Management Services LLC for the services provided from funds budgeted for the 

Division. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND TRIARC MANAGEMENT 

SERVICES LLC TO DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND 

DRIVEWAY, TO CUT GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASH AND 

DEBRIS, AND TO PERFORM OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS 

ON STATE-OWNED PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             725 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE 

ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-172 LOCATED AT 1804 

UNIVERSITY BOULEVARD – PARCEL #201-75 – $9,000.00. 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 1804 University Boulevard due to 

delinquent taxes; and 

WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 

WHEREAS, on April 19, 2023, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-22-172 located at 1804 University Boulevard parcel #201-75 in Ward 7 of 

the City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and  

WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC submitted the lowest bid and through its 

Member, Stacey Stowers, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut 

grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions 

constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 1804 University 

Boulevard for the sum of $9,000.00; and 

WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC has a principal office address of 644 E. 

Rhinewalt Road, Lena, Mississippi 39094 according to the information appearing on the 

Mississippi Secretary of State’s website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with TriArc Management Services LLC to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, 

to cut grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy the other 

conditions on the property located at 1804 University Boulevard deemed to be a menace to public 

health, safety, and welfare. 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $9,000.00 shall be paid 

to TriArc Management Services LLC for the services provided from funds budgeted for the 

Division. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND FOUR SEASONS ENTERPRISES, 

LLC TO DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND DRIVEWAY, 

TO CUT GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS, AND TO 

PERFORM OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS ON STATE-

OWNED PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, 

SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED 

SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-21-1912 LOCATED AT 2988 BOOKER 

WASHINGTON STREET – PARCEL #101-119-16 – $6,450.00.  

 

WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 2988 Booker Washington Street due to 

delinquent taxes; and 

 

WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             726 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, on March 15, 2023, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-21-1912 located at 2988 Booker Washington Street parcel #101-119-16 in 

Ward 3 of the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC submitted the lowest bid and through its 

Member, Robert Love, agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to cut 

grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions 

constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 2988 Booker 

Washington Street for the sum of $6,450.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC has a principal office address of 4612 

Medgar Evers Boulevard, Jackson, Mississippi 39213 according to the information appearing on 

the Mississippi Secretary of State’s website. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, to 

cut grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy the other 

conditions on the property located at 2988 Booker Washington Street deemed to be a menace to 

public health, safety, and welfare. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $6,450.00 shall be paid 

to Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC for the services provided from funds budgeted for the Division. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AUGUST 1, 2023 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES.  

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AUGUST 3, 2023 SPECIAL COUNCIL/CITIZEN'S AGENDA 

MEETING MINUTES.  

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for Introduction Agenda Item No. 20: 

 

ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE II, DIVISION 4 OF THE 

JACKSON CODE OF ORDINANCES. President Banks stated said item would be 

referred to the Finance Committee. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             727 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks requested that Agenda Item No. 35 be moved forward on the Agenda. Hearing 

no objections, the Clerk read the following:  
 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF EMERGENCY CONSTRUCTION 

REPAIRS FROM VARIOUS VENDORS AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO 

SAID VENDORS FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS.  

WHEREAS, in late August 2022, the Pearl River rose to flood levels resulting in flood 

water entering the City’s West Bank Interceptor and flowing out of low manholes on the dry side 

of flood protection levees; and 

 

WHEREAS, the PGA Tour’s Sanderson Farms Championship, scheduled for September 

29 through October 2, 2022, is a major economic and tourism event in the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the golf course suffered significant sewer backups in low lying areas and 

nearing holes that were a part of the tournament course, which would have may parts of the 

tournament course unplayable; and 

 

WHEREAS, in the late summer and fall of 2022 while the City of Jackson was under a 

water system emergency, the city experienced multiple water line breaks that under the 

extraordinary circumstances threatened the stability and pressurization of the entire surface water 

system; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these necessary repair 

services was done without prior approval by the City Council of the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the repair work by each vendor has been completed. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that payment to the vendors listed below in the 

amounts listed below be made consistent with the attached invoices. 

 

Utility Constructors, Inc.    Fortification St 20” Main   $ 190,251.60 

Utility Constructors, Inc.    Old Canton Rd at Kaywood    $ 35,162.50 

Utility Constructors, Inc.    Peachtree St 6” Main     $ 26,537.00 

Utility Constructors, Inc.    Two leaks at Hwy 18 Picadilly   $ 96,585.00 

Utility Constructors, Inc.    Dixie Dr Water Leak     $ 38,020.00 

Utility Constructors, Inc.    Water Main behind Picadilly    $ 49,330.00 

Utility Constructors, Inc.    Poplar Blvd at North St         $ 18,000.00 

Hemphill Construction Company, Inc.  Woodrow Wilson 10” Main     $ 17,339.71 

Hemphill Construction Company, Inc.  Post-Flood Sewer Clean Up     $ 78,206.03 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 29248 to 29286 APPEARING AT 

PAGES 656 TO 676 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 

CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $3,500,700.93 AND MAKING 

APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 29248 to 29286 appearing at pages 

656 to 676, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 

$3,500,700.93 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 

immediate payment thereof. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             728 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

                                                                                                                    TO 

                                                                                                  ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

         FROM:                                                                                           FUND 

GENERAL FUND   418,876.22 

SEIZURE & FORF PROP-FED  49,666.67 

PARKS & RECR. FUND  19,450.04 

LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  511,977.86 

NCSC SENIOR AIDS  3,493.17 

STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND  36,194.64 

WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND  4,209.93 

KELLOGG FOUNDATION PORJECT   41,163.54 

PAYROLL FUND  211.75 

HOUSING COM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  544.28 

TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS   2,522.01 

INFRASTRUCTURE BOND 2020 $32M  418,285.65 

1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX  259,138.02 

MADISON SEWAGE DISP OP & MAINT  39.54 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  25,021.13 

JXN CONVENTION & VISITORS BUR   302,244.05 

P E G ACCESS – PROGRAMMING FUND  1,312.80 

MODERNIZATION TAX    781,035.46 

CDBG COVID CARES   16,006.84 

2020 ED BRYNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE   30,000.00 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  1,677.00 

LIBRARY FUND   9,453.50 

DFA – THALIA MARA HALL $2M   1,510.00 

MDOT – CMPDD PROJECTS   425,799.46 

2020 GO PLANETARIUM BOND $7.5M  108,428.57 

CFO-EXTERNAL FUNDING   32,438.20 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $3,500,700.93 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

               _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, who provided an 

overview of larger claims at the request of President Banks.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Foote, Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Banks, Hartley and Stokes.  

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER APPROVING GROSS PAYROLL INCLUDING PAYROLL 

 DEDUCTION CLAIMS NUMBERED 29248 TO 29286 AND MAKING 

 APPROPRIATION FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that payroll deduction claims numbered 29248 to 29286 

inclusive therein, in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of $94,865.85 

plus payroll, are approved for payment and necessary amounts are appropriated from various 

municipal funds for transfer to the payroll fund for the immediate payment thereof. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             729 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the following expenditures from the accounts payable 

fund be made in order to pay amounts transferred thereto from the payroll fund for payment of the 

payroll deduction claims authorized herein for payment:    

 

         TO                                           TO 

FROM:                                                             ACCOUNTS PAYABLE                  PAYROLL     

                                                                                           FUND                                    FUND 

GENERAL FUND  2,328,318.65 

PARKS & RECR FUND  104,415.58 

LANDFILL FUND  25,530.55 

SENIOR AIDES  3,436.44 

WATER/SEWER OPER & MAINT  94,340.45 

PAYROLL  94,865.85  

HOUSING COMM DEV  8,463.90 

TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS  5,990.03 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  18,433.75 

PEG ACCESS-PROGRAMMING FUND  5,464.77 

2020 SAKI GRAND DOJ  7,405.71 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  31,154.99 

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT 2021              253.38 

NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING COMM  3,627.77 

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $2,636,835.97 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks requested that Agenda Items No. 24, 25, 26 and 27 be moved forward on the 

Agenda. Hearing no objections, the Clerk read the following:  

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING AMENDMENT OF BUDGET OF THE JACKSON 

POLICE DEPARTMENT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023 TO TRANSFER 

MONIES FROM CAPITAL OUTLAY ACCOUNT TO LAW ENFORCEMENT 

EQUIPMENT ACCOUNT.  

WHEREAS, on October 11, 2022, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson 

authorized the Mayor to enter into an Interlocal Agreement with Hinds County, Mississippi for the 

acceptance of the fiscal year 2020 Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant in the amount 

of $268,637.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, all of the grant proceeds were allocated to the capital outlay account 

383.442.84.6877; and 

 

WHEREAS, the grant allocated funds for the procurement of equipment; and 

 

WHEREAS, the sum of $17,088.80 was advance and paid from the law enforcement 

equipment account identified as 383.442.84.6224; and 

 

WHEREAS, the sums expended from account 383.442.84.6224 for the procurement of 

helmets should be reimbursed from the account where the grant monies were allocated so that 

there is expenditure of the grant funds in accordance with the terms of the Edward Byrne Memorial 

Grant award. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Jackson Police Department’s budget for fiscal 

year 2022-2023 shall be amended as follows: 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             730 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Account from which transfer will be made #      Amount       Account Receiving transfers # 

383.442.84.6877                                                $17,088.80                           383.442.84.6224 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO THE INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE OF 

MUNICIPAL CLERKS FOR THE RENEWAL OF MEMBERSHIP DUES AND 

MASTER MUNICIPAL CLERK CERTIFICATION FOR ALL DEPUTY CITY 

CLERKS AND THE CLERK OF COUNCIL.  

WHEREAS, the International Institute of Municipal Clerks (IIMC) is the premier 

organization for Municipal Clerks that has provided over 75 years of experience in improving the 

professionalism of Municipal Clerks; and 

 

            WHEREAS, IIMC is a source for educational programs, technical support, resources, and 

publications. Membership opens many doors, including the advanced academy, annual conference 

certification program, education, networking, professional support, publications, and resource 

center; and 

 

            WHEREAS, full members are Municipal Clerks who serve a legislative government body 

in an administrative capacity with management responsibilities and whose duties include custody 

of the official seal and execution of official documents, elections, financial management, general 

management, human resources management, management of Bylaws, Articles of Incorporation, 

ordinances, or other legal instruments, meeting administration, and records management; and 

 

WHEREAS, a municipality may pay professional association dues for individuals if the 

public entity determines that the professional association dues or licensing fees are reasonable and 

necessary to the performance of the employee's duties and the membership must accrue to the 

benefit of the municipality, and any benefit to the individual must be merely incidental; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Master Municipal Clerk (MMC) program is the second and more 

advanced of the two professional designations granted by IIMC. The MMC program is an 

advanced continuing education program that prepares participants to perform complex municipal 

duties. The program has an extensive and rigorous educational component and a professional 

contribution component. The MMC applicant must demonstrate that they have actively pursued 

education and professional activities; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the Department of Municipal Clerk represents that it will cost a municipal 

clerk to become a member of IIMC, as follows: 

 

Application Fee                                                          $40.00 

Annual Membership Fee                                             $125.00 

Master Municipal Clerk Certification                         $400.00 

Late Fees (If the annual membership fee is late)        $15.00 

IIMC Foundation Education Contribution                  $25.00            

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the governing authorities for the City of Jackson 

determine that IIMC professional association dues are reasonable and necessary to the 

performance of the Deputy City Clerks and the Clerk of Council duties and the membership accrue 

to the benefit of the municipality, and any benefit to the Deputy City Clerks and the Clerk of 

Council is merely incidental. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Department of Municipal Clerk is authorized to pay 

the IIMC to renew membership dues and Master Municipal Clerk Certification for all Deputy City 

Clerks and the Clerk of Council. 

 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             731 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RATIFYING THE ACCEPTANCE OF SCANNING SERVICES FROM 

SCAN SOUTH, LLC FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF MUNICIAL CLERK AND 

AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF SAID SERVICES.  

WHEREAS, the Department of Municipal Clerk selected Scan South, LLC, located at 

3000 Old Canton Road, Suite 280, Jackson, MS 39216, to digitize documents; and 

WHEREAS, Scan South, LLC converted 4,218 documents at a rate of 0.06 for a total cost 

of $267.08; and 

 

WHEREAS, unless specifically required by statute or unless such services are provided in 

conjunction with the purchase of commodities, equipment, construction, or other purchases 

governed by Section 31-7-1 et seq., contracts for services are not required to be advertised for bid; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, although no statutorily-imposed competitive bidding requirements are 

involved in procuring professional services, the governing authorities must authorize the payment 

for professional services. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the acceptance of scanning services to digitize 

documents from Scan South, LLC to the City of Jackson, Department of Municipal Clerk is hereby 

ratified, and payment in the amount of Two Hundred Sixty-Seven Dollars and Eight Cents 

($267.08) for the provisions of scanning services is authorized. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023 BUDGET FOR THE 

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION TO TRANSFER TWENTY 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($20,000.00) LOCATED IN THE “RECREATIONAL 

SUPPLIES” CATEGORY AND NINE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($9,000.00) 

LOCATED IN THE “NON-CAPITALIZED EQUIPMENT” CATEGORY TO THE 

“OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES” CATEGORY TO COVER FENCE 

REPAIR/ REPLACEMENT AND DISC GOLF PARK INSTALL AT LIVINGSTON 

PARK.  

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5(1) of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended, states 

that the governing authorities of every municipality of the state shall have the care, management, 

and control of its municipal affairs, property, and finances; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is the sincere desire of the City of Jackson, Department of Parks and 

Recreation, to provide consistent and outstanding service to our youth, citizens, and visitors of the 

City of Jackson; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended, states that 

if it affirmatively appears at any time during the current fiscal year that there is in any fund or 

account any sum remaining unexpended and not needed or expected to be needed for the purpose 

or purposes for which appropriated in said budget, then the governing authorities may, in their 

discretion, transfer such sum or any part thereof to any other fund or funds or account or accounts 

where needed, by order to such effect entered upon their minutes. This shall not, however, 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             732 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

authorize the expenditure of any funds for any purpose other than that for which the levy producing 

such funds was made; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Parks and Recreation represents that the Twenty 

Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) located in the “Recreational Supplies” Category and the Nine 

Thousand Dollars ($9,000.00) located in the “Non-Capitalized Equipment” Category, that it 

presently seeks to transfer to the “Other Professional Services” Category, is not needed or expected 

to be needed for the purpose(s) for which it was originally appropriated in the Fiscal Year 2022-

2023 Budget; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) located in the “Recreational 

Supplies” Category and the Nine Thousand Dollars ($9,000.00) located in the “Non-Capitalized 

Equipment” Category is comprised of unspent bond funds for recreational supplies and non-

capitalized equipment projects; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Parks and Recreation needs this requested Budget 

amendment so that the Parks and Recreations Department can repair/replace a wire fence that was 

damaged from fallen trees during a storm in July of 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Parks and Recreation also seeks the requested Budget 

amendment so that the Parks and Recreation Department can purchased and install a Disc Golf 

Park in Livingston Park; and 

 

WHEREAS, said funds are requested to be transferred to the “Other Professional 

Services” Category as shown below; and 

 

Category Account No. Decrease Increase Total 

Recreational Supplies 404-501.30-6221 $20,000.00 

  

Non-Capitalized 

Equipment 

404-501.30-6240 $9,000.00 

  

Other Professional 

Services 

404-501.30-6419 

 

$29,000.00 $29,000.00 

 

WHEREAS, this intradepartmental transfer of Twenty-Nine Thousand Dollars 

($29,000.00) is in statutory compliance with Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, 

as amended, because the transfer requested in this Order, added to any previous Fiscal Year 2022-

2023 Department of Parks and Recreation Budget intradepartmental transfers, does not exceed ten 

percent (10%) of the total budget amount appropriated to the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Department 

of Parks and Recreation Budget. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget for the 

Department of Parks and Recreation be amended to authorize a Budget transfer of Twenty 

Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) located in the “Recreational Supplies” Category and Nine 

Thousand Dollars ($9,000.00) located in the “Non-Capitalized Equipment” Category, totaling 

Twenty-Nine Thousand Dollars ($29,000.00), to be allocated to the “Other Professional Services” 

Category. 
                                                                                                 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

               _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Ison Harris, Director of Parks and Recreation, who provided a 

brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             733 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER CONFIRMING THE MAYOR’S APPOINTMENT OF JOSEPH WADE AS 

CHIEF OF THE JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT, CITY OF JACKSON, 

MISSISSIPPI.  

WHEREAS, on June 1, 2023, the Mayor appointed Joseph Wade as Chief of the Jackson 

Police Department for the City of Jackson, Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 21-15-41, Mississippi Code of 1972, as 

amended, the interim term of Joseph Wade as Interim Police Chief will expire August 30, 2023, 

upon expiration he can no longer serve in an interim capacity; and 

 

WHEREAS, the appointment came before the City Council for confirmation as required 

by Section 21-8-23(2), Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the appointment, and a majority of the 

Council present and voting has determined that the appointment should be confirmed. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED by the City Council of the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi, that the appointment of Joseph Wade as Director of the Jackson Police Department 

for the City of Jackson, Mississippi, is hereby confirmed. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Mayor Chokwe Antar Lumumba, who provided a brief overview 

of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Joseph Wade, Interim Chief of the Jackson Police Department, 

who gave his personal statement and answered questions posed to him by Council Members. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

After a thorough discussion, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN AND CULTURAL 

SERVICES TO SUBMIT A COMPLIANCE REPORT TO THE CENTRAL 

MISSISSIPPI PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AREAAGENCY ON 

AGING FOR FUNDING TO PROVIDE CONGREGATE MEALS, HOME 

DELIVERED MEALS, TRANSPORTATION, AND OUTREACH SERVICES TO 

ELDERLYINDIVIDUALS AND INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES FOR THE 

2023-24 FISCAL YEAR. 

WHEREAS, the Central Mississippi Planning and Development District Area Agency on 

Aging, which serves 60 years and older populations in Hinds County, offers grant funding to 

provide congregate meals, home-delivered meals, transportation, and outreach services to elderly 

individuals and individuals with disabilities; and  

 

            WHEREAS, to receive funding, the City of Jackson is required to complete the General 

Compliance Requirements form to demonstrate the City is in compliance with Federal and/or State 

laws and regulations; and 

 

           WHEREAS, on behalf of the City of Jackson, the Senior Services will apply to Central 

Mississippi Planning and Development District Area Agency on Aging for financial assistance to 

provide congregate meals, home-delivered meals, transportation, and outreach services for the 

2023-2024 fiscal year; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             734 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

           WHEREAS, this Central Mississippi Planning and Development District Area Agency on 

Aging grant requires a 25% match for transportation and home-delivered meals and a 10% match 

for congregate meals and outreach services; and 

     

          WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services, through its Senior Services, 

is recommending that a grant application be submitted and the Mayor be authorized to execute the 

grant agreement and related documents to be used by the City’s Senior Services for the Fiscal Year 

2023-2024. 

 

         IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute the agreement and 

related documents with the Central Mississippi Planning and Development District Area Agency 

on Aging for the acceptance and implementation of the grant award from the Central Mississippi 

Planning and Development District Area Agency on Aging to aid in the financing of providing 

provide congregate meals, home-delivered meals, transportation, and outreach services to elderly 

individuals and individuals with disabilities. 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING AN EVENT LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR THE 

ANNUAL SENIOR HEALTH AND WELLNESS FAIR AT THE JACKSON 

CONVENTION COMPLEX.  

WHEREAS, on Thursday, October 19, 2023, from 7 am to 5 pm, the City of Jackson, 

along with other business and community stakeholders, will host the Annual Senior Health and 

Wellness Fair at the Jackson Convention Complex; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Jackson Convention Complex for the Capital City Convention 

Commission has agreed to provide space for the Senior Health and Wellness Fair and has waived 

customary rental fees associated with the use of the facility; and 

 

            WHEREAS, it is anticipated that two (2) unarmed security guards will be made available 

to the City of Jackson for eight (8) hours resulting in a cost of $1,950.00; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson and its citizenry would be served by 

authorizing the expenditure of $1,950.00 for the two (2) unarmed security guards; and 

 

       WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services recommends that the 

governing authorities for the City of Jackson, MS authorize the Mayor to execute an agreement to 

use Exhibit Hall B at the Jackson Convention Complex for the Annual Senior Health and Wellness 

Fair. 

        IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mayor shall be authorized to execute the Event 

License Agreement for the use of Exhibit Hall B at Jackson Convention Complex facilities to host 

the Annual Senior Health and Wellness Fair.      

 

        IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $1,950.00 may be paid 

to Jackson Convention Complex for two (2) unarmed security guards. 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACTUAL 

AGREEMENT WITH THE JACKSON MEDICAL MALL FOUNDATION FOR 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             735 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

THE 2023-2024 FISCAL YEAR FOR THE SENIOR TRANSPORTATION 

PROGRAM OF THE CITY OF JACKSON. 

WHEREAS, the Jackson Medical Mall Foundation Transportation Division has partnered 

with the Mississippi Department of Transportation (MDOT) and the City of Jackson’s Human and 

Cultural Division through Senior Services, for funding to support the Senior Transportation 

Program, which provides senior patrons and individuals with disabilities transportation services to 

nutrition, medical, and social destinations; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Department of Human and Cultural Services, through its Senior Services, 

is recommending that the City of Jackson enter into a contractual agreement with the Jackson 

Medical Mall Foundation to provide the following: (1) efficient and effective transportation 

services for individuals who are considered senior (60+); (2) effective transportation services to 

nutrition, medical, and social destinations; (3) services that will focus primarily on increasing 

access to goods and services that are required to increase social interaction and decrease elderly 

isolation; (4) increase social interaction, community integration and decrease isolation among 

individuals who are 60+ in age; and  (5) help participants maintain a sense of independence in their 

personal, social, and physical decision making; and 

 

            WHEREAS, under the proposed contractual agreement, the City of Jackson will provide 

funding for the program incorporating shared federal, state, and/or local resources, provide 

certification and recertification of participants, and provide case assessment services from October 

1, 2023, through September 30, 2024; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, through the Department of Human and Cultural 

Services, will provide Two Hundred Thousand and Four Dollars and No Cents ($200,004.00) out 

of the general fund; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the City of Jackson is seeking federal grant funds from CMPDD to fund the 

Senior Transportation Program, and when awarded, the funds will cover a share of the project’s 

costs; and 

 

            WHEREAS, MDOT has informed the City of Jackson that it is eligible to receive federal 

funds in the amount of Two Hundred Fourteen Thousand and Eight Hundred and Eighty-Five 

Dollars and No Cents ($214,885.00); and 

 

            WHEREAS, the City of Jackson will be billed monthly in the amount of Twenty-Six 

Thousand and Six Hundred and Sixty-Seven Dollars and No Cents ($26,667.00), which will be 

applied towards the total costs of the project ($); and 

 

     WHEREAS upon the completion of transportation services, the Jackson Medical Mall 

Foundation shall submit a monthly invoice to the City of Jackson by the 8th of each month, the 

City of Jackson shall pay the Jackson Medical Mall Foundation within 45 days after receiving an 

invoice. 

 

         IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a Contractual 

Agreement with the Jackson Medical Mall Foundation for the Senior Transportation Program for 

the period of October 1, 2023 through September 30, 2024. 

 

        IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that when awarded, the City of Jackson accepts and is 

authorized to receive additional funding from the Central Mississippi Planning and Development 

District/Area Agency on Aging and the Mississippi Department of Transportation. 

             

       IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Two Hundred Thousand and Four Dollars and No 

Cents ($200,004.00) be provided from the General Fund. 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – None. 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             736 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE APURCHASE ORDER TO 

PAY FRYE ENVIRONMENTAL TO CONDUCT ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

CLEARANCES FOR HUD-FUNDED PROJECTS ON BEHALF OF THE 

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s Department of Planning and Development, through the 

Office of Housing and Community Development (OHCD) and Community Improvement will be 

implementing several neighborhood demolitions aimed at building quality of life for residents in 

the City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, on May 22, 2023, the Department of Planning and Development published a 

Quotation Request Form seeking a vendor to perform environmental reviews per U.S. Department 

of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) guidelines; and 

WHEREAS, from May 23, 2023 to May 25, 2023, the Department of Planning and 

Development received two (2) completed quotation request forms; and 

WHEREAS, Frye Environmental submitted the lowest price quotes to complete 

environmental reviews for HUD funded projects throughout the Department of Planning and 

Development; and 

WHEREAS, Frye Environmental has a principal office located at 26 Placer Drive 

Dahlonega, GA 30533; and 

WHEREAS, Frye Environmental, will complete each HUD environmental review as 

required as outlined below once the purchase order is approved: 

Description of Items Requested/Manufacturer/Services or work to 

be performed/Minor Repairs Requested 
Price Per Project 

Location 

Part 58 CEST- Scattered Site Demolitions $2,900.00 

Part 58 CEST- Scattered Site Demolitions $2,900.00 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a purchase 

order with Frye Environmental to provide environmental reviews for HUD funded projects 

throughout the Department of Planning and Development as outlined below once the purchase 

order is approved: 

Description of Items Requested/Manufacturer/Services or work to 

be performed/Minor Repairs Requested 
Price Per Project 

Location 

Part 58 CEST- Scattered Site Demolitions $2,900.00 

Part 58 CEST- Scattered Site Demolitions $2,900.00 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount expended to Frye 

Environmental shall be paid for from funds budgeted to the Department of Planning and 

Development once the purchase order is approved. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development, who 

provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

  * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             737 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

ORDER AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS.  

WHEREAS, certain unanticipated needs and allocations have arisen since the adoption of 

the Fiscal Year 2023 City of Jackson budget for the Department of Public Works; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2023 City of Jackson budget should be amended to provide 

funding for resurfacing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the following accounts should be amended as follows: 

 

From Account    To Account     Amount 

001 45124 6320    213 45190 6824    $ 386,589.00 

001 45125 6320    213 45190 6824    $ 10,459.65 

Total           $ 397,048.65 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Fiscal Year 2023 budget be revised for the 

Department of Public Works: 

 

From Account    To Account     Amount 

001 45124 6320    213 45190 6824    $ 386,589.00 

001 45125 6320    213 45190 6824    $ 10,459.65 

Total           $ 397,048.65 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this revision to the budget of the Department of Public 

Works be published in accordance with Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks requested that Agenda Items No. 34 and 36 be moved forward on the Agenda. 

Hearing no objections, the Clerk read the following:  

 

ORDER ACCEPTING THE BID OF A-JONES SERVICES, LLC FOR THE HVAC 

REPLACEMENT AT JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT, PRECINCT 3.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson solicited sealed, competitive bids from two contractors, 

A-Jones Services, LLC. and Universal Services, LLC to supply equipment and labor necessary to 

replace the HVAC at Jackson Police Department, Precinct 3, pursuant Section 31-7-13 (b) of the 

Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, which allows for the procurement of public construction 

at a cost of $75,000.00 or less on sealed, competitive bids without the requirement of advertising 

the construction project; and 

 

WHEREAS, the bid received from A-Jones Services, LLC in an amount not to exceed 

$60,423.69 was the lowest bid and met the specifications; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works recommends that the governing authorities 

accept the bid of A-Jones Services, LLC, as the lowest and best bid. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the bid of A-Jones Services, LLC, in an amount 

not to exceed $60,423.69, is accepted as the lowest and best bid for the HVAC replacement at the 

Jackson Police Department, Precinct 3 consistent with the bid solicitation. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to executed a contract with 

A-Jones Services, LLC consistent with the terms set forth in this order, including the usual and 

customary terms and conditions for City of Jackson construction. 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             738 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF ASPHALT FROM AND 

AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO APAC MISSISSIPPI, LLC FOR THE 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS.  

WHEREAS, the Paved Streets Division of the Department of Public Works had need of 

asphalt as part of standard duties; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of the necessary asphalt was 

done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of the City of 

Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the purchases in the invoices attached hereto were provided to Paved Streets 

Division for asphalt and said materials have been delivered. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that payment to APAC Mississippi, LLC, in the 

amount of $13,346 be made consistent with the attached invoices. 

 

Invoice No.  Amount 

4000147458  $ 1,106.00 

4000147583  $ 2,867.65 

4000148142  $ 1,738.50 

4000148608  $ 3,225.95 

4000149485  $ 1,481.90 

4000149603  $ 2,926.00 

4000149707  $ 506.80 

Total             $13,346.00 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             739 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             740 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             741 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, City Engineer, who provided a brief overview of said 

item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             742 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS.  

WHEREAS, certain unanticipated needs and allocations have arisen since the adoption of 

the Fiscal Year 2023 City of Jackson budget for the Department of Public Works; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2023 City of Jackson budget should be amended to provide 

funding for the Emergency Garbage Collection Agreement for the months of June through 

September; and 

 

WHEREAS, the following accounts should be amended as follows: 

 

From        Amount    To Account    Amount 

0015899      $2,700,000.00   00149300 6753   $2,700,000.00 

001 49300 6753   $2,700,000.00   0095911    $2,700,000.00 

  0095911       $2,700,000.00   00945510 6492   $2,700,000.00 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Fiscal Year 2023 budget be revised for the 

Department of Public Works: 

 

From         Amount    To Account    Amount 

0015899       $2,700,000.00   00149300 6753   $2,700,000.00 

001 49300 6753   $2,700,000.00   0095911    $2,700,000.00 

0095911               $2,700,000.00   00945510 6492   $2,700,000.00 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this amendment to the budget of the Department of 

Public Works be published in accordance with Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 
 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF REPAIRS TO EQUIPMENT AND 

PARTS FOR IN-HOUSE REPAIRS FROM VARIOUS VENDORS AND 

AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO SAID VENDORS FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF 

PUBLIC WORKS.  

WHEREAS, the Municipal Garage Division of the Department of Public Works had need 

of certain repairs and parts for in-house repairs for the operation and maintenance of city vehicles 

and equipment used by the Department of Public Works; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these equipment repairs 

and parts for in-house repairs was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or 

the City Council of the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the equipment repairs and parts for in-house repairs set forth in certain 

invoices attached hereto were provided to the Municipal Garage, and the equipment repairs have 

been completed and the parts for in-house repairs received. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that payment to the following vendors in the amounts 

set forth be made, consistent with the attached invoices: 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             743 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

                                    Delta Muffler                                                                          $1,758.41 

                                    Empire Truck Sales, LLC                                                     $5,973.45 

                                    Hydraulic Service & Supply, LLC.                                      $261.88 

                                    Mac Haik Ford                                                                       $624.72 

                                    Mac Haik Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram                                  $2,229.30 

                                    Mid-South Machinery                                                           $44,550.00 

                                   ___________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                   Total                                         $ 55,397.76 

 

 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             744 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             745 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             746 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             747 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             748 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 

 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             749 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             750 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             751 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             752 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             753 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             754 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             755 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             756 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             757 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             758 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, City Engineer, who provided a brief overview of said 

item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT WITH 

COMPLETE ENVIRONMENTAL AND REMEDIATION CO., LLC FOR THE 

COLLECTION OF HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE AND HANDLING 

SERVICES AT THE ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICE CENTER.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, through the Solid Waste Division, has received grant 

funds from the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality to operate a permanent site for 

the collection of unwanted household hazardous waste from residents; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City’s Environmental Service Center (ESC) requires a professional waste 

company to remove and dispose of the collected household hazardous waste; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City published a request for proposals for the handling of household 

hazardous waste at the ESC, and the proposal of Complete Environmental and Remediation Co., 

LLC was the best proposal received; and 

 

WHEREAS, the scope of services for the Agreement is as follows: 

 

General Information 

The Service Provider agrees to accept, process and dispose of specified quantities and types 

of Hazardous Waste originating from sources located in Hinds County, including, but not 

limited to the City of Jackson, Hinds County, and Rankin County, in accordance with all 

applicable Federal, state and local regulations. Nothing herein shall prohibit any Service 

Provider from entering into any separate Contract with another person or municipality to 

provide such waste collection services. 

 

Required Services 

 

(a) Provide all equipment (e.g., safety equipment and supplies) and labor for the 

collection, handling, packaging, transportation and disposal of household 

hazardous waste; 

 

(b) Provide all supplies needed for containerizing the waste. 

 

(c)  Provide annual training to City personnel regarding planning and organizing 

assistance as needed for the operation of the Environmental Service Center (ESC); 

 

(d)  Collection of household hazardous waste from the City’s ESC includes, but will 

not be limited to, the following items: antifreeze, batteries, brake fluid, chlorine 

bleach, detergents, disinfectants, drain openers, furniture polish, motor oil/filter, 

oven cleaners, paint products, paint thinners, pesticides, photo chemicals, rodent 

poisons, rug cleaners, transmission fluid, turpentine, varnishes, water sealants, 

wood finishes, wood finishes, cell phones, computers and other electronics; 

 

(e)  Under no circumstances shall Contractor accept or handle the following waste: 

compressed gases, radioactive materials, ammunition, explosives, dioxin, 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             759 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

biological waste, medical waste, animal manure, animal carcasses, and spoiled 

foods; 

(f)  Supply properly trained and qualified labor to review, segregate, package, manifest, 

and transport collected waste every 30-90 days or within 5 working days of a 

request for service; 

 

Provide for the safe handling and disposal of collected waste in compliance with 

all applicable State and Federal regulations. The preferred method of waste 

management is recycling or reuse, followed by fuel blending, incineration, or 

chemical treatment. Land disposal shall be minimized to the extent possible; and 

 

WHEREAS, the rates at which the Contractor shall perform the services are as follows: 

 
ITEM COST (Words) COST (Figures) 

Mobilization/ Demobilization No Charge $0.00 

Supplies: 

 

  

55-gallon drum Fifty-Five Dollars each $58.00 each 

Cubic Yard Bags One Hundred Five Dollars each $105.00 each 

Transportation of drums, each Forty Dollars Each $40.00 

Miscellaneous: 

 

  

Bonds Cost plus 10% Cost plus 10% 

 

Laboratory analysis Cost plus 10% Cost plus 10% 

 

Planning Assistance No Charge No Charge 

 

Training No Charge No Charge 

 

 
WASTE STREAM DISPOSAL COST PER 55 GALLON DRUM & 

CUBIC YARD BAGS 

 

Non-Hazardous Paint (latex) $200.00 - per drum 

Two Hundred Dollars 

 

Hazardous Paint (Oil Based) $200.00 - per drum 

Two Hundred Dollars 

 

Aerosols $205.00 - per drum $450 - per cubic yd. box Two 

Hundred Five Dollars / Four Hundred Fifty 

Dollars 

 

Oxidizers $300.00 

Three Hundred Dollars 

Poisons $260.00 - per drum $2,000.00 - per cubic yard 

Two Hundred Sixty Dollars/ TwoThousand 

Dollars 

Flammables $195.00 

One Hundred Ninety Five Dollars 

Corrosives $250.00 

Two Hundred Fifty Dollars 

Antifreeze $215.00 

Two Hundred Fifteen Dollars 

 

Dry Cell Batteries $220.00 

Two Hundred Twenty Dollars 

Fluorescent Light Bulbs $0.49 per linear foot Forty-Nine Cents 

E-Waste $0.40 per pound Forty Cents 

Motor Oil $215.00 

Two Hundred Fifteen Dollars 

 

Cylinders -Small Propane, Freon, Helium PROPANE (BBQ STYLE) $5.00 EACH/ 

HELIUM $16.00 EACH/ FREON $37.00 EACH 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             760 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

Fire Extinguishers $275.00 Two Hundred Seventy-Five Dollars 

 

WHEREAS, the Agreement may be terminated under the following conditions: 

 

The City may terminate this Agreement at any time during its terms or any extension thereof with 

or without cause. All terms and conditions of this Agreement are considered material, and failure 

to perform any of the terms and conditions on the part of either party shall be considered a breach 

of this Agreement. 

 

(a) Termination for Convenience. If termination of the Agreement by the City is not 

based on cause, then the City shall provide the Contractor with thirty (30) days 

advance written notice of termination. 

 

(b) Termination for Cause. Prior to termination of the Agreement for cause, the City 

shall provide the Contractor written notice of its intent to terminate the agreement 

based on cause. The notice shall cite the basis for the City’s intended action, 

reasonable measures that should be taken or implemented by the Contractor to cure 

or remedy the defect, and shall advise the Contractor that the Agreement shall 

terminate ten (10) days from the date of the notice, if there has been no cure or if 

such deficiencies cannot reasonably remedied within a thirty (30) days period, as 

determined solely by the City. The failure of the City to terminate for cause shall 

not preclude the City from terminating the agreement at any time subsequent to the 

expiration of the ten (10) period to cure, absent the City agreeing in writing to afford 

the Contractor additional time. 

 

(c) Termination for failure to comply with State and Federal law. The City may 

terminate this Agreement at any time for Contractor’s failure to comply with 

applicable State and Federal laws, effective immediately upon giving written 

notice. 

 

(d) This Agreement shall terminate immediately upon written notice, if the Contractor 

is adjudicated bankrupt; is the subject of the appointment of a receiver and fails to 

have the receiver removed within thirty (30) days; has any property attached and 

fails to remove such attachment within thirty (30) days; becomes insolvent, or is 

unable to pay its debts as they become due. 

 

(e) This Agreement shall terminate immediately upon written notice, if the Contractor 

fails to provide or maintain the performance bond as required by this Agreement; 

or fails to obtain or maintain any insurance policies and endorsements as required 

by this contract; or fails to provide following the City’s request, the proof of 

insurance as required by this agreement. 

 

(f) This Agreement shall terminate on September 30th of each year of the Agreement, 

if the City does not receive an annual grant from the Mississippi Department of 

Environmental Quality in the amount at least $75,000.00 or otherwise does not 

budget for this Agreement. 

 

WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement shall be as follows: 

 

The term of this contract will be for two years with two one-year extensions solely at the 

option of the Mayor. The contract will automatically extend after the initial contract term 

expires unless the Mayor notifies the Contractor of its intent to terminate this contract 

within 30 days of the beginning of the contract extension. The second option will 

automatically begin after the end of the first extension term under the same conditions; and 

 

WHEREAS, the amount invoiced for the initial two-year term of the Agreement shall not 

exceed $150,000.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, the amount invoiced for the first option year, if exercised by the City shall 

not exceed $75,000.00; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             761 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, the amount invoiced for the second option year, if exercised by the City shall 

not exceed $75,000.00. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute an agreement 

with Complete Environmental and Remediation Co., LLC for two years with two one-year 

extensions solely at the option of the Mayor in amount not to exceed $150,000.00. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Agreement will automatically extend after the 

initial contract term expires at the same rates for work and in an amount not to exceed $75,000.00 

unless the Mayor notifies the Contractor of his intent to terminate this contract within 30 days of 

the beginning of the contract extension. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the second option will automatically begin after the 

end of the first extension term at the same rates for work and in an amount not to exceed $75,000 

unless the Mayor notifies the Contractor of his intent to terminate this contract within 30 days of 

the beginning of the contract extension. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute any and all related 

necessary documents to implement the Agreement and any extensions. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, City Engineer, and Lakesha Weathers, Solid Waste 

Manager, who provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING AN APRIL 2023 CREDIT TO SANITATION 

CUSTOMERS OF THE CITY OF JACKSON FOR GARBAGE COLLECTION.  

WHEREAS, due to the lapse of solid waste collection services on April 1, 2023, sanitation 

customers of the City of Jackson failed to receive garbage collection during a portion of the month 

of April 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson billed customers for garbage collection for April 2023, 

including those days when they did not receive garbage collection; and 

 

WHEREAS, because customers paid for, but did not receive garbage collection, the City 

of Jackson in compliance Miss. Code Ann. Section 17-17-5 believes that fairness requires a credit 

be applied to those sanitation customers who had active accounts during the period when the City 

did not provide for garbage collection; and 

 

WHEREAS, based on the lapse in services provided as of April 1, 2023, the City’s cost 

was reduced in the amount of at least $484,821.00, by not having to pay a contractor for garbage 

collection; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has determined that the appropriate credit to be provided to each 

customer with an active sanitation account on April 19, 2023 is at least $12.53. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that each customer with an active sanitation account 

on April 19, 2023 shall receive a credit to their “sanitation fee” of at least $12.53 on their monthly 

bill, with the total amount of the credits to all qualifying customers being approximately 

$484,821.00, and that this credit shall be applied to the customer’s account as soon as practicable 

to make them whole for garbage collection services for which these customers where charged.  

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             762 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

President Banks moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, City Engineer, and Catoria Martin, City Attorney, 

who provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER REVIEWING AND CONTINUING AUGUST 29, 2022 STATE OF 

EMERGENCY.  

WHEREAS, on August 29, 2022, the Mayor issued a proclamation of emergency as a 

result of (1) excessive rainfall and extreme flooding, (2) the March 7, 2020 Safe Drinking Water 

Act (SDWA) Emergency Administrative Order (EAO); (3) the February 2021 system-wide failure 

due to extreme water conditions that caused pipes to freeze and lose pressure; (4) the July 1, 2021 

SDWA Administrative Order of Consent (AOC); (5) the July 29, 2022 Boil Water Notice which 

existed for more than thirty (30) days; and (6) the August 25, 2022 flooding of the Pearl River, 

which lead to problems with treating water at the O.B. Curtis Water Plant; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 33-15-17(d) of the Mississippi Code allows the mayor of a 

municipality to proclaim a local emergency and authorizes the governing body of a municipality 

to review and approve or disapprove the need for continuing the local emergency at its first regular 

meeting following such proclamation or at a special meeting; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 33-15-5 (h) of the Mississippi Code defines an emergency as “any 

occurrence, or threat thereof, whether natural, technological, or man-made, in war or in peace, 

which results or may result in substantial injury or harm to the population or substantial damage 

to loss of property;” and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 33-15-5 (g) of the Mississippi Code defines a local emergency as 

“the duly proclaimed existence of conditions of disaster or extreme peril to the safety of person 

and property within the territorial limits of a…municipality caused by such conditions as…water 

pollution…or other natural or man-made conditions, which conditions are or are likely to be 

beyond the control of the services, personnel, equipment and facilities of the political subdivision 

and require the combined forces of other subdivisions or of the state to combat;” and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 33-15-17 (b) of the Mississippi Code, the City “is 

authorized to exercise the powers vested under [Section 33-15-1, et seq.,] in light of the exigencies 

of the extreme emergency situation without regard to time-consuming procedures and formalities 

prescribed by law pertaining to the performance of public work, entering into contracts, the 

incurring of obligations…and the expenditure of public funds…. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED that we the governing body of the City of 

Jackson, Mississippi, pursuant to the authority vested in the body by Section 33-l5-l7(d) of the 

Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, and in the public interest and for the general welfare of the 

City of Jackson, do hereby approve of the continued need for a civil emergency for the entire City 

of Jackson for the reasons set forth in this Order. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

             * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             763 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

ORDER REVIEWING AND CONTINUING STATE OF EMERGENCY.  

WHEREAS, on February 18, 2020, the Jackson City Council, pursuant to Section 33-15-

17(8(d) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, passed an Order Declaring the Need to 

Continue the State of Emergency that was issued on February 13, 2020 by Chokwe A. Lumumba, 

Mayor of the City of Jackson, Mississippi; and  
 

            WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, in the February 18, 2020 Order, found that flood 

waters and wide spread drainage system issues had affected several Jackson creeks, including, but 

not limited to:  Belhaven Creek; Bogue Chitto Creek; Canney Creek; Eubanks Creek; Hanging 

Moss Creek; Lynch Creek; Purple Creek; Three Mile Creek; Town Creek; Travon Creek; and 

White Oak Creek; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, in the February 18, 2020 Order, found that the 

flood waters and wide spread drainage system issues caused extensive damages to homes, 

business, public property, and threatened the safety of the citizens and property of the City of 

Jackson, Mississippi, requiring the exercise of extraordinary measures; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, in the February 18, 2020 Order, found that all 

efforts should be taken to protect people and property in consideration of the health, safety, and 

welfare of the City’s residents and the protection of their property within the affected areas; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, on March 17, 2020; April 14, 2020; May 12, 2020, 

June 9, 2020, July 7, 2020, August 4, 2020, September 1, 2020, September 29, 2020, October 27, 

2020, November 24, 2020, December 22, 2020, January 19, 2021, February 17, 2021, March 30, 

2021, April 27, 2021, May 25, 2021, June 22, 2021, July 20, 2021, August 31, 2021, September 

28, 2021, October 26, 2021, November 23, 2021, December 21, 2021, January 25, 2022, February 

15, 2022, March 29, 2022, April 26, 2022, May 24, 2022, June 21, 2022, July 19, 2022, August 

30, 2022, September 27, 2022, October 25, 2022, November 22, 2022,  December 20, 2022, 

January 31, 2023, February 28, 2023, March 21, 2023, April 25, 2023, May 23, 2023, June 22, 

2023 and July 18, 2023 pursuant to Section 33-15-17(8)(d) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, 

reviewed the need for and continued the local emergency; and 

 

            WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 33-15-17(8)(d) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as 

amended, the Jackson City Council has again reviewed the need for continuing the local 

emergency and determined that the emergency should be continued. 

 

            IT IS THEREFORE HEREBY ORDERED that said Order Declaring the Need to 

Continue the Declared State of Emergency as delineated by the Jackson City Council, remains in 

full force and effect and shall be reviewed again in thirty (30) days in accordance with Section 33-

15-17(8(d) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

             * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 

ENCOURAGING THE MAYOR TO PROCURE SERVICES FOR THE 

COMPLETION OF A DISPARITY STUDY, AS THE CITY COUNCIL 

APPROPRIATE FUNDS IN THE FY23/24 BUDGET, TO BE IN COMPLIANCE 

WITH JACKSON CODE OF ORDINANCE ARTICLE 2 SEC. 127.53.  

WHEREAS, it is the policy of the city council to require the completion of a disparity and 

availability study not less than every five years in an attempt to provide a remedy for past 

underutilization of minority and woman-owned businesses and to prevent any ongoing 

underutilization of minority and women's business enterprises in the city's contracting process by 

ensuring the full and equitable participation of minority and female business enterprises in the 

provision of goods and services to the city on a contractual basis; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             764 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, he ultimate goal of this policy is to remedy the effects of past underutilization 

in the local marketplace by increasing the use of minority and women's business enterprises to one 

more comparable to their representation in the City of Jackson business community; and 

 

WHEREAS, for several decades, the City of Jackson has conducted 

numerous disparity and availability studies that have documented the discriminatory practices and 

barriers to public procurement within the City of Jackson that have plagued minority business 

enterprises and women business enterprises; and 

 

WHEREAS, Historical, systemic and institutionalized discrimination against minority 

and women owned businesses exists in the Jackson business sector, which has restricted their 

access to private and public contracting markets and which has emerged as the major factor 

responsible for their marginal economic position in the Jackson business population; and 

 

WHEREAS, the specific industries that showed discrimination against women and other 

minorities include construction, commodity sales, and professional services; and 

 

WHEREAS, the contracting and procurement practices of the City of Jackson, prior to the 

inception of a minority and female business enterprise program, were dominated by an historical, 

institutional and systematic network from which women and minorities were excluded; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Market place discrimination against minorities and women business owners 

occurred in the Jackson marketplace across a wide range of businesses, including evidence of 

double standards in work appraisals, denials of opportunities to bid, discrimination in bonding, 

financing and in payments, lack of access to contracts, unnecessarily restrictive specifications, the 

existence of and the exclusion from the historical, systematic, and institutional network, 

subcontracting, bid shopping, and bid manipulation; and 

 

WHEREAS, the statistical comparison suggested by the U.S. Supreme Court in Croson, 

between the number of available qualified minority businesses, and the total contract dollar awards 

going to minority businesses, referred to as the utilization percentage ratio (UPR), yields 

significant statistical disparities in all industries between majority and minority businesses who 

contract with the City of Jackson. Moreover, this comparison suggested by the court, although 

showing a significant degree of disparity, results in a deficient measure of discrimination, failing 

to take into account those minority or female individuals or firms who were discouraged, deterred 

and/or disadvantaged by the discriminating practice in the marketplace; and 

 

WHEREAS, Race and gender-neutral policies, including those suggested by the U.S. 

Supreme Court in Croson, although helpful in improving minority and women owned business 

development, are found to be inadequate standing alone to eliminate discriminatory practices 

which continue to deny women and minority business owners access to public and private 

contracts in the Jackson marketplace; and 

 

WHEREAS, Women and minorities have been discriminated against in public and private 

markets for contractual services. There is a presence of discrimination in Jackson in various 

industry classifications and by employer status which has persisted over time. Moreover, there is 

strong anecdotal and statistical evidence that African American businesses continue to suffer the 

effects of past and present discrimination in the Jackson business markets both public and private; 

and 

 WHEREAS, Female, African American, and other minority owned businesses continue to 

suffer discrimination in the local business market when competing for construction contracts. 

Given the strikingly low participation of minority enterprises in private construction markets, the 

City of Jackson should leverage behavior in the private market to assure the effective development 

of minority and female business enterprises and to eradicate discriminatory practices; and 

 

WHEREAS, The City of Jackson was a passive participant in discriminatory practices in 

both public and the private commercial markets; and 

 

WHEREAS, Past and present discrimination in public and private markets for contractual 

services and the inability of race and gender-conscious programs standing alone, make race and 

gender-conscious programs necessary in order to remedy economic disparities between minority, 

female and majority contractors; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             765 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, Utilization goals, attainable by good faith efforts, not quotas, for African-

American, female, Hispanic, and Asian American owned businesses are necessary to mitigate the 

competitive disadvantages which are caused by discrimination and are justified by evidence in the 

record. 

 BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED that the City Council of Jackson, MS strongly 

encourages the Mayor to procure services for the completion of a disparity study, as the City 

Council appropriate funds in the FY23/24 budget. 
 

 Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.   

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

             * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

DISCUSSION: JORDAN WALKER: President Banks recognized Council Member 

Stokes who expressed concerns regarding the unsolved 2021 murder of Jordan Walker. 

President Banks recognized Ms. Brenda Willis who stated the family was offering a 

reward of $10,000 for information leading to the arrest and conviction of those responsible. 

quotes had been obtained for sign purchases and the goal was to have this project completed 

within this fiscal year. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

DISCUSSION: MEDGAR EVERS LIBRARY: President Banks recognized Council 

Member Stokes who expressed concerns regarding improvements needed on Medgar 

Evers Blvd and questioned why plans for improvements stopped short of I-220. President 

Banks recognized Mr. Anthony Moore Washington who expressed concerns regarding 

the need for a comprehensive plan for use of the $20 million dollar improvement grant 

designated for Medgar Evers Blvd. 

  * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

There came on for Discussion, Agenda Item No. 45: 

DISCUSSION: STATE/FEDERAL: President Banks stated said item was pulled at the 

request of Vice President Lee.  

  * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

DISCUSSION: TRIPLING OF CITY PROPERTY INSURANCE PREMIUM: 

President Banks recognized Council Member Foote who expressed concerns regarding 

the City’s property insurance premium tripling in cost and questioned why the Council was 

made aware when there was only 24 hours to act or the City would lose its coverage.  

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, who suggested a Council 

meeting be set up between Risk Management to address his concerns. President Banks 

recognized Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, who stated the policy was an 

annual policy that had to be renewed next year.  

  * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

DISCUSSION: GARBAGE APPEAL AND RFP: President Banks recognized Council 

Member Foote who expressed concerns regarding the need for a new RFP for garbage 

collection to avoid a future garbage crisis given that the current emergency contract expires 

in 7 months.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

DISCUSSION: REVIEW AND CONTINUATION OF COVID-19 LOCAL 

EMERGENCY: President Banks and the City Council members discussed to continue 

the emergency.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                      TUESDAY, AUGUST 29, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             766 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORTS AS REQUIRED ACCORDING TO SECTION 

21-35-13 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED OF 1972.  President Banks 

stated that all City Council members had received the monthly financial report for review. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 

▪ Council Member Stokes announced that there is a need for cleanup near the area 

of Rose and Capital Street near the Masonic Temple.  

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until the Special Council Meeting at 6:00 p.m. on August 31, 2023.  At 11:51 a.m., the 

Council stood adjourned.   

 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

 

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST:  

 

                                         ____________     

      CITY CLERK 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 







PUBLIC HEARING/SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                         THURSDAY, AUGUST 31, 2023 6:00 P.M.                   767 

MINUTE BOOK 6X  
 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Public Hearing/Special Meeting of the City Council of 

Jackson, Mississippi, was called by a majority of the City Council Members and notices having 

been placed by the Clerk of Council at 5:28 p.m. on Thursday, August 31, 2023 in the Clerk of 

Council’s Office, electronic notifications to all Council Members, on the City's website and on the 

public bulletin board in City Hall, relative to: (1) Proposed millage/FY 2023-2024 budget for the 

City of Jackson. (2) Order establishing ad valorem tax levy on real and personal property for the 

Jackson municipal separate school district for fiscal year 2023-2024 (Tax Year 2023). (3) Order 

establishing ad valorem tax levy on real and personal property for the Jackson for municipal and 

library purposes. The meeting was convened in the Council Chambers located at 219 S. President 

Street at 6:00 p.m. on Thursday, August 31, 2023 being the fifth Thursday of said month, when 

and where the following things were had and done to wit: 

  

 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Ward 6, Council President; Angelique 

Lee, Vice-President, Ward 2 (via teleconference); Ashby Foote, Ward 1; 

Brian Grizzell, Ward 4; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 

7. Directors: Safiya Omari, Chief of Staff; Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy 

Clerk of Council; Denise Fortner, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and 

Catoria Martin, City Attorney. 

 

 Absent:   Kenneth I. Stokes, Ward 3. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 The meeting was called to order by President Aaron Banks. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for consideration Agenda Item No.1, Public Hearing: 

 

PROPOSED MILLAGE/FY 2023-2024 BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON.  

There was no one from the public who spoke in favor or in opposition to the proposed 

millage for FY 2023-2024 Budget for the City of Jackson. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER ESTABLISHING AD VALOREM TAX LEVY ON REAL AND 

PERSONAL PROPERTY FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON FOR SCHOOL 

PURPOSES. 

 WHEREAS, on July 20, 2023, the Board of Trustees of the Jackson Public School District 

adopted a Resolution Requesting Ad Valorem Tax Effort in Dollars for the Support of the Jackson 

Public School District for the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year pursuant to Section 37-57-105; and 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees requested that the City Council of the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi, as levying authority for the District, to levy ad valorem taxes in an amount necessary 

to generate revenues for the support of the District’s Maintenance and Debt Services Funds and 

further requested that the City Council levy an additional amount sufficient to cover anticipated 

delinquencies and costs of collection so that the net amount of money to be generated by such levy 

shall be equal to the amount which is requested by the Board of Trustees; and   

WHEREAS, the governing body of all taxing entities shall hold a public hearing at which 

time the budget of the municipal revenues and tax levies for the upcoming fiscal year will be 

considered as mandated by Section 27-39-203(1) and 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code, as 

amended; and 

WHEREAS, on August 17th and 24th of 2023, the Department of Administration advertised 

in the Mississippi Link and the Clarion Ledger notice on August 31, 2023, public hearing on the 

proposed budget and tax levies for the upcoming fiscal year 2023-2024, for the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi as mandated by Section 27-29-203(2)(a) of the Mississippi Code, as amended; and 

shanekiaj
Text Box
Consent Agenda Item No. 59.26.2023(S.Jordan, Banks)



PUBLIC HEARING/SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                         THURSDAY, AUGUST 31, 2023 6:00 P.M.                   768 

MINUTE BOOK 6X  
 

WHEREAS, the citizens of the City of Jackson were invited to attend the public hearing 

on the proposed budget and tax levies for the fiscal year 2023-2024 and notified that they would 

be allowed to speak for a reasonable amount of time and offer tangible evidence before any vote 

is taken; and 

 WHEREAS, the advertisement proposed that the City of Jackson planned to increase ad 

valorem tax millage rate by 2.00 mills from 63.03 to 65.03 mills; however, during the Jackson City 

Council’s budget deliberations, the City determined that there is no need to increase ad valorem 

tax millage rates; and  

WHEREAS, after the hearing has been held in accordance with Section 27-39-203 of the 

Mississippi Code, as amended, the governing body of the City of Jackson may adopt a resolution 

levying a tax rate on classes of property designated by Section 112, Mississippi Constitution of 

1890, as specified in the advertisement published on August 17th, 22nd  24th and the 29th; and 

WHEREAS, if a resolution adopting the tax rate is not adopted on the day of the public 

hearing, the scheduled date, time, and place for consideration and adoption of the resolution shall 

be announced at the public hearing, and the governing body shall advertise the date, time, place of 

the proposed adoption of the resolution in the same manner provided in Section 27-39-203(2) of 

the Mississippi Code, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, any taxes levied shall be excluded from the revenue increase limitation 

imposed pursuant to Section 27-39-321 of the Mississippi Code, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, it is the recommendation of the City of Jackson that for the fiscal year 

beginning October 2, 2022, there is levied on all taxable property, real and personal, within the 

corporate limits of the City of Jackson, the following ad valorem taxes for municipal purposes, 

said levies to be collected upon each dollar of assessed value as shown upon the real and personal 

ad valorem assessment rolls of the property within the City limits, to wit: 

DISTRICT SUPPLEMENT LEVY – SIXTY-FIVE AND 91/100 (65.91) MILS 

DEBT SERVICE RETIREMENT – 2012A BOND SERIES PHASE I (4031) – ONE AND 

89/100 (1.89) MILS 

DEBT SERVICE RETIREMENT – 2012B BOND SERIES PHASE I (4901) – THREE 

AND 56/100 (3.56) MILS 

DEBT SERVICE RETIREMENT – 2015A BOND SERIES PHASE I (4032) – TEN AND 

83/100 (10.83) MILS 

DEBT SERVICE RETIREMENT – 2017 LIMITED TAX NOTES (4092) – 22/100 (0.22) 

MILS 

DEBT SERVICE RETIREMENT – 2018 BOND SERIES (4035) – FOUR AND 32/100 

(4.32) MILS 

TOTAL LEVIED FOR SCHOOL PURPOSES – EIGHTY-SIX AND 73/100 (86.73) 

MILS 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY ACTING 

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE MUNICIPALITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

That for the fiscal year beginning October 3, 2023, there is levied on all taxable property, real and 

personal, within the Jackson Municipal Separate School District, composed of property both inside 

and outside the corporate limits of the City of Jackson, the following ad valorem taxes for school 

purposes, said levies to be collected upon each dollar of assessed value as shown upon the real and 

personal ad valorem assessment rolls of the said Jackson Municipal Separate School District for 

Tax Year 2023, to wit: 

 DISTRICT SUPPLEMENT LEVY – SIXTY-FIVE AND 91/100 (65.91) MILS 

DEBT SERVICE RETIREMENT – 2012A BOND SERIES PHASE I (4031) – ONE AND 

89/100 (1.89) MILS 



PUBLIC HEARING/SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                         THURSDAY, AUGUST 31, 2023 6:00 P.M.                   769 

MINUTE BOOK 6X  
 

DEBT SERVICE RETIREMENT – 2012B BOND SERIES PHASE I (4901) – THREE 

AND 56/100 (3.56) MILS 

DEBT SERVICE RETIREMENT – 2015A BOND SERIES PHASE I (4032) – TEN AND 

83/100 (10.83) MILS 

DEBT SERVICE RETIREMENT – 2017 LIMITED TAX NOTES (4092) – 22/100 (0.22) 

MILS 

DEBT SERVICE RETIREMENT – 2018 BOND SERIES (4035) – FOUR AND 32/100 

(4.32) MILS 

TOTAL LEVIED FOR SCHOOL PURPOSES – EIGHTY-SIX AND 73/100 (86.73) 

MILS 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded.   

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of 

said item.  

                       _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Thereafter, President Banks, called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, and, Lindsay 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 ORDER ESTABLISHING AD VALOREM TAX LEVY ON REAL AND 

 PERSONAL PROPERTY FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON FOR MUNICIPAL AND 

 LIBRARY PURPOSES. 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing body of all taxing entities shall hold a public hearing at which 

time the budget of the municipal revenues and tax levies for the upcoming fiscal year will be 

considered as mandated by Section 27-39-203(1) and 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code, as 

amended; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on August 17th and 24th of 2023, the Department of Administration 

advertised in the Mississippi Link and in the Clarion Ledger on August 22 and the 29th 2023, and 

the notice of the public hearing on the proposed budget and tax levies for the upcoming fiscal year 

2023-2024, for the City of Jackson, Mississippi as mandated by Section 27-29-203(2)(a) of the 

Mississippi Code, as amended; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the citizens of the City of Jackson were invited to attend the public hearing 

on the proposed budget and tax levies for the fiscal year 2023-2024 and notified that they would 

be allowed to speak for a reasonable amount of time and offer tangible evidence before any vote 

is taken; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the advertisement proposed that the City of Jackson planned to increase ad 

valorem tax millage rate by 2.00 mills from 63.03 to 65.03 mills; however, during the Jackson City 

Council’s budget deliberations, the City determined that there is no need to increase ad valorem 

tax millage rates; and 

 

 WHEREAS, after the hearing has been held in accordance with Section 27-39-203 of the 

Mississippi Code, as amended, the governing body of the City of Jackson may adopt a resolution 

levying a tax rate on classes of property designated by Section 112, Mississippi Constitution of 

1890, as specified in the advertisement published on August 17th and 24th in the Mississippi Link 

and August 22th and 29th in the Clarion Ledger; and 

 

 WHEREAS, if a resolution adopting the tax rate is not adopted on the day of the public 

hearing, the scheduled date, time, and place for consideration and adoption of the resolution shall 

be announced at the public hearing and the governing body shall advertise the date, time, place of 



PUBLIC HEARING/SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                         THURSDAY, AUGUST 31, 2023 6:00 P.M.                   770 

MINUTE BOOK 6X  
 

the proposed adoption of the resolution in the same manner provided in Section 27-39-203(2) of 

the Mississippi Code, as amended; and 

 

 WHEREAS, any taxes levied shall be excluded from the revenue increase limitation 

imposed pursuant to Section 27-39-321 of the Mississippi Code, as amended; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is the recommendation of the City of Jackson that for the fiscal year 

beginning October 2, 2023, there is levied on all taxable property, real and personal, within the 

corporate limits of the City of Jackson, the following ad valorem taxes for municipal purposes, 

said levies to be collected upon each dollar of assessed value as shown upon the real and personal 

ad valorem assessment rolls of the property within the City limits, to wit; 

 

 FOR GENERAL REVENUE PURPOSES – FIFTY-TWO AND 07/100 (52.07) MILS 

 

FOR BOND AND INTEREST FUND – FOUR AND 10/100 (4.10) MILS 

 

FOR PARKS AND RECREATION FUND – TWO AND 00/100 (2.00) MILS 

 

FOR FIREMEN AND POLICEMEN DISABILITY AND RELIEF FUND – THREE AND 

15/100 (3.15) MILS 

 

TOTAL FOR SAID MUNICIPAL PURPOSES – SIXTY-ONE AND 32/100 (61.32) 

MILS 

 

TOTAL PUBLIC LIBRARY SYSTEM – ONE AND 71/100 (1.71) MILS (Section 39-3-

7) 

 

TOTAL FOR MUNICIPAL AND LIBRARY PURPOSES – SIXTY-THREE AND 03/100 

(63.03) MILS 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY ACTING 

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE MUNICIPALITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

That for the fiscal year beginning October 2, 2023, there is levied on all taxable property, real and 

personal, within the corporate limits of the City of Jackson, the following ad valorem taxes for 

municipal purposes, said levies to be collected upon each dollar of assessed value as shown upon 

the real and personal ad valorem assessment rolls of the property within the City limits, to wit; 

 

 FOR GENERAL REVENUE PURPOSES – FIFTY-TWO AND 07/100 (52.07) MILS 

 

FOR BOND AND INTEREST FUND – FOUR AND 23/100 (4.23) MILS 

 

FOR PARKS AND RECREATION FUND – TWO AND 00/100 (2.00) MILS 

 

FOR FIREMEN AND POLICEMEN DISABILITY AND RELIEF FUND – THREE AND 

15/100 (3.15) MILS 

 

TOTAL FOR SAID MUNICIPAL PURPOSES – SIXTY-ONE AND 32/100 (61.32) 

MILS 

 

TOTAL PUBLIC LIBRARY SYSTEM – ONE AND 71/100 (1.71) MILS (Section 39-3-

7) 

 

TOTAL FOR MUNICIPAL AND LIBRARY PURPOSES – SIXTY-THREE AND 03/100 

(63.03) MILS 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded.   

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



PUBLIC HEARING/SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                         THURSDAY, AUGUST 31, 2023 6:00 P.M.                   771 

MINUTE BOOK 6X  
 

The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 

 

• Council President Banks announced that FY 2023-2024 Budget will be adopted at the 

next Special Council Meeting on September 7, 2023 at 10:00 a.m. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until the Special Council Meeting at 10:00 a.m. on September 7, 2023.  At 6:17 p.m., the 

Council stood adjourned.   

 

 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST: 

  

             _______________________________        

                                                                        CITY CLERK 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

                                                                
 
 

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 







SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   772 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Special Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi, was called by a majority of the City Council Members and notices having been placed 

by the Clerk of Council at 8:35 a.m. Wednesday, September 6, 2023 in the Clerk of Council’s 

Office, electronic notifications to all Council Members, on the City's website and on the public 

bulletin board in City Hall, relative to: (1) Resolution approving and adopting the municipal budget 

for the fiscal year 2023-2024. (2) Ordinance amending Chapter 2, Article II, Division 4 of the 

Jackson Code of Ordinances.  (3) Order amending the City of Jackson pay plan to change the range 

of the Clerk of the Council from range 33 to range 35. (4) Order amending the City of Jackson pay 

plan to change the range of the Director of Planning and Development from range 38 to range 50. 

(5) Order repealing the ordinance of the City of Jackson, Mississippi codified as Division 1: Article 

VI – Section 2-531 of the Code of Ordinances, City of Jackson, Mississippi. The meeting was 

convened in the Council Chambers located at 219 S. President Street at 10:00 a.m. on September 

7, 2023 being the first Thursday of said month, when and where the following things were had and 

done to wit: 

  

Present: Council Members:Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward6; Angelique Lee, 

Council Vice President, Ward 2; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth I. Stokes, 

Ward 3 (via teleconference); Brian C. Grizzell, Ward 4; Vernon Hartley, 

Ward 5, and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 7. Directors: Chokwe Antar Lumumba, 

Mayor; Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of the Council; Denise Fortner, 

Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and Catoria Martin, City Attorney.  

 

Absent:   None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
  

The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Hartley who announced that there will be  a clean 

up scheduled around the Metrocenter Mall located at 3645 US 80 Jackson, MS 39209 beginning 

at 8:00 am on September 9, 2023. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE MUNICIPAL BUDGET FOR 

THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024. 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the governing authorities of each municipality of the State of Mississippi shall, not later 

than September 15th of each year, prepare a complete budget of the municipal revenues, expenses 

and working cash balances estimated for the next fiscal year, and shall prepare a statement showing 

the aggregate revenues collected during the current year in said municipality for municipal 

purposes; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the statement of revenue and expenses shall show every source of revenue along with 

the amount derived from each source; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the budget and statement of revenue and expenses, shall be published at least one (1) 

time during September in a newspaper published in the municipality; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, prior to the adopting of the budget, the governing authority of each municipality shall 

hold at least one (1) public hearing to provide the general public with an opportunity to comment 

on the taxing and spending plan incorporated in the proposed budget; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the public hearing shall be held at least one (1) week prior to the adoption of the budget 

with advance notice and held outside normal working hours and the advance notice shall include 

shanekiaj
Text Box
Consent Agenda Item #69.26.2023(S.Jordan, Banks)



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   773 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

an announcement published or posted in the same manner as required for the final adopted budget; 

and 

 WHEREAS, on August 17th and 24th of 2023, in the Mississippi Link and August 22nd and 

29th in the Clarion Ledger, a notice of a public hearing on the proposed budget for the upcoming 

fiscal year for the City of Jackson, MS was advertised; and 

 WHEREAS, the required public hearing was advertised for and held on August 31, 2023, 

at 6:00 p.m. in Council Chambers located in City Hall, 219 South President Street, Jackson, 

Mississippi 39201; and 

 WHEREAS, the proposed budget is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

Exhibit “A”; and 

 WHEREAS, as mandated by Section 21-35-9 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, 

as amended, the proposed budget sets out separately each item for which any appropriation of 

expenditures is authorized to be expended and the fund out of which it is to be paid, the proposed 

budget also sets out the total amount appropriated and authorized to be expended for each fund, 

the cash balance in the fund at the close of the present preceding fiscal year, the working cash 

balance necessary for the next fiscal year, the estimated amount, if any, which will accrue to the 

fund from sources other than taxation for the current fiscal year, and the amount necessary to be 

raised for each fund by tax levy during the current fiscal year. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY ACTING 

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE MUNICIPALITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Declaration of official intent. The City of Jackson, Mississippi, hereby declares its 

official intent to approve and adopt the Municipal Budget, attached hereto and incorporated by 

reference as Exhibit “A,” that sets out separately each item for which any appropriation of 

expenditures is authorized to be expended and the fund out of which it is to be paid, the total 

amount appropriated and authorized to be expended for each fund, the cash balance in the fund at 

the close of the present preceding fiscal year, the working cash balance necessary for the next 

fiscal year, the estimated amount, if any, which will accrue to the fund from sources other than 

taxation for the current fiscal year, and the amount necessary to be raised for each fund by tax levy 

during the current fiscal year. 

Section 2.   Incidental action. The Mayor is authorized to take such action as may be necessary to 

carry out the purpose of this Resolution. The City of Jackson shall not authorize any expenditure 

of money, and the city clerk shall not issue any warrant for same, except for bonds, notes, debts 

and interest, after October 1, unless and until this budget is finally approved, and such approval is 

entered upon the Jackson City Council minutes. 

 

“Exhibit A” 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   774 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   775 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   776 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   777 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   778 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   779 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   780 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

 

  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   781 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   782 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   783 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   784 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   785 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   786 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   787 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   788 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   789 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   790 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   791 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   792 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   793 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   794 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   795 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   796 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   797 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Lindsay who moved, seconded by Council 

Member Grizzell to go into Closed Session to discuss “personnel matters within the Office of the 

Clerk of Council”.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Foote, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

President Banks announced to the public that the Council voted to go into Closed Session to 

discuss “Personnel Matters within the Office of the Clerk of the Council”. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

During Closed Session, Council Member Lindsay moved and Council Member Hartley 

seconded to go into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters within the Office of the Clerk 

of Council”.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Foote, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   798 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved, seconded by Council Member Hartley to come out of 

Executive Session.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Foote, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

President Banks announced that the Council voted to come out of Executive Session and no action 

was taken. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Thereafter, President Banks announced all amendments made in Finance Committee to the FY 

2023-2024 budget.  President Banks moved, seconded by Council Member Stokes to amend 

Agenda Item No. 1 to include $100,000.00 per Wards 1-7 from the modernization tax to paved 

streets fund 372 for the fiscal year 2023-2024. The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Foote, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE MUNICIPAL BUDGET FOR 

THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024. 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the governing authorities of each municipality of the State of Mississippi shall, not later 

than September 15th of each year, prepare a complete budget of the municipal revenues, expenses 

and working cash balances estimated for the next fiscal year, and shall prepare a statement showing 

the aggregate revenues collected during the current year in said municipality for municipal 

purposes; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the statement of revenue and expenses shall show every source of revenue along with 

the amount derived from each source; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the budget and statement of revenue and expenses, shall be published at least one (1) 

time during September in a newspaper published in the municipality; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, prior to the adopting of the budget, the governing authority of each municipality shall 

hold at least one (1) public hearing to provide the general public with an opportunity to comment 

on the taxing and spending plan incorporated in the proposed budget; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 21-35-5 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as 

amended, the public hearing shall be held at least one (1) week prior to the adoption of the budget 

with advance notice and held outside normal working hours and the advance notice shall include 

an announcement published or posted in the same manner as required for the final adopted budget; 

and 

 WHEREAS, on August 17th and 24th of 2023, in the Mississippi Link and August 22nd and 

29th  in the Clarion Ledger, a notice of a public hearing on the proposed budget for the upcoming 

fiscal year for the City of Jackson, MS was advertised; and 

 WHEREAS, the required public hearing was advertised for and held on August 31, 2023, 

at 6:00 p.m. in Council Chambers located in City Hall, 219 South President Street, Jackson, 

Mississippi 39201; and 

 WHEREAS, the proposed budget is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

Exhibit “A”; and 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   799 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 WHEREAS, as mandated by Section 21-35-9 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, 

as amended, the proposed budget sets out separately each item for which any appropriation of 

expenditures is authorized to be expended and the fund out of which it is to be paid, the proposed 

budget also sets out the total amount appropriated and authorized to be expended for each fund, 

the cash balance in the fund at the close of the present preceding fiscal year, the working cash 

balance necessary for the next fiscal year, the estimated amount, if any, which will accrue to the 

fund from sources other than taxation for the current fiscal year, and the amount necessary to be 

raised for each fund by tax levy during the current fiscal year. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY ACTING 

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE MUNICIPALITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Declaration of official intent. The City of Jackson, Mississippi, hereby declares its 

official intent to approve and adopt the Municipal Budget, attached hereto and incorporated by 

reference as Exhibit “A,” that sets out separately each item for which any appropriation of 

expenditures is authorized to be expended and the fund out of which it is to be paid, the total 

amount appropriated and authorized to be expended for each fund, the cash balance in the fund at 

the close of the present preceding fiscal year, the working cash balance necessary for the next 

fiscal year, the estimated amount, if any, which will accrue to the fund from sources other than 

taxation for the current fiscal year, and the amount necessary to be raised for each fund by tax levy 

during the current fiscal year. 

Section 2.   Incidental action. The Mayor is authorized to take such action as may be necessary to 

carry out the purpose of this Resolution. The City of Jackson shall not authorize any expenditure 

of money, and the city clerk shall not issue any warrant for same, except for bonds, notes, debts 

and interest, after October 1, unless and until this budget is finally approved, and such approval is 

entered upon the Jackson City Council minutes. 

“Exhibit A” 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   800 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   801 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   802 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

 

 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   803 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   804 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   805 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   806 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   807 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   808 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   809 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   810 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   811 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   812 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   813 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   814 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   815 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   816 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   817 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   818 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   819 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   820 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   821 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.     
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE V, DIVISION 6 OF THE 

 JACKSON CODE OF ORDINANCES.  

 

 WHEREAS, Section 21-8-13 of the Miss. Code Ann. specifically authorizes the City 

Council to “…appoint a clerk of the council and deputy clerks, as necessary, who shall compile 

the minutes and records of its proceedings, its ordinances and resolutions as this chapter requires, 

and perform such duties as may be required by law….”; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Jackson (“City’), by ordinance, delineated the number of chief 

deputy clerks of council and deputy clerks of council, as well as the duties to be performed by the 

same in Chapter 2, Article II, Division 4 of the Jackson Code of Ordinances; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council finds it in the best interest of the City to amend 

Section 2-135 of the Jackson Code of Ordinances to increase the number of Chief Deputy Clerks 

of Council from three (3) to seven (7); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council finds that Section 2-135 of the Jackson Code of 

Ordinances should be amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 2-135. - Deputy Clerks of the Council. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   822 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Seven chief deputy clerks of the council and seven or more deputy clerks of the council 

may be employed and assigned to provide clerical support and to perform such other 

duties as required by councilmembers. These clerks shall be appointed in the same 

manner as the clerk of the council. 

THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, that Section 2-135 of the Jackson Code of Ordinances is amended to 

read as follows: 

 

Sec. 2-135. - Deputy Clerks of the Council. 

 

Seven chief deputy clerks of the council and seven or more deputy clerks of the council 

may be employed and assigned to provide clerical support and to perform such other duties 

as required by councilmembers. These clerks shall be appointed in the same manner as 

the clerk of council. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; President Banks seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.     

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AMENDING THE CITY OF JACKSON PAY PLAN TO CHANGE THE 

RANGE OF THE CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FROM RANGE 33 TO RANGE 35.  

WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson adopted a compensation 

plan on or about September 22, 1998 which is found in Minute Book 4Y; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has compared salaries on the classification of the Clerk of 

Council; and 

WHEREAS, a salary survey was conducted on the aforementioned classifications and 

inquires sent to: City of Hattiesburg, Mississippi and City of Biloxi, Mississippi; and  

WHEREAS, the response from the Cities surveyed concerning the median salary paid for 

the position of the Clerk of Council was within the range of $45,000.00 - $81,649.00; and  

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for the Clerk of Council to be 

modified to range 35 with annual salary of $63,486.92 - $76, 873.56; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Office of the Clerk of Council has the funds in their budget to cover the 

recommended pay range increases. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Pay Plan adopted by the City Council on 

September 22, 1998, found in the Minute Book 4Y, be further amended that Clerk of Council be 

modified to range 35 with annual salary of $63,486.92 - $76,873.56. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the pay plan amendments stated shall become effective 

immediately consistent with the provisions of Section 21-8-21(2). 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.     

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AMENDING THE CITY OF JACKSON PAY PLAN TO CHANGE THE 

RANGE OF THE DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT FROM 

RANGE 38 TO RANGE 50.  



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   823 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson adopted a compensation 

plan on or about September 22, 1998 which is found in Minute Book 4Y; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has compared salaries on the classification of the Director 

of Planning and Development; and 

WHEREAS, a salary survey was conducted on the aforementioned classifications and 

inquires sent to: City of Hattiesburg, Mississippi, City of Biloxi, Mississippi, City of Merdian, 

Mississippi and City of Gulfport, Mississippi; and   

WHEREAS, the response from the Cities surveyed concerning the median salary paid for 

the position of the Director of Planning and Development was within the range of $107,806 to 

$144,076; and  

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for the Director of Planning and 

Development be modified to range 50 with annual salary of $105,758.99 - $128,511.92; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development has the funds in their budget 

to cover the recommended pay range increases. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Pay Plan adopted by the City Council on 

September 22, 1998, found in the Minute Book 4Y, be further amended that Planning and 

Development be modified to range 50 with annual salary of $105,758.99 - $128,511.92. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the pay plan amendments stated shall become effective 

immediately consistent with the provisions of Section 21-8-21(2). 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Note:  Council Member Grizzell left the meeting.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for Introduction, Agenda Item No. 5: 

 

ORDER REPEALING THE ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, 

MISSISSIPPI CODIFIED AS DIVISION 1: ARTICLE VI-SECTION 2-531 OF THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES, CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. President Banks 

recognized Council Member Hartley requested that the Council suspend the rules to 

adopt said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Hartley moved, seconded by Vice President Lee, 

to suspend the rules to make said item effective immediately. The motion prevailed by the 

following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell.    

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

 

 Thereafter, President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order:  

 

ORDER REPEALING THE ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, 

MISSISSIPPI CODIFIED AS DIVISON 1: ARTICLE VI – SECTION 2-531 OF THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES, CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   824 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Jackson, Mississippi adopted an Ordinance 

“Internal Auditor” for the City of Jackson, Mississippi; and 

           

WHEREAS, said Ordinance is codified as Jackson, Mississippi Code of Ordinances, 

Division 1: Article VI – Section 2-531 and currently reads as follows: 

 

Sec. 2-531. - Internal auditor; duties. 

There is hereby established a separate office of the internal auditor which shall not be under the 

supervision of the previously established departments. The internal auditor and his assistants 

shall work under the direction and supervision of the mayor as well as report to the request of 

the audit committee, and shall be subject to the provisions of such other ordinances as shall be 

adopted regarding such office. 

The division of internal audit shall provide independent, objective assurance and consulting 

activity designed to promote adequate systems of internal controls in compliance with laws, 

regulations, policies, procedures and agreements through reviews and analyses of city services 

and activities. Primary duties shall include financial auditing, fraud detection and prevention, 

evaluation of internal controls, compliance auditing, internal consulting, and assistance with the 

physical counting of inventories. The division of internal audit shall conduct special 

reviews/audits, programmatic reviews/audits, forensic/audits at the request of the internal audit 

committee, the mayor, the city council, director of city departments. 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, THAT: 

 

The ordinance establishing a separate office of the internal auditor, codified as Division 1 Article 

VI, Sectional 2-531 of the Code of Ordinances, City of Jackson, Mississippi, shall be, and the same 

is hereby, repealed in its entirety.   

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, who stated that amendments were 

needed in said ordinance.  The ordinance needed to be amended to read in the THEREFORE, BE 

IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, THAT: 

to read as follows: “Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 21-13-11, this Order shall  be certified 

by a municipal clerk, signed by the mayor or a majority of all the members of the governing body, 

recorded in the ordinance book, and published at least one (1) time in some newspaper published 

in such municipality, …and all of same shall be done before such ordinance shall be effective.  In 

addition, in accordance with Miss. Code Ann. Section 21-13-11, this Order shall be effective thirty 

(30) days after passage and publication.”  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Vice President Lee moved; seconded by Council Member Hartley, to amend said order to reflect 

the changes as stated by City Attorney Catoria Martin.  The motion prevailed by the following 

vote: 
 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell.    

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Note: Council Member Grizzell returned to the meeting. 

 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

 

 Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said Order as amended: 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   825 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

ORDER REPEALING THE ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, 

MISSISSIPPI CODIFIED AS DIVISON 1: ARTICLE VI – SECTION 2-531 OF THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES, CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Jackson, Mississippi adopted an Ordinance 

“Internal Auditor” for the City of Jackson, Mississippi; and 

           

WHEREAS, said Ordinance is codified as Jackson, Mississippi Code of Ordinances, 

Division 1: Article VI – Section 2-531 and currently reads as follows: 

 

Sec. 2-531. - Internal auditor; duties. 

There is hereby established a separate office of the internal auditor which shall not be under the 

supervision of the previously established departments. The internal auditor and his assistants 

shall work under the direction and supervision of the mayor as well as report to the request of 

the audit committee, and shall be subject to the provisions of such other ordinances as shall be 

adopted regarding such office. 

The division of internal audit shall provide independent, objective assurance and consulting 

activity designed to promote adequate systems of internal controls in compliance with laws, 

regulations, policies, procedures and agreements through reviews and analyses of city services 

and activities. Primary duties shall include financial auditing, fraud detection and prevention, 

evaluation of internal controls, compliance auditing, internal consulting, and assistance with the 

physical counting of inventories. The division of internal audit shall conduct special 

reviews/audits, programmatic reviews/audits, forensic/audits at the request of the internal audit 

committee, the mayor, the city council, director of city departments. 

THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, THAT: 

 

The ordinance establishing a separate office of the internal auditor, codified as Division 1 Article 

VI, Sectional 2-531 of the Code of Ordinances, City of Jackson, Mississippi, shall be, and the same 

is hereby, repealed in its entirety.  Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 21-13-11, this Order shall 

be certified by a municipal clerk, signed by the mayor or a majority of all the members of the 

governing body, recorded in the ordinance book, and published at least one (1) time in some 

newspaper published in such municipality, …and all of same shall be done before such ordinance 

shall be effective.  In addition, in accordance with Miss. Code Ann. Section 21-13-11, this Order 

shall be effective thirty (30) days after passage and publication.  

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay, and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 

 

Council Member Lindsay announced the following: 

 

• Thanks to everyone that help get the budget done. 

 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until Regular Council Meeting at 10:00 a.m. on September 12, 2023.  At 11:43 a.m., the 

Council stood adjourned.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2023 10:00 A.M.                   826 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST: 

  

             _______________________________        

                                                                        CITY CLERK 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 







REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             827 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi, was convened at City Hall at 10:00 a.m. on September 12, 2023, being the second 

Tuesday of said month, when and where the following things were had and done to wit: 

  

 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Ward 6, Council President; Angelique 

Lee, Vice-President, Ward 2; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth Stokes, Ward 

3; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 

7. Directors: Chokwe Antar, Lumumba, Mayor; Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of 

Council; Victor Allen, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and Catoria Martin, 

City Attorney.  

 

 Absent:           None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The invocation was offered by Dr. Pastor Donyea Hargrove of a Different World Church. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON AND TRIARC MANAGEMENT SERVICES LLC TO 

DEMOLISH A STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS AND DRIVEWAY, TO CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS, TO REMOVE TRASHAND DEBRIS, AND TO PERFORM 

OTHER WORK TO REMEDY THE CONDITIONS ON STATE-OWNED 

PROPERTY THAT CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, 

AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 

21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-336 LOCATED AT 2434 VERNON DRIVE – PARCEL 

#837-11 – $8,800.00. 

  WHEREAS, the State of Mississippi received 2434 Vernon Drive due to delinquent 

taxes; and 

 

           WHEREAS, said property must be maintained and conditions that constitute a menace to 

public health, safety and welfare remedied; and 

 

           WHEREAS, on August 17, 2023, the State of Mississippi Public Lands Division issued a 

Consent to Enter onto State-Owned Property to the City for the purpose of cleaning and 

demolishing the improvement on the property at no cost to the Office of the Mississippi Secretary 

of State for Case #CE-22-336 located at 2434 Vernon Drive parcel #837-11 in Ward 5 of the City 

of Jackson; and 

        WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Department of Planning and 

Development has a system in which vendors performing services related to the remedying of 

conditions on property deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare submit bids; 

and 

      WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC submitted the lowest bid and through its 

Member, Stacey Stowers, has agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and driveway, 

to cut grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform other work to remedy conditions 

constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare on the parcel located at 2434 Vernon 

Drive for the sum of $8,800.00; and 

        WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC has a principal office address of 644 E. 

Rhinewalt Road, Lena, Mississippi 39094 according to the information appearing on the 

Mississippi Secretary of State’s website. 

shanekiaj
Text Box
Consent Agenda Item #79.26.2023(S.Jordan, Banks)



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             828 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

      IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute a contract 

with TriArc Management Services LLC to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, and 

driveway, to cut grass and weeds, to remove trash and debris, and to perform work to remedy the 

other conditions on the property located at 2434 Vernon Drive deemed to be a menace to public 

health, safety, and welfare. 

       IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $8,800.00 shall be paid 

to TriArc Management Services LLC for the services provided from funds budgeted for the 

Division. 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON AND FOUR SEASONS ENTERPRISES, LLC TO 

DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY 

CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO 

PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI 

CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-1011 LOCATED AT 

1623 BARRETT AVE. PARCEL #162-281 – $3,439.00.  

WHEREAS, on May 23, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 

held on February 07, 2023 for Case #CE-22-1011 located at 1623 Barrett Ave. parcel #162-281 in 

Ward 5 of the City of Jackson; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 1623 Barrett Ave. and 

 

      WHEREAS, Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC., Inc. submitted the lowest bid of $3,439.00; 

and 

 

      WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 

 

     WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC. 

through its representative, Robert Love, has agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, 

driveway and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, 

debris, tires, crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; 

and remedy conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel 

located at 1623 Barrett Ave. in an amount not to exceed 3,439.00; and 

 

      WHEREAS, Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC, Inc. has a principal office located at 4612 

Medgar Evers Blvd Jackson, MS 39213, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s website. 

       IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with 

Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the property 

located at 1623 Barrett Ave. deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. 

      IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to 3,439.00 shall be paid to Four 

Seasons Enterprises, LLC upon the completion of the services provided from funds budgeted for 

the Division. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             829 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITYOF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO DEMOLISH 

THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT GRASS AND 

WEEDS; REMOVE TRASHAND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY CONDITIONS ON 

PRIVATE PROPERTYWHICHCONSTITUTE AMENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, 

SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED 

SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-21- 1984 LOCATED AT 1028 BARBARA ANN 

DR PARCEL #633-210 – $5,888.00. 

WHEREAS, on August 02, 2022, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution 

declaring certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, 

safety, and welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an 

administrative hearing held on July 12, 2022, for Case #CE-21-1984 located at 1028 Barbara Ann 

Dr parcel #633-210 in Ward 6 of the City of Jackson; and 

 

    WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 1028 Barbara Ann Dr; and 

 

        WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid of $ 5,888.00; and 

 

      WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 

 

      WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed, Love Trucking Co., Inc. through 

its representative, Dennis Love, has agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, driveway 

and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, debris, tires, 

crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; and remedy 

conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel located at 1028 

Barbara Ann Dr. in an amount not to exceed 5,888.00; and 

 

       WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office located at 761 Woodlake Dr. 

Jackson, MS 39206, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi Secretary of State’s 

website. 

 

        IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract 

with Love Trucking CO., Inc to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the property 

located at 1028 Barbara Ann Dr. deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. 

 

           IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed 5,888.00 shall be paid 

to Love Trucking CO., Inc. upon the completion of the services provided from funds budgeted for 

the Division. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             830 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON AND FOUR SEASONS ENTERPRISES, LLC TO 

DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY 

CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO 

PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI 

CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-2163 LOCATED AT 

2831 KINGWOOD AVE PARCEL #606-133 – $6,000.00.  

WHEREAS, on May 23,2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 

held on February 7, 2023 for Case #CE-22-2163 located at 2831 Kingswood Ave. parcel #606-

133 in Ward 7 of the City of Jackson; and 

 

      WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 2831 Kingswood Ave.; and 

 

      WHEREAS, Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC.,. submitted the lowest bid of $6,000.00; and 

 

      WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 

 

     WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC 

through its representative, Robert Love, has agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, 

driveway and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, 

debris, tires, crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; 

and remedy conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel 

located at 2831 Kingswood Ave. in an amount not to exceed $6,000.00; and 

 

       WHEREAS, Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC,. has a principal office located at 4612 

Medgar Evers Blvd Jackson, MS 39213, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s website. 

 

        IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract 

with    Four Seasons Enterprises, LLC to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the 

property located at 2831 Kingswood Ave. deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare. 

 

      IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to $6,000.00 shall be paid to Four 

Seasons Enterprises, LLC upon the completion of the services provided from funds budgeted for 

the Division. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AUGUST 15, 2023 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES.  

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             831 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AUGUST 15, 2023 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES.  

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AUGUST 21, 2023 REGULAR ZONING COUNCIL 

MEETING MINUTES.  

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AUGUST 22, 2023 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES.  

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came for Introduction, Agenda Item No. 11: 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 86 - OFFENSES AND 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ARTICLE I. - IN GENERAL ADDING 

SECTION 86-22 CONCERNING WEARING MASKS/HOODS WHILE 

CARRYING HAND GUNS IN PUBLIC PLACES AND PROVIDING PENALTIES 

FOR VIOLATIONS. Said item was pulled at the request of President Banks.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 29287 to 29339 APPEARING AT 

PAGES 677 TO 699 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 

CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $9,219,775.25 AND MAKING 

APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 29287 to 29339 appearing at pages 

677 to 699, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 

$9,219,775.25 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 

immediate payment thereof. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 

 

                                                                                                               TO 

                                                                                              ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

         FROM:                                                                                     FUND 

GENERAL FUND   602,981.33 

PARKS & RECR. FUND  118,718.48 

BUSINESS IMPROV FUND (LANDSCP)  178.15 

LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  2,451,854.05 

STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND  1,738.63 

WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND  1,280,543.84 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             832 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WATER/SEWER CAPITAL IMPR FUND  1,654,767.40 

DISABILITY RELIEF FUND   58,499.62 

HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD   135,392.32 

EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANT (ESG)  26,978.59 

H O P W A GRANT – DEPT OF HUD   226,464.14 

INFRASTRUCTURE BOND 2020 $32M  832,828.53 

1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX  260,530.06 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  72,351.38 

FONDREN BUSINESS IMPROV FUND   6,848.21 

RESURFACING – REPAIR & REPL FD  3,748.47 

09 TIF BOND FUND $407000  777.00 

MODERNIZATION TAX    91,000.00 

SIEMNS SETTLEMENT ACCOUNT   1,187,883.93 

CDBG COVID CARES   2,236.18 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  13,904.11 

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT 2021   22,500.00 

 LIBRARY FUND   162,250.74 

BELHAVEN COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT    4,800.09 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $9,219,775.25 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

               _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Fidelis Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, who provided an 

overview of larger claims at the request of President Banks.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Foote, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Banks and Hartley. 

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPROVING GROSS PAYROLL INCLUDING PAYROLL 

 DEDUCTION CLAIMS NUMBERED 29287 TO 29339 AND MAKING 

 APPROPRIATION FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that payroll deduction claims numbered 29287 to 29339 

inclusive therein, in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of $95,148.21 

plus payroll, are approved for payment and necessary amounts are appropriated from various 

municipal funds for transfer to the payroll fund for the immediate payment thereof. 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the following expenditures from the accounts payable 

fund be made in order to pay amounts transferred thereto from the payroll fund for payment of the 

payroll deduction claims authorized herein for payment:    

         TO                                           TO 

FROM:                                                             ACCOUNTS PAYABLE                  PAYROLL     

                                                                                           FUND                                    FUND 

GENERAL FUND  2,322,805.52 

PARKS & RECR FUND  103,864.36 

LANDFILL FUND  25,309.00 

SENIOR AIDES  3,440.23 

WATER/SEWER OPER & MAINT  89,719.35 

PAYROLL  95,148.21  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             833 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

HOUSING COMM DEV  8,894.73 

TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS  5,971.83 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  18,433.75 

PEG ACCESS-PROGRAMMING FUND  5,466.14 

2020 SAKI GRAND DOJ  7,405.71 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  31,877.32 

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT 2021              253.38 

NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING COMM  3,624.99 

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $2,686,706.31 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. 

TO PROVIDE LEASE PURCHASE FINANCING FOR TWENTY-ONE (21) 

PUBLIC SAFETY VEHICLES AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE 

THE MASTER LEASE-PURCHASE AGREEMENT, ESCROW AGREEMENT 

AND ALL OTHER DOCUMENTS NECESSARY FOR FUNDING THE 2023 

LEASE PURCHASE TRANSACTION.  

WHEREAS, on March 21, 2023, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson 

approved a resolution declaring the official intent of the City of Jackson, Mississippi to reimburse 

itself from the proceeds of a Master Lease Purchase Agreement for the purchase of twenty-one 

(21) vehicles for the Jackson Police Department; and 

WHEREAS, Section 31-7-13(e) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as annotated, provides 

lease-purchase financing may be obtained from a vendor or third-party source after having 

solicited and obtained at least two (2) written competitive bids for such financing without 

advertising for bids. Solicitation for the bids for financing may occur before or after acceptance of 

bids for the purchase of equipment, or, where no such bids for purchase are required, at any time 

before the purchase thereof; and 

 

WHEREAS, on July 20 and July 27, 2023, the Department of Administration issued a 

solicitation for sealed proposals for the lease-purchase interest rate financing for the purchase of 

public safety vehicles in The Mississippi Link; and 

 

WHEREAS, on August 15, 2023, at City Hall, the Department of Administration received 

four competitively sealed proposals for RFP #94654-081523 Lease Purchase Financing Interest 

Rate Proposal; and  

 

            WHEREAS, the Department of Administration represents that J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, 

N.A. submitted the lowest and best proposal to finance twenty-one (21) public safety vehicles for 

$794,501.00 with a three-year financing agreement at a 5.02% interest rate with the total interest 

of $71,238.26; and 

 

           WHEREAS, the principal amortization table, which sets forth how money the City of 

Jackson will pay in principal and interest over time, is attached herein and incorporated by 

reference in Exhibit A; and 

 

         WHEREAS, the Department of Administration recommends acceptance of the proposal 

of J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. as the lowest and best bid and authorizes the Mayor to execute 

the 2023 Master Lease Purchase Agreement at an interest rate of 5.02% for a three-year term, with 

a total interest of Seventy-One Thousand and Two Hundred and Thirty-Eight Dollars and Twenty-

Six ($71,238.26), with the semi-annual payment for year one (FY2024) to year three (FY2026) set 

at $144,289.88 to the governing authorities of the City of Jackson. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             834 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

           IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED by the governing authorities for the City of Jackson 

the acceptance of the proposal of J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. as the lowest and best bid. 

 

          IT IS, FURTHER ORDERED by the governing authorities for the City of Jackson that 

the Mayor is authorized to execute the 2023 Master Lease Purchase Agreement with J.P. Morgan 

Chase Bank, N.A. at an interest rate of 5.02% for a three-year term, with a total interest of Seventy-

One Thousand and Two Hundred and Thirty-Eight Dollars and Twenty-Six ($71,238.26), with the 

semi-annual payment for year one (FY2024) to year three (FY2026) set at $144,289.88. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN AMENDMENT TO 

THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 2C MISSISSIPPI TO 

FACILITATE THE “GOING GREEN FOR A COOL HEALTHY JACKSON” 

PROJECT.  

WHEREAS, on October 27, 2020, the Jackson City Council ratified the submission of the 

“Going Green for a Cool, Healthy Jackson” grant application to the Robert Wood Johnson 

Foundation (RWJF) and authorized the Mayor to accept the grant award to reduce mortality and 

prevent illness associated with urban-heat-island (UHI) effects in Jackson, Mississippi, while 

providing a range of social, economic, cultural, and ecological co-benefits for the City of Jackson’s 

at-risk residents for the term beginning November 1, 2020, and ending April 30, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, on September 28, 2021, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to 

execute an amendment to the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation “Going Green for a Cool, Healthy 

Jackson” grant award to revise the budget and budget narrative and to permit the City of Jackson 

to subcontract or subgrant funds to 2C Mississippi such that 2C Mississippi would facilitate said 

project for the remainder of the grant term; and 

 

WHEREAS, on February 15, 2022, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to 

amend consultant agreements with Dr. Vivek Shandas, Anna Marandi, Dr. Berneece Herbert, Dr. 

Dominika Parry, and UMMC to reflect that the consultants will be paid by 2? Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, on February 15, 2022, the Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor to 

execute a professional services agreement with 2C Mississippi to facilitate the “Going Green for 

a Cool, Healthy Jackson” project for the remainder of the grant term beginning February 1, 2022, 

and ending April 30, 2023, in the amount of $475,549.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 5, 2023, RWJF notified the Deputy Director of Economic 

Development that the grant period has been extended to October 31, 2023; however, the 

amendment does not modify the scope of work or increase the Foundation’s commitment; and 

 

WHEREAS, to date, the City has received $382,472.00 in grant funds from the Robert 

Wood Johnson Foundation, and the City was due to receive the remaining amount of $93,077.00 

in 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City will keep $1,946.00 of the grant funds from the Robert Wood 

Johnson Foundation for indirect costs; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Chief Administrative Officer recommends the Mayor 

execute an amendment to the professional services agreement with 2? Mississippi, 116 

Summerlake Drive, Ridgeland, Mississippi, 39157, an organization founded by Dr. Dominika 

Parry that is purposed with building environmentally and economically sustainable communities, 

municipalities and businesses in Mississippi, to facilitate the project for the remainder of the grant 

term beginning upon execution and ending October 31, 2023, in the amount of $91,131.00. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             835 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor be authorized to execute an 

amendment to the professional services agreement with 2C Mississippi, to facilitate the Robert 

Wood Johnson Foundation’s “Going Green for a Cool, Healthy Jackson” project for the remainder 

of the grant term beginning upon execution of the agreement and ending October 31, 2023, in the 

amount of $91,131. 00. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO 

THE PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURE SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 

CANIZARO CAWTHON DAVIS, A PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON ARTS CENTER EMERGENCY REPAIRS PROJECT.  

WHEREAS, on February 14, 2023, the City of Jackson entered into an Agreement with 

Canizaro Cawthon Davis, A Professional Association (“CCD”) for professional architecture 

services to renovate the Arts Center of Mississippi as an emergency in preparation of the USA 

International Ballet Competition (“IBC”); and 

 

WHEREAS, due to the success in scheduling the renovations and the short period of time 

it took to get them underway, the City was able to budget an additional $100,000.00 for further 

renovations to the Arts Center of Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, the architect fees under the original contract provided a fee of 

$75,000.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, the original February 3, 2023 Order stated that the not to exceed amount of 

the Agreement was $210,000.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, CCD and the City agreed to an additional fee of $7,000.00 for the 

$100,000.00 in additional renovation work; and 

 

            WHEREAS, Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement with CCD requires that they perform 

the same services as provided for the original budget amount, which included identifying feasible 

renovations given the time constraint of the beginning of the IBC, working with each contractor 

to determine the best means and methods of accomplishing the work, and inspecting the work as 

it was constructed; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the Department of Public Works recommends approval of this Amendment 

No. 1; and 

 

WHEREAS, the total agreement amount including Amendment No. 1 shall not exceed 

$82,000.00 without prior City Council approval. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the February 3, 2023 ORDER AUTHORIZING 

THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURE AGREEMENT WITH 

CANIZARO CAWTHON DAVIS, A PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR CITY OF 

JACKSON ARTS CENTER EMERGENCY REPAIRS PROJECT, found at Minute Book 6W, 

Pages 615-622 is amended to state that the not to exceed amount of the Agreement is $75,000.00. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute Amendment No. 

1 to the professional architect services agreement with Canizaro Cawthon Davis, A Professional 

Association to increase the Agreement amount by $7,000.00 for a total not to exceed amount of 

$82,000.00. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             836 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RATIFYING THE ACCEPTANCE OF REPAIR SERVICES FROM 

METRO COMMUNICATIONS AND UTILITY FOR REPAIRS AT THE RECORDS 

MANAGEMENT FACILITY LOCATED AT 2525 ROBINSON ROAD FOR THE 

DEPARTMENT OF MUNICIPAL CLERK AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF 

SAID SERVICES.  

WHEREAS, on July 3, 2023, there was a small fire at the Records Facility, causing 

damage to an exterior door that contained wiring for the intercom system and access door; and 

 

WHEREAS, the extent of the damage required a contractor to install wiring, bolts, nuts, 

washers, pole attachments, conduit, and an intercom; and 

 

WHEREAS, the procurement of these necessary repair services was done with a quote 

and without prior approval by the City Council of the city of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, Metro Communications & Utility Contractors performed the repair work and 

need to be compensated in accordance with the attached quote. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the repair work performed by Metro 

Communications & Utility Contractors is hereby ratified and accepted, and the governing 

authorities authorize payment to Metro Communications & Utility in the amount of $3,000.00. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE PROCUREMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF 

UPDATED SQUARE9 SOFTWORKS SOFTWARE FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF 

MUNICIPALCLERK.  

WHEREAS, the city of Jackson, Mississippi, is required to preserve, store, and maintain 

essential public records pertaining to the business of the municipality and is required to provide 

public records to those requesting said records pursuant to the Mississippi Public Records Act of 

1983: and 

WHEREAS, Square9 Softworks takes the paper out of work and makes it easier to get 

things done with digital workflows that automate many aspects of your work today. Square9 

Softworks makes it easy by extracting information from scans or PDFs, storing documents in a 

searchable archive, and building digital twins of your current processes through graphical 

workflows; and 

WHEREAS, this software will increase efficiency in the review, storage, collaboration, 

classification, revision, and accessibility of records for the city of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, the current legacy software is obsolete and has lost certain functions; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Department of Municipal Clerk to purchase an 

upgraded version of said software to continue utilizing its functionality; and 

WHEREAS, the cost of new software to upgrade current software is as follows: 

Part # Description Licenses Total 

Qty. 

Unit 

Price 

Subtotal 

GSLEGACY-

001 

Universal SKU for the addition 

of legacy products to update 

earlier versions of 

200.00 200.00 10.000 $2,000.00 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             837 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

GlobalSearch, GlobalCapture, 

and GlobalForms 

GSLEGACY-

001MS 

Universal SKU for the addition 

of legacy product M&S 

(monthly) to update earlier 

versions of GlobalSearch, 

GlobalCapture, GlobalForms 

245.09 1,225.45 0.170 $208.33 

S9SPROSRV-

002 

Fixed cost remote ECM 

Services 

2.50 2.50 1,750.00 $4,375.00 

                                                                                                                        Total          $6,583.33 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor execute the Square9 Softworks 

quotation form and the Square9 Softworks software is approved to be utilized within the 

Department of Municipal Clerk at a cost not to exceed Six Thousand Five Hundred Eighty-Three 

Dollars and Thirty-Three Cents ($6,583.33). 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN & CULTURAL SERVICES, CULTURAL 

DIVISION.  

WHEREAS, certain unanticipated needs and allocations have arisen since the adoption of 

the Fiscal Year 2023 City of Jackson budget for the Department of Human & Cultural Services, 

Cultural Division; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Fiscal Year 2023 City of Jackson budget should be amended to provide 

funding to make the final payments for the renovation of the Arts Center of Mississippi done for 

the purpose of hosting the International Ballet Competition; and 

 

WHEREAS, the following accounts should be amended as follows: 

 

From Account   To Account     Amount 

047-45300-6812   430-40820-6419    $ 7,000.00 

047-45300-6812   430-40820-6812    $ 2,973.00 

Total          $ 9,973.00 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Fiscal Year 2023 budget be revised for the 

Department of Human & Cultural Services, as follows: 

 

From Account   To Account     Amount 

047-45300-6812   430-40820-6419    $ 7,000.00 

047-45300-6812   430-40820-6812    $ 2,973.00 

Total          $ 9,973.00 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this revision to the budget of the Department of Human 

& Cultural Services be published in accordance with Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             838 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

ORDER RATIFYING INVOICES WITH SUNRISE PRODUCE JACKSON FOR 

PROVIDING PRODUCE TO FEED THE ANIMALS AT THE JACKSON ZOO IN 

THE AMOUNT OF SIX THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED AND SIXTY-TWO 

DOLLARS AND SIX CENTS ($6,662.06).  

WHEREAS, the Sunrise Produce Jackson provided fruits and vegetables to feed the 

animals at the City of Jackson – Jackson Zoo; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Sunrise Produce Jackson provides apples, carrots, bananas, corn, grapes, 

romaine lettuce, and sweet potatoes for some of the animals at the Jackson Zoo; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Sunrise Produce Jackson ensures that The Jackson Zoo has fresh produce, 

as a dietary supplement for the animals; and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 01, 2023, Sunrise Produce Jackson provided a food order and Invoice 

# 14-765828 for (4) cases of apples, (6) cases of bananas, (2) cases of carrots, (2) cases of corn, 

(1) case of red seedless grapes, (3) cases of romaine lettuce, (2) cases of oranges and (3) cases of 

sweet potatoes with a $6.50 fuel charge to the Jackson Zoo, totaling $854.63; and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 08, 2023, Sunrise Produce Jackson provided a food order and Invoice 

# 14-766847 for (3) cases of apples, (2) cases of bananas, (1) case of corn, (3) cases of romaine 

lettuce, (1) case of oranges and (3) cases of sweet potatoes with a $6.50 fuel charge to the Jackson 

Zoo, totaling $519.30; and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 15, 2023, Sunrise Produce Jackson provided a food order and Invoice 

# 14-767670 for (4) cases of apples, (5) cases of bananas, (2) cases of carrots, (2) cases of corn, 

(1) case of red seedless grapes, (3) cases of romaine lettuce, (4) cases of oranges and (3) cases of 

sweet potatoes with a $6.50 fuel charge to the Jackson Zoo, totaling $895.67; and 

 

WHEREAS, on May 22, 2023, Sunrise Produce Jackson provided a food order and invoice 

# 14-768646 for (3) cases of apples, (5) cases of bananas, (1) case of carrots, (3) cases of corn, (1) 

case of red seedless grapes, (3) cases of romaine lettuce, (5) cases of oranges and (3) cases of sweet 

potatoes with a $6.50 fuel charge to the Jackson Zoo, totaling $882.50; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2023, Sunrise Produce Jackson provided a food order and Invoice 

# 14-771445 for (6) cases of apples, (7) cases of bananas, (2) cases of carrots, (2) cases of corn, 

(5) cases of romaine lettuce, (3) cases of oranges and (3) cases of sweet potatoes with a $6.50 fuel 

charge to the Jackson Zoo, totaling $989.90; and 

 

WHEREAS, on July 12, 2023, Sunrise Produce Jackson provided a food order and Invoice 

# 14-773829 for (4) cases of apples, (6) cases of bananas, (2) cases of carrots, (4) cases of corn, 

(1) case of red seedless grapes, (4) cases of romaine lettuce, (5) cases of oranges, and (4) cases of 

sweet potatoes to the Jackson Zoo, totaling $1,095.42; and 

 

WHEREAS, on August 12, 2023, Sunrise Produce Jackson provided a food order and 

Invoice # 14-776670 for (4) cases of apples, (6) cases of bananas, (2) cases of corn, (2) cases of 

romaine lettuce, (4) cases of oranges, and (3) cases of sweet potatoes to the Jackson Zoo, totaling 

$728.89; and 

 

WHEREAS, on August 18, 2023, Sunrise Produce Jackson provided a food order and 

Invoice # 14-778481 for (2) cases of carrots, (2) cases of romaine lettuce, and (2) cases of sweet 

potatoes with a $6.50 fuel charge to the Jackson Zoo, totaling $205.20; and 

 

WHEREAS, on August 25, 2023, Sunrise Produce Jackson provided a food order and 

Invoice # 14-779327 (2) cases of apples, (2) cases of bananas, (1) case of carrots, (2) cases of corn, 

(2) cases of romaine lettuce, (2) cases of oranges, and (3) cases of sweet potatoes with a $6.50 fuel 

charge to the Jackson Zoo, totaling $490.55. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that a payment in the amount of Six Thousand Six Hundred 

and Sixteen Dollars and Fifty-Six Cents ($6,616.56) be approved and ratified to Sunrise Produce 

for fruits and vegetables to feed the animals at the City of Jackson – Jackson Zoo and paid from 

account number 398.498.00-6214. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             839 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that a payment in the amount of Forty-Five Dollars and Fifty 

Cents ($45.50) be approved and ratified to Sunrise Produce for fuel charges to deliver fruits and 

vegetables to feed the animals at the City of Jackson – Jackson Zoo and paid from account number 

398.498.00-6215. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RATIFYING PAYMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF SIX HUNDRED 

DOLLARS ($600.00) FOR SERVICES PERFORMED BY ARTISAN 

PYROTECHNICS, INC., WHO PROVIDED PYROTECHNICS FOR THE 

JUNETEENTH KID’S FESTIVAL THAT WAS ORIGINALLY SCHEDULED FOR 

JUNE 16, 2023, BUT HAD TO BE RESCHEDULED TO JUNE 19, 2023, BECAUSE 

OF INCLEMENT WEATHER, WHICH NECESSITATED DISASSEMBLING AND 

REASSEMBLING THE PYROTECHNIC DISPLAY.  

WHEREAS, Artisan Pyrotechnics, Inc., (Artisan Pyro) provided pyrotechnics for the City 

of Jackson Parks and Recreation Department for the Juneteenth Kids’ Festival; and 

 

WHEREAS, the above pyrotechnics display, along with other activities, entertainment, 

and live performances, was originally scheduled for June 16, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, because of inclement weather, the above event had to be rescheduled to June 

19, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the rescheduling of the event required Artisan Pyro to disassemble and then 

reassemble their pyrotechnic equipment, for which they charge a Six Hundred Dollar ($600.00) 

fee; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Parks and Recreation Department, because of the importance of 

Juneteenth festivities with the community, agreed to be billed for the above amount for 

rescheduling of the event. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that a payment from account number: 005.501.10-6419 in 

the amount of Six Hundred Dollars ($600.00) be made to Artisan Pyro for rescheduling and 

providing the pyrotechnics display that was a part of the City of Jackson’s Juneteenth Festival. 

 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Foote seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AMENDING THE FISCAL YEAR 2022-2023 BUDGET FOR THE 

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION TO TRANSFER FORTYFIVE 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($45,000.00) FROM “AUTOMOBILES + PIC” 

CATEGORY TO “OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES” CATEGORY FOR 

TREE, LIMB, AND DEBRIS REMOVAL.  

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5(1) of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended, states 

that the governing authorities of every municipality of the state shall have the care, management, 

and control of its municipal affairs, property, and finances; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the sincere desire of the City of Jackson Department of Parks and 

Recreation to provide consistent and outstanding service to our youth and citizens of the City of 

Jackson, as well as our visiting guests; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             840 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended, states that 

if it affirmatively appears at any time during the current fiscal year that there is in any fund or 

account any sum remaining unexpended and not needed or expected to be needed for the purpose 

or purposes for which appropriated in said budget, then the governing authorities may, in their 

discretion, transfer such sum or any part thereof to any other fund or funds or account or accounts 

where needed, by order to such effect entered upon their minutes. This shall not, however, 

authorize the expenditure of any funds for any purpose other than that for which the levy producing 

such funds was made; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Parks and Recreation represents that the Forty-Five 

Thousand Dollars ($45,000.00) currently located in the “Automobiles + Pic” Category, that it 

presently seeks to transfer to the “Other Professional Services” Category, is not needed or expected 

to be needed for the purpose(s) for which it was originally appropriated in the Fiscal Year 2022-

2023 Budget; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Forty-Five Thousand Dollars ($45,000.00) located in the “Automobiles 

+ Pic” Category is comprised of unspent funds for vehicle purchases; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Parks and Recreation needs this requested Budget 

amendment so that the Parks and Recreation Department may get trees, limbs, and debris removed 

from public property that was caused by storms in June and July of 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the funds are requested to be transferred as shown below; and 

      

FUNDS TRANSFER FROM: FUNDS TRANSFER TO: 

 

Automobiles + Pic 

Category Account: 

005-504.10-6868 

$45,000.00 Other Professional Services Category 

Account: 005-504.10-6419 

$45,000.00 

 Total Funds Transfer Request $45,000.00 

 

WHEREAS, this intradepartmental transfer of Forty-Five Thousand Dollars ($45,000.00) 

is in statutory compliance with Section 21-35-25 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended, 

because the transfer requested in this Order, added to any previous Fiscal Year 2022-2023 

Department of Parks and Recreation Budget intradepartmental transfers, does not exceed ten 

percent (10%) of the total budget amount appropriated to the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Department 

of Parks and Recreation Budget. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget for the 

Department of Parks and Recreation be amended to authorize a Budget transfer of Forty-Five 

Thousand Dollars ($45,000.00) from the “Automobiles + Pic” Category (account number: 005-

504.10-6868), to be allocated to the “Other Professional Services” Category (account number: 

005-504.10-6419). 

 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

Note: Council Member Grizzell joined the meeting. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

ORDER RATIFYING PAYMENTS FOR SERVICES PERFORMED BY BOUNCE-

A-ROO, LLC., WHO PROVIDED SPACE JUMPS FOR ZIPPTY ZOO DAYAND 

JUNETEETHKIDS FESTIVALIN THE AMOUNT TOTALING EIGHT HUNDRED 

AND SEVENTY DOLLARS ($870.00).  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             841 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, the Bounce-A-Roo, LLC provided space jumps for the City of Jackson - 

Parks and Recreations Department; and 

 

          WHEREAS, the Bounce-A-Roo, LLC provided two (2) space jumps at Zippty Zoo Day on 

May 20, 2023 at the Jackson Zoo; and 

 

          WHEREAS, the Bounce-A-Roo, LLC provided two (2) space jumps at the Juneteenth Kids 

Festival at the Jackson Convention Center on June 19, 2023. 

 

          IT IS HEREBY ORDEREDthat a payment in the amount of Four Hundred and Ninety 

Dollars ($490.00) be approved and ratified to Bounce-A-Roo, LLC. for providing two (2) space 

jumps at the Zippty Zoo Day event held at the Jackson Zoo be paid from account number 

390.498.00-6419. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that a payment in the amount of Three Hundred and Eighty 

Dollars ($380.00) be approved and ratified to Bounce-A-Roo, LLC. for providing two (2) space 

jumps at the Juneteenth Kid Festival at the Jackson Convention be paid from account number 

005.501.10-6419. 

 

 Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Abstention – Grizzell.  

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE APURCHASE ORDER TO 

MODIFY SEVEN BON AIR PROPERTY DEEDS THROUGH THE DEPARTMENT 

OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON 

AND H. FARISS CRISLER, III.  

WHEREAS, on July 14, 2023, the Department of Planning and Development published a 

Quotation Request Form seeking a vendor to modify and record seven Bon Air property deeds; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, H. Fariss Crisler, III submitted the lowest price quote to modify and record 

seven Bon Air property deeds; and 

 

WHEREAS, H. Fariss Crisler, III has a principal office located at 840 E. River Place, Suite 

508; and 

 

WHEREAS, H. Fariss Crisler, III will complete the modification of deeds for the 

following properties: 

 
Description of Items Price per Project Location 

 
109 Calhoun $500.00 
110 Calhoun $500.00 
113 Calhoun $500.00 
114 Calhoun $500.00 
115 Calhoun $500.00 
116 Calhoun $500.00 
117 Calhoun $500.00 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a purchase 

order with H. Fariss Crisler to modify and record seven Bon Air property deeds through Planning 

and Development as outlined below once the purchase order is approved: 

 
Description of Items Price per Project Location 

 
109 Calhoun $500.00 
110 Calhoun $500.00 
113 Calhoun $500.00 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             842 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

114 Calhoun $500.00 
115 Calhoun $500.00 
116 Calhoun $500.00 
117 Calhoun $500.00 

 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstentions – Grizzell.  

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

Note: Council Member Stokes joined the meeting. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks requested that Agenda Items No. 37, 38, and 39 be moved forward on the 

Agenda. Hearing no objections, the Clerk read the following:  

ORDER APPROVING THE ACCEPTANCE OF BIPARTISAN 

INFRASTRUCTURE LAW (“BIL”) AIRPORT INFRASTRUCTURE GRANT 

(“AIG”) OFFER NO. 3-28-0037-064-2023; AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR 

AND CITY ATTORNEY TO EXECUTE SAID BIL-AIG PROGRAM GRANT 

OFFER AND AGREEMENT ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF JACKSON 

MISSISSIPPI, AS OFFERED BY THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION, FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION, FOR 

PURPOSES DIRECTLY RELATED TO THE JACKSON-MEDGAR WILEY 

EVERS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT (“AIRPORT”).  

 

WHEREAS, Jackson Municipal Airport Authority (“JMAA”) Staff submitted an 

application to the United States Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation Administration 

(“FAA”), on or about August 4, 2023 (“Application”) for an BIL-AIG Program Grant under the 

auspices of airport development and/or noise program implementation at the Airport; and 

 

WHEREAS, the FAA approved JMAA’s Application and offered BIL-AIG Program 

Grant No. 3-28-0037-064-2023 to JMAA on or about September 1, 2023 (the “BIL-AIG Program 

Grant”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the BIL-AIG Program Grant is in an anticipated amount not-to-exceed Four 

Million, Nine Hundred Eighteen Thousand, Four Hundred Fifty-Nine Dollars ($4,918,459.00) and 

covers ninety percent (90%) of allowable costs incurred to: (a) Rehabilitate Taxiway A; (b) 

Rehabilitate Taxiway B; and (c) Rehabilitate Taxiway Lighting, all as fully described in the BIL-

AIG Program Grant Application (the “Project”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the JMAA Board of Commissioners approved and authorized its Chief 

Executive Officer to accept the BIL-AIG Program Grant Offer and to execute the BIL-AIG 

Program Grant Offer and Agreement during a duly-convened, regular Board meeting on August 

28, 2023, and further authorized JMAA’s Special Counsel to execute the “Certificate of Sponsor’s 

Attorney,” all as required by FAA for release of the BIL-AIG Program Grant funds; and 

 

WHEREAS, the FAA further requires that the City of Jackson, Mississippi (“City”), as 

Co-sponsor with JMAA of the Airport, to execute multiple copies of the BIL-AIG Program Grant 

Offer and Agreement as the City has normally and customarily done as Co-sponsor with JMAA 

of the Airport with respect to other FAA grants to JMAA; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Attorney of the City of Jackson, Mississippi must be 

authorized by the City Council to execute the BIL-AIG Program Grant Offer and Agreement in 

order for JMAA to receive the BIL-AIG Program Grant funds. 

 

NOW IT IS THEREFORE RESOLVED by the City of Jackson, Mississippi, that the 

BIL-AIG Program Grant Offer and Application in an anticipated amount not-to-exceed Four 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             843 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Million, Nine Hundred Eighteen Thousand, Four Hundred Fifty-Nine Dollars ($4,918,459.00), or 

ninety percent (90%) of the allowable costs of the Project, whichever is less, is hereby accepted 

and approved. 

 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor and City Attorney of the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi are hereby authorized to execute the BIL-AIG Program Grant Offer and Agreement 

to: (a) Rehabilitate Taxiway A; (b) Rehabilitate Taxiway B; and (c) Rehabilitate Taxiway Lighting, 

all as fully described in the BIL-AIG Program Grant Application (the “Project”). 

 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that no funds of the City of Jackson, Mississippi are to be 

expended in connection herewith. 

 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that in no event shall the BIL-AIG Program Grant funds 

be used other than as authorized and approved by the FAA under the auspices of BIL-AIG Program 

Grant No. 3-28-0037-064-2023. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Patrick Minor, Interim Chief Financial Officer of JMAA, who 

provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

  

Thereafter, President Banks, called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPROVING THE ACCEPTANCE OF AIRPORT IMPROVEMENT 

PROGRAM (“AIP”) GRANT OFFER NO. 3-28-0037-063-2023; AND 

AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND CITY ATTORNEY TO EXECUTE SAID AI 

GRANT OFFER AND AGREEMENT ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, 

MISSISSIPPI, AS OFFERED BY THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION, FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION, FOR 

PURPOSES DIRECTLY RELATED TO THE JACKSON-MEDGAR WILEY 

EVERS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT (“AIRPORT”).  

 

WHEREAS, Jackson Municipal Airport Authority (“JMAA”) Staff submitted an 

application to the United States Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation Administration 

(“FAA”), on or about August 4, 2023 (“Application”) for an AIP Grant under the auspices of 

airport development and/or noise program implementation at the Airport; and 

 

WHEREAS, the FAA approved JMAA’s Application and offered AIP Grant No. 3-28-

0037-063-2023 to JMAA on or about September 1, 2023 (the “AIP Grant”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the AIP Grant is in an amount not-to-exceed Fourteen Million, Three 

Hundred Thirty-One Thousand, One Hundred Twenty-Seven Dollars ($14,331,127.00) and covers 

ninety percent (90%) of allowable costs incurred to: (a) Rehabilitate Taxiway A; (b) Rehabilitate 

Taxiway B; and (c) Rehabilitate Taxiway Lighting, all as fully described in the AIP Grant 

Application (the “Project”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the JMAA Board of Commissioners approved and authorized its Chief 

Executive Officer to accept the AIP Grant Offer and to execute the AIP Grant Offer and Agreement 

during a duly-convened, regular Board meeting on August 28, 2023, and further authorized 

JMAA’s Special Counsel to execute the “Certificate of Sponsor’s Attorney,” all as required by 

FAA for release of the AIP Grant funds; and 

 

WHEREAS, the FAA further requires that the City of Jackson, Mississippi (“City”), as 

Co-sponsor with JMAA of the Airport, to execute multiple copies of the AIP Grant Offer and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             844 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Agreement as the City has normally and customarily done as Co-sponsor with JMAA of the 

Airport with respect to other FAA grants to JMAA; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Attorney of the City of Jackson, Mississippi must be 

authorized by the City Council to execute the AIP Grant Offer and Agreement in order for JMAA 

to receive the AIP Grant funds. 

 

NOW, IT IS THEREFORE RESOLVED by the City of Jackson, Mississippi, that the 

AIP Grant Offer and Application in the amount of Fourteen Million, Three Hundred Thirty-One 

Thousand, One Hundred Twenty-Seven Dollars ($14,331,127.00), or ninety percent (90%) of the 

allowable costs of the Project, whichever is less, is hereby accepted and approved. 

 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor and City Attorney of the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi are hereby authorized to execute the AIP Grant Offer and Agreement to: (a) 

Rehabilitate Taxiway A; (b) Rehabilitate Taxiway B; and (c) Rehabilitate Taxiway Lighting, all 

as fully described in the AIP Grant Application (the “Project”). 

 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that no funds of the City of Jackson, Mississippi are to be 

expended in connection herewith. 

 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that in no event shall the AIP Grant funds be used other 

than as authorized and approved by the FAA under the auspices of AIP Grant No. 3-28-0037-063-

2023. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPROVING THE ACCEPTANCE OF AIRPORT IMPROVEMENT 

PROGRAM (“AIP”) GRANT OFFER NO. 3-28-0037-067-2023; AND 

AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND CITY ATTORNEY TO EXECUTE SAID AIP 

GRANT OFFER AND AGREEMENT ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, 

MISSISSIPPI, AS OFFERED BY THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION, FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION, FOR 

PURPOSES DIRECTLY RELATED TO THE JACKSON-MEDGAR WILEY 

EVERS INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT (“AIRPORT”).  

WHEREAS, Jackson Municipal Airport Authority (“JMAA”) Staff submitted an 

application to the United States Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation Administration 

(“FAA”), on or about August 4, 2023 (“Application”) for an AIP Grant under the auspices of 

airport development and/or noise program implementation at the Airport; and 

 

WHEREAS, the FAA approved JMAA’s Application and offered AIP Grant No. 3-28-

0037-067-2023 to JMAA on or about September 1, 2023 (the “AIP Grant”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the AIP Grant is in an amount not-to-exceed Two Million, Seven Hundred 

Thousand Dollars ($2,700,000.00) and covers ninety percent (90%) of allowable costs incurred to: 

(a) Rehabilitate Taxiway A; (b) Rehabilitate Taxiway B; and (c) Rehabilitate Taxiway Lighting, 

all as fully described in the AIP Grant Application (the “Project”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the JMAA Board of Commissioners approved and authorized its Chief 

Executive Officer to accept the AIP Grant Offer and to execute the AIP Grant Offer and Agreement 

during a duly-convened, regular Board meeting on August 28, 2023, and further authorized 

JMAA’s Special Counsel to execute the “Certificate of Sponsor’s Attorney,” all as required by 

FAA for release of the AIP Grant funds; and 

 

WHEREAS, the FAA further requires that the City of Jackson, Mississippi (“City”), as 

Co-sponsor with JMAA of the Airport, to execute multiple copies of the AIP Grant Offer and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             845 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Agreement as the City has normally and customarily done as Co-sponsor with JMAA of the 

Airport with respect to other FAA grants to JMAA; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Attorney of the City of Jackson, Mississippi must be 

authorized by the City Council to execute the AIP Grant Offer and Agreement in order for JMAA 

to receive the AIP Grant funds. 

 

NOW IT IS THEREFORE RESOLVED by the City of Jackson, Mississippi, that the 

AIP Grant and Application in the amount of Two Million, Seven Hundred Thousand Dollars 

($2,700,000.00), or ninety percent (90%) of the allowable costs of the Project, whichever is less, 

is hereby accepted and approved. 

 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor and City Attorney of the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi are hereby authorized to execute the AIP Grant Offer and Agreement to: (a) 

Rehabilitate Taxiway A; (b) Rehabilitate Taxiway B; and (c) Rehabilitate Taxiway Lighting, all 

as fully described in the AIP Grant Application (the “Project”).  

 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that no funds of the City of Jackson, Mississippi are to be 

expended in connection herewith. 

 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that in no event shall the AIP Grant funds be used other 

than as authorized and approved by the FAA under the auspices of AIP Grant No. 3-28-0037-067-

2023. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Rosa Beckett, Chief Executive Officer of JMAA and Mayor 

Chokwe Antar Lumumba, who provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 Thereafter, President Banks, called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO APPROVE A PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICE PURCHASE ORDER REQUEST FOR ADVANCED 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC (AEC) TO CONDUCT LEAD 

INSPECTIONS ON BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND 

DEVELOPMENT (OFFICE OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT) 

THAT ADHERE TO THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN 

DEVELOPMENT’S PROGRAM REGULATIONS.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson’s Department of Planning and Development 

(Department) will be implementing several neighborhood service programs aimed to build the 

quality of life for residents in the City of Jackson; and 

WHEREAS, on July 10, 2023, the Department published a Quotation Request Form for a 

lead inspector to complete a comprehensive lead inspection risk assessment (LIRA) that meets the 

U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) standards based on a lead-based paint 

test utilizing XRF testing device, complete the lead clearance assessments, and test approved units; 

and 

WHEREAS, on August 8, 2023, the Department received one (1) completed quotation 

request form; and 

WHEREAS, the City intends to approve a purchase order for Advanced Environmental 

Consultants, Inc. (AEC) to complete LIRA and clearance assessments for HUD funded projects 

throughout the Department of Planning and Development; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             846 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, Advanced Environmental Consultants, Inc. will complete lead inspections 

for two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500) per unit and lead clearance assessments for seven 

hundred fifty dollars ($750.00) per unit; and 

WHEREAS, Advanced Environmental Consultants, Inc. has a principal office address of 

775 N. President Street, Jackson, Mississippi 39202; and 

WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development through the Office of Housing 

and Community Development (OHCD) will use funds from HUD to pay AEC for lead inspections 

and lead clearance assessments. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to approve a purchase 

order for Advanced Environmental Consultants Inc. to provide environmental reviews for HUD 

funded projects throughout the Department of Planning and Development. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the amount expended to Advanced Environmental 

Consultants, Inc. shall not exceed two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00) per unit for a lead 

inspection and shall not exceed seven hundred fifty dollars ($750.00) per unit for a lead clearance 

assessment.  

  IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the amount expended to Advanced Environmental 

Consultants, Inc. will be paid for from HUD funds budgeted to the Department of Planning and 

Development. 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development, who 

provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

  

Thereafter, President Banks, called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF JACKSON TO ENTER INTO AN 

AGREEMENT WITH CHAN BURNS ENGINEERING & SURVEYING FOR 

MULTIPLE ELEVATION CERTIFICATES AND RELATES SERVICES.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson must obtain fifteen (15) elevation certificates for 

properties located in special flood hazard areas; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chan Burns Engineering & Surveying proposes to conduct the required 

surveys and provide elevation certificates in a timely manner; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chan Burns Engineering & Surveying will provide elevation certificates at 

$175.00 each; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Department desires to accept the quote from Chan Burns 

Engineering & Surveying. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute an agreement 

and related documents with Chan Burns Engineering & Surveying to provide surveying services 

and elevation certificates for fifteen (15) properties in the amount of $2,625.00. 

 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             847 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF JACKSON TO ENTER INTO 

AGREEMENT WITH METRO COMMUNICATIONS & UTILITY FOR THE 

INSTALLATION OF FIBER AND RELATED MATERIALS AND RELATED 

SERVICES FOR 915 ELLIS AVENUE.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson must move all operations out of the MetroCenter Mall; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, said operations are to be relocated to 915 Ellis Avenue; and 

 

WHEREAS, 915 Ellis Avenue must be prepared for use and business operations; and 

 

WHEREAS, Metro Communications & Utility Co. submitted a quote to provide fiber and 

related materials and services to make 915 Ellis Avenue operational; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Department desires to accept the quote from Metro 

Communications & Utility. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute an agreement 

and related documents with Metro Communications & Utility in the amount not to exceed 

$20,943.00, to provide fiber and related materials and services for 915 Ellis Avenue. 

 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER DECLARING PARCEL NUMBER 817-270 SURPLUS PROPERTY AND 

AUTHORIZING DISPOSAL OF SAME TO JANET S. MADDEN TO CLEAR AND 

CLEAN TO ENHANCE NEIGHBORHOOD APPEARANCE.  

WHEREAS, On November 20, 2022, Janet S. Madden submitted an application to the 

City of Jackson’s Surplus Property Division requesting acquisition of parcel 817-270; and 

 

WHEREAS, on January 23, 2023, the City of Jackson’s Surplus Property Committee 

voted to declare the above-referenced parcel surplus property and to dispose of via the bid method, 

pursuant to Section 21-17-1(2)(a) of the Mississippi Code, as amended; and 

 

WHEREAS, no City department expressed a municipal need for the property; and 

 

WHEREAS, a request for bids was published in The Mississippi Link April 6, 2023, April 

13, 2023, and April 20, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the sole bid of $1,055.00 was submitted by Janet S. Madden; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Surplus Property Committee recommends that the City Council declare 

the property surplus and authorize its disposal to Janet S. Madden, pursuant to Section 21-17-

1(2)(a) of the Mississippi Code, as amended. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the property bearing the legal description: 200 FT 

W/S ZEPHER RD X 200 FT BK BEG 964.25 FT N OF HWY IN N ½ SEC 34 T6 R1W is no 

longer necessary or needed for municipal or related purposes and is not to be used in the operation 

of the municipality, that the sale of such property in another manner is not necessary or desirable 

for the financial welfare of the municipality, and using the property to clear and clean to enhance 

neighborhood appearance will promote and foster the development and improvement of the 

community and the civic, social, educational, cultural, moral, economic or industrial welfare, and 

the property is, hereby, declared to be surplus property. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             848 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor shall be authorized to execute the sale 

contract, deed of conveyance, and other documents necessary to sell Parcel Number 817-270 to 

Janet S. Madden for the amount of one thousand fifty-five dollars and zero cents ($1,055.00). 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that consistent with the provisions of Mississippi Code 

Section 21-17-1(2)(a), the instrument conveying the property to Janet S. Madden shall reserve all 

mineral rights, together with the right of ingress and egress for the removal of same. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development, who 

provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

  

Thereafter, President Banks, called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF JACKSON TO ENTER INTO 

AGREEMENT WITH ARMSTRONG TRANSFER & STORAGE CO., DBA: 

ARMSTRONG RELOCATION AND RELATED SERVICES TO RELOCATE 

JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT PRECINCT 2 FROM 3645 HIGHWAY80 TO 

915 ELLIS AVENUE.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson must move all operations out of the Metro Center Mall; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, said operations are to be relocated to 915 Ellis Avenue; and 

 

WHEREAS, 915 Ellis Avenue must be prepared for use and business operations; and 

 

WHEREAS, Armstrong Transfer & Storage Co. DBA: Armstrong Relocation submitted 

a quote to provide relocation services materials and services to make 915 Ellis Avenue operational; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning Department desires to accept the quote from Armstrong 

Transfer & Storage Co. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute an agreement 

and related documents with Armstrong Transfer & Storage Co. DBA: Armstrong Relocation in 

the amount not to exceed $6,442.25 to provide relocation services materials and services for 915 

Ellis Avenue. 

 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chief Joseph Wade, JPD, who provided a brief overview of said 

item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Thereafter, President Bankscalled for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             849 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICE PURCHASE ORDER REQUEST FOR HORNE FOR RESEARCHING 

AND CONTACTING BUSINESS ENTERPRISES FOR BUSINESS LICENSE 

RENEWALS.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Planning and Development/Office of Economic 

Development ensures that business enterprises have obtained and renewed the annual Privilege 

requirement; and 

 

WHEREAS, on November 1, 2022, the Planning and Development Department/Office of 

Economic Development migrated from an antiquated paper application and approval process to an 

online digital application and approval process; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Planning and Development/Office of Economic 

Development received one (1) quote for professional services to research and contact business 

enterprises without existing contact information present in the antiquated system for the purposes 

of renewing the annual Privilege requirement in the online system; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the City of Jackson's intention to award a professional services purchase 

order to Horne for researching and contacting business enterprises for licensing renewals; and 

 

WHEREAS, the total amount of the purchase order is seven thousand five hundred dollars 

($7,500.00) and will be covered by the FY2022 budget. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a professional 

services purchase order with Horne to research and contact business enterprises for licensing 

renewals. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount expended to Horne during the term 

of this professional services purchase order shall not exceed seven thousand five hundred dollars 

($7,500.00). 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development, who 

provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

  

Thereafter, President Bankscalled for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICE PURCHASE ORDER REQUEST FOR HORNE FOR RESEARCHING 

AND CONTACTING BUSINESS ENTERPRISES FOR BUSINESS LICENSE 

RENEWALS.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson's Department of Planning and Development through the 

Office of Economic Development (OED) ensures that business enterprises have obtained and 

renewed the annual Privilege requirement; and  

 

WHEREAS, on November 1, 2022, the OED migrated from an antiquated paper 

application and approval process to an online digital application and approval process; and  

 

WHEREAS, the OED received one (1) quote for professional services for final outreach 

mailings to business enterprises without existing contact information present in the antiquated 

system for the purposes of renewing the annual privilege requirement in the online system; and  

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             850 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, it is the City of Jackson's intention to award a professional services purchase 

order to Home, LLP for final outreach mailings to business enterprises for licensing renewals; and  

 

WHEREAS, Home, LLP has a principal place of business at 661 Sunnybrook Road, STE 

100 Ridgeland, MS 39157 according to information appearing on the Mississippi Secretary of 

State's website; and  

 

WHEREAS, the total amount of the purchase order is seven thousand five hundred dollars 

($7,500) and will be covered by the FY2022-2023 budget. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a professional 

services purchase order with Home, LLP for final outreach mailings to business enterprises for 

licensing renewals in the online system. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount expended to Home, LLP during the 

term of this professional services purchase order shall not exceed seven thousand five hundred 

dollars ($7,500.00).  
 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recommended amending the header to read “Order authorizing the Mayor to 

execute a professional service purchase order request for Horne for final outreach mailings to 

business enterprises for business license renewals”.   

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

     

Vice President Lee moved; seconded by Council Member Lindsay, to amend said order to 

reflect the changes as stated by President Banks. The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – None. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, Vice President Lee called for a vote of said item:  

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICE PURCHASE ORDER REQUEST FOR HORNE FOR FINAL 

OUTREACH MAILINGS TO BUSINESS ENTERPRISES FOR BUSINESS 

LICENSE RENEWALS. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson's Department of Planning and Development through the 

Office of Economic Development (OED) ensures that business enterprises have obtained and 

renewed the annual Privilege requirement; and  

 

WHEREAS, on November 1, 2022, the OED migrated from an antiquated paper 

application and approval process to an online digital application and approval process; and  

 

WHEREAS, the OED received one (1) quote for professional services for final outreach 

mailings to business enterprises without existing contact information present in the antiquated 

system for the purposes of renewing the annual privilege requirement in the online system; and  

 

WHEREAS, it is the City of Jackson's intention to award a professional services purchase 

order to Home, LLP for final outreach mailings to business enterprises for licensing renewals; and  

 

WHEREAS, Home, LLP has a principal place of business at 661 Sunnybrook Road, STE 

100 Ridgeland, MS 39157 according to information appearing on the Mississippi Secretary of 

State's website; and  

 

WHEREAS, the total amount of the purchase order is seven thousand five hundred dollars 

($7,500.00) and will be covered by the FY2022-2023 budget. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             851 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a professional 

services purchase order with Home, LLP for final outreach mailings to business enterprises for 

licensing renewals in the online system. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount expended to Home, LLP during the 

term of this professional services purchase order shall not exceed seven thousand five hundred 

dollars ($7,500.00).  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE APURCHASE ORDER TO 

OUT SOURCE ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW CLEARANCE FOR THE 

INSTALLATION OF FIBER AT 633 STATE STREET THROUGH THE 

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT BETWEEN THE CITY 

OF JACKSON AND GIBCO ENVIRONMENTAL, LLC.  

WHEREAS, on July 6, 2023, the Department of Planning and Development published a 

Quotation Request Form seeking a vendor to perform environmental reviews per U.S. Department 

of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) guidelines; and 

 

WHEREAS, GIBCO Environmental, LLC submitted the lowest price quotes to complete 

environmental reviews for HUD funded installation of fiber at 633 State Street; and 

 

WHEREAS, GIBCO Environmental, LLC has a principal office located at 1651 E. 70th 

Street PMB 403 Shreveport, LA 71105; and 

 

WHEREAS, GIBCO Environmental, LLC will complete each HUD environmental 

review as required as outlined below once the purchase order is approved: 

 

Description of Items 

Requested/Manufacturer/Services or work to 

be performed/Minor Repairs Requested  

Price per Project Location 

Part 58 CENST, Fiber Installation 

633 N. State St. 

$1,500.00 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a purchase 

order with GIBCO Environmental, LLC to provide environmental review for 633 State Street 

outlined below once the purchase order is approved: 

 

Description of Items 

Requested/Manufacturer/Services or work to 

be performed/Minor Repairs Requested 

Price per Project Location 

Part 58 CENST, Fiber Installation 

633 N. State St. 

$1,500.00 

 
 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning and Development, who 

provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

  

Thereafter, President Banks, called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             852 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO THE GREATER JACKSON CHAMBER 

PARTNERSHIP FOR THE MEMBERSHIP DUES FOR THE CITY OF JACKSON, 

MS.  

WHEREAS, The Greater Jackson Chamber Partnership is a non-profit organization, 

which was originally chartered on August 23, 1880, as the Jackson Board of Trade and Cotton 

Exchange. It was established by city of business and professional men in the city of Jackson to 

promote interests beneficial to individual businesses and the city as a whole. In 2007, the name 

changed to the Greater Jackson Chamber Partnership to reflect the growth of the economic 

development division’s area which added Warren County; and 

 

WHEREAS, the mission statement is to foster economic growth and to improve the quality 

of life in the Greater Jackson Area by facilitation and providing leadership to businesses, 

organizations, governmental entities or other interested citizens; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Partnership boasts 1,400 members representing more than 200,000 

employees in the Metro Jackson Area. Members range from the sole proprietors to the largest 

corporations. The Board of Directors and the Chamber staff are dedicated to enhancing the 

financial climate of the metropolitan business community by promoting all members with 

opportunities to expand their business; and 

 

WHEREAS, a municipality may pay professional association dues for individuals if the 

public entity determines that the professional association dues or licensing fees are reasonable and 

necessary to the performance of the employee's duties and the membership must accrue to the 

benefit of the municipality, and any benefit to the individual must be merely incidental. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the governing authorities for the City of Jackson 

determine that GJCP professional association dues are reasonable and necessary to the 

performance of the City. Duties and the membership accrue to the benefit of the municipality, and 

any benefit to the City of Jackson is merely incidental. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the City of Jackson is authorized to pay the Greater 

Jackson Chamber Partnership $10,000.00 to renew membership dues for the City. 

 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AMENDING THE DATES OF AGREEMENT WITH NATIONAL 

LEAGUE OF CITIES’ (NLC) MUNICIPALITIES REIMAGINING COMMUNITY 

SAFETY GRANT TO ESTABLISH AN OFFICE OF VIOLENCE PREVENTION 

AND TRAUMA RECOVERY.  

WHEREAS, on June 21, 2022, the City Council approved an Order authorizing the Mayor 

to execute any and all documents and agreements necessary to accept and administer the NLC’s 

Municipalities Reimagining Community Safety Grant; and 

 

WHEREAS, the overarching purpose of the NLC’S Municipalities Reimagining 

Community Safety (MRCS) Initiative is to advance and support city efforts to rethink local 

systems of public safety and move toward more community driven violence prevention; and 

 

WHEREAS, with support from the Wells Fargo Foundation, the NLC MRCS Initiative 

will provide pass through grants for each of six cities, tailored technical assistance, and evaluation 

support in order to help local leaders advance the creation or updating and implementation of a 

comprehensive violence/safety/violence prevention plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, Jackson, MS was one of the six cities selected to participate in this initiative 

to support the work of the Mayor’s Public Safety Task Force in its efforts to develop a 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             853 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

comprehensive public safety plan and to expand those efforts to encompass victim services and 

trauma recovery; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson was awarded $700,000.00 over a two-year period 

($475,000.00 Year 1; $225,000.00 Year 2) to bring together elected leaders, city staff, residents, 

and local organizations to pursue coordinated, equitable, community-centered safety efforts to 

create safer communities from June 1, 2022 to May 31, 2024; and 

 

WHEREAS, the NLC proposed an Addendum to extend the deadline to September 31, 

2024 and it is in the best interest of the City of Jackson to agree to the extension. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City Council of the City of Jackson hereby 

approves the Addendum to extend the deadline to May 31, 2024 to the NLC grant and authorizes 

the Mayor’s execution of any and all documents and agreements necessary to accept and 

administer the NLC’s Municipalities Reimagining Community Safety Grant. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Foote, who moved, seconded by Council 

Member Stokes to amend said order in the last WHEREAS, changing the date from “September 

31, 2024” to “September 30, 2024”. The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of 

said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item:  

 

ORDER AMENDING THE DATES OF AGREEMENT WITH NATIONAL 

LEAGUE OF CITIES’ (NLC) MUNICIPALITIES REIMAGINING COMMUNITY 

SAFETY GRANT TO ESTABLISH AN OFFICE OF VIOLENCE PREVENTION 

AND TRAUMA RECOVERY.  

WHEREAS, on June 21, 2022, the City Council approved an Order authorizing the Mayor 

to execute any and all documents and agreements necessary to accept and administer the NLC’s 

Municipalities Reimagining Community Safety Grant; and 

 

WHEREAS, the overarching purpose of the NLC’S Municipalities Reimagining 

Community Safety (MRCS) Initiative is to advance and support city efforts to rethink local 

systems of public safety and move toward more community driven violence prevention; and 

 

WHEREAS, with support from the Wells Fargo Foundation, the NLC MRCS Initiative 

will provide pass through grants for each of six cities, tailored technical assistance, and evaluation 

support in order to help local leaders advance the creation or updating and implementation of a 

comprehensive violence/safety/violence prevention plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, Jackson, MS was one of the six cities selected to participate in this initiative 

to support the work of the Mayor’s Public Safety Task Force in its efforts to develop a 

comprehensive public safety plan and to expand those efforts to encompass victim services and 

trauma recovery; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson was awarded $700,000 over a two-year period ($475,000 

Year 1; $225,000 Year 2) to bring together elected leaders, city staff, residents, and local 

organizations to pursue coordinated, equitable, community-centered safety efforts to create safer 

communities from June 1, 2022 to May 31, 2024; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             854 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, the NLC proposed an Addendum to extend the deadline to September 30, 

2024 and it is in the best interest of the City of Jackson to agree to the extension. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the City Council of the City of Jackson hereby 

approves the Addendum to extend the deadline to May 31, 2024 to the NLC grant and authorizes 

the Mayor’s execution of any and all documents and agreements necessary to accept and 

administer the NLC’s Municipalities Reimagining Community Safety Grant. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY TO PAY THE 

MISSISSIPPI BAR DUES, PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION DUES AND 

TRAVEL-RELATED EXPENSES FOR VARIOUS ORGANIZATIONS, MEC, 

PACER, AND COURT FILING FEES, AND ALL FEES ASSOCIATED WITH 

REPRESENTING THE CITYOF JACKSON AND ITS EMPLOYEES AS IT IS 

REASONABLE AND NECESSARY TO THE PERFORMANCE OF THE OFFICE 

OF THE CITYATTORNEYDUTIES.  

 

WHEREAS, the Attorney General opined a municipality may pay professional association 

dues for individuals if the public entity determines that the professional association dues or 

licensing fees are reasonable and necessary to the performance of the employee's duties, the 

membership must accrue to the benefit of the municipality, and any benefit to the individual must 

be merely incidental; and 

 

WHEREAS, between the Office of the City Attorney and the Prosecutor's Office, the City 

of Jackson employs approximately 17 attorneys licensed to practice law in Mississippi; and 

 

WHEREAS, once admitted to the Mississippi Bar, licensed attorneys are required to pay 

enrollment fees to the Bar and to obtain Continuing Legal Education (CLE) credits to retain their 

licenses; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 73-3-127 of the Mississippi Code Annotated, as amended, states, 

"any member failing to pay any enrollment fees within sixty (60) days after the same become due 

shall be considered delinquent and shall be given written notice of his delinquency mailed to him 

by United States mail, addressed to his last known address. If the delinquent fails to pay such 

enrollment fees within thirty (30) days after written notice of delinquency, he shall stand suspended 

from membership in the Mississippi Bar”; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Attorney requests the authority to pay the enrollment fees set by the 

Mississippi Bar for all attorneys for the city of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, Rule 3(a) of the State of MS Rules and Regulations for Mandatory CLE 

states, "each attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Mississippi shall attend, or complete 

an approved substitute for attendance, a minimum or twelve (12) actual hours of approved 

Continuing Legal Education ("CLE") during each successive twelve (12) month period (the "CLE 

year") from and after August 1 of each year, of which one hour shall be in the area of legal ethics, 

professional responsibility, professionalism, malpractice prevention, substance abuse or mental 

health (the "ethics/professionalism hour")"; and 

 

WHEREAS, each attorney newly licensed to practice law in the State of Mississippi, from 

and after August 1, 2015, shall, by the conclusion of the second CLE year occurring after their 

date of admission to The Mississippi Bar, attend or complete a new-lawyer program approved by 

the Commission on Continuing Legal Education, which shall be comprised of a total of twelve 

(12) actual hours of CLE to include six (6) hours of basic skills training and six (6) hours of 

ethics/professionalism. Completion of the new-lawyer program shall satisfy the requirement of 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             855 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

subsection (a) of this Rule for such newly licensed attorney for both the CLE year of admission 

and the next succeeding CLE year; and 

 

WHEREAS, according to the above-referenced rule, the attorneys for the City of Jackson, 

depending on their job duties and roles, are members of various professional organizations that 

host educational conferences, among other services and benefits, to provide CLE training; and 

 

WHEREAS, the attorneys for the City of Jackson are usually members of at least one of 

the following organizations: 

 

1. International Municipal Lawyers Association (Municipal Membership) - Municipal 

Members in IMLA are cities, towns, villages, and townships represented by their chief 

legal officer. 

 

2. National Institute of Governmental Purchasing, Inc. - The Institute for Public Procurement" 

as the go-to-market identity for the Institute to promote our leadership role in supporting 

public procurement practitioners. 

 

3. Mississippi Municipal Attorneys Association – The Mississippi Municipal Attorneys 

Association was established to provide resources, educational opportunities, and a network 

of experienced professionals to assist local government attorneys in the highly specialized 

field of municipal law and in furtherance of the promotion and interests of this field. As 

part of this, MMAA holds two annual conferences, both of which provide attendees with 

continuing legal education credits. 

 

4. MS Association of Governmental Purchasing and Property Agents - MAGPPA serves 

hundreds of public purchasing professionals throughout Mississippi by promoting and 

maintaining high ethical values, enhancing public purchasing practices, protecting the 

public trust and making a positive difference by leading the way through excellence. 

 

5. MS Bar Summer School and Annual Meeting – A week of CLE, business meetings, 

luncheons, dinners, networking and community service with the MS Bar. 

 

6. Mississippi Prosecutor Association - The Mississippi Prosecutors Association is a non-

profit organization which provides support to prosecuting attorneys in the state. The MPA 

Board of Directors and committees provide leadership and guidance for training, 

legislative, and other criminal justice initiatives in the State of Mississippi. 

 

7. Capital Area Bar Association - The Capital Area Bar Association is a voluntary bar 

association that serves Hinds County and the metropolitan areas of Madison and Rankin 

Counties by providing members with opportunities to engage on current legal issues 

through publications, CLE and key speakers. 

 

WHEREAS, to comply with Rule 3(a) and (b) of the State of MS Rules and Regulations 

for Mandatory CLE, the City Attorney requests the authority to pay the Mississippi Bar 

membership fees and the cost of the CLEs associated with the above-referenced professional 

organizations; and 

 

WHEREAS, various seminars, conferences, workshops, and other educational programs 

are held from time to time that require the attorneys to travel; and 

 

WHEREAS, there is no authority to pay travel-related expenses prior to the approval by 

the governing authorities; therefore, the City Attorney requests the authority to pay in an amount 

not to exceed $1,500.00 per attorney, but shall not exceed the amount available in the budget, for 

travel expenses in connection with the attendance of any seminars, conferences, workshops, and 

other educational programs related to the attorney's responsibilities and related to the above-

referenced professional organizations; and 

 

WHEREAS, furthermore, the attorneys for the City of Jackson are engaged in constant 

litigation and are required to utilize legal research tools as well as filing documents electronically 

on Mississippi Electronic Commission (MEC) and Public Access to Court Electronic Records 

(PACER) within different courts; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             856 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, the City Attorney request the authority to pay necessary invoices of the court 

reporters, expert witnesses, process servers fees and supplies, and the fees associated with 

electronic filing and court filing fees set by all Mississippi state and federal courts to defend the 

City of Jackson properly; and 

 

WHEREAS, this request is limited to the attorney's managed by the Office of the City 

Attorney. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the governing authorities find it necessary to 

authorize the City Attorney to pay The Mississippi Bar and CLEs dues for all attorneys for the city 

to comply with Section 73-3-127 of the Mississippi Code Annotated and Rule 3(a) of the State of 

MS Rules and Regulations for Mandatory CLE. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the governing authorities for the City of Jackson 

determined the above-referenced professional association dues are reasonable and necessary to the 

performance of the duties of the attorneys for the city of Jackson and the membership accrue to 

the benefit of the municipality, and any benefit to the attorneys for the city is merely incidental. 

 

IT IS FURTHER, ORDERED that the governing authorities find it necessary and proper 

to authorize the City Attorney to pay professional association dues and travel-related expenses in 

the amount of $1,500.00 per attorney, but shall not exceed the amount available in the budget, for 

travel expenses in connection with the attendance of any seminars, conferences, workshops, and 

other educational programs related to the attorney's responsibilities and associated with the above-

referenced professional organizations. 

 

IT IS FURTHER, ORDERED that the governing authorities find it necessary and proper 

to authorize the City Attorney the authority to pay necessary invoices of the court reporters, expert 

witnesses, process servers fees and supplies, and the fees associated with electronic filing and court 

filing fees set by the courts to defend the City of Jackson properly. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of 

said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

  

Thereafter, President Banks, called for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER ESTABLISHING AND AUTHORIZING A PETTY CASH FUND FOR THE 

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY.  

 

WHEREAS, Section 7-7-60 of the Miss. Code Ann. as amended, provides "[a] petty cash 

fund for offices within the county, municipality or board of education may be established in 

accordance with regulations set forth by the State Auditor's office; and 

 

WHEREAS, according to the "Routine Petty Cash Fund Procedures" set forth in the 2022 

Municipal Audit and Accounting Guide, the municipal governing authorities may authorize a petty 

cash fund. The authorization must be spread upon the minutes and include: (1) Reasons for 

establishing the fund; (2) Purposes for which fund money may be spent; (3) The dollar amount of 

the fund; (4) Custodian(s); and 5) Any special provisions, such as the use of depository account(s); 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Office of the City Attorney recommends the governing authorities for the 

city of Jackson authorize a petty cash fund of $250.00 to pay for the filing of deeds, certified mail 

postage, new keys for employees, and other necessary items for the department; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             857 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, the reason for establishing the fund is to allow for the Office of the City 

Attorney to keep sufficient cash to cover minor, everyday business expenditures such as filing of 

deeds, certified mail postage, new keys for employees, and other necessary items for the 

department; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Executive Legal Administrator and the Legal Administrator Coordinator 

for the Office of the City Attorney will be designated at the Custodian of said funds for the Office 

of the City Attorney; and 

 

WHEREAS, there are no special provisions, such as the use of depository account(s) for 

this petty cash fund. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that a petty cash fund of $250.00 be established for 

the Office of the City Attorney to pay for the filing of deeds, certified mail postage, new keys for 

employees, and other necessary items for the department. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Abstention– Lee and Stokes. 

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICE PURCHASE ORDER REQUEST FOR STMS ENTERPRISES FOR 

PURCHASING AND INSTALLING AIR FILTERS AT JTRAN ADMINISTRATIVE 

AND MAINTENANCE FACILITY (JAMF) FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Planning and Development/Transit Services Division 

must maintain JTRAN Administrative and Maintenance Facility (JAMF) located at 1785 Highway 

80W; and 

 

WHEREAS, November 1, 2022, Planning and Development Department /Transit Services 

Division received one (1) quote for professional services to purchase and install the air filters at 

JAMF; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is the City of Jackson intentions to award a purchase order to STMS 

Enterprises to purchase and install the air filters at JAMF located at 1785 Highway 80W for Fiscal 

Year; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Development Department/Transit Services will use funds 

from the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) at eighty percent (80%) with a local match of 

twenty percent (20%) from the FY2023 Transit Budget; and 

 

WHEREAS, the total amount of the purchase order is two thousand nine hundred twenty-

two dollars and ninety-nine cents ($2,922.99), in which two thousand three hundred thirty-eight 

dollars and thirty-nine cents ($2,338.39) is covered by FTA and five hundred eighty-four and sixty 

cents ($584.60) will be covered by local match from the FY2023 Transit budget. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a purchase 

order for STMS Enterprises to purchase and install air filters at JAMF for FY2023. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the total amount expended to STMS Enterprises during 

the term of the purchase order shall not exceed two thousand nine hundred twenty-two dollars and 

ninety-nine cents ($2,922.99).  

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             858 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Absent – None.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI TAKING OFFICIAL ACTION TOWARDS THE 

APPROVAL OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, URBAN RENEWAL 

PLAN (CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI PLANETARIUM PROJECT 2023); 

SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING ON SUCH URBAN RENEWAL PLAN (CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI PLANETARIUM PROJECT 2023); AUTHORIZING AN 

URBAN RENEWAL PROJECT; AND FOR RELATED PURPOSES.  

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council (the "Governing Body") of the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi (the "City"), acting for and on behalf of the City, is authorized by Sections 43-35-1 et 

seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended and/or supplemented from time to time (the "Urban 

Renewal Act"), to undertake urban renewal projects, including, but not limited to, the acquisition 

of blighted areas within the City, the removal of existing buildings and other improvements upon 

such blighted areas, the installation, consecution or reconstruction of streets, utilities, parks, 

playgrounds and other necessary improvements of such blighted areas and the acquisition and 

disposition of real property in such blighted areas in order to encourage private enterprise within 

the City in order to improve certain blighted areas of the City, and for the promotion of the safety, 

health, welfare, convenience and prosperity of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body finds and determines that one or more slum or blighted 

areas continue to exist in the City (the “2023 Urban Renewal Area") and the rehabilitation, 

conservation, redevelopment or a combination thereof, of such 2023 Urban Renewal Area is 

necessary and in the interest of the public health, safety, morals and welfare of the residents of the 

City; and 

 

WHEREAS, in compliance with Section 43-35-13 of the Urban Renewal Act, the 

Governing Body, acting for and on behalf of the City, desires to approve a new 2023 Urban 

Renewal Plan (City of Jackson, Mississippi Planetarium Project 2023), as more particularly 

described in EXHIBIT B hereto (the "2023 Urban Renewal Plan"), to rehabilitate, conserve, and/or 

redevelop the 2023 Urban Renewal Area, as more particularly described in EXHIBIT A hereto 

(the "Project Site") as well as repairing, improving, adorning and equipping the Arts Center of 

Mississippi and the Russell C. Davis Planetarium and for other authorized purposes in connection 

with same including constructing, improving and paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, 

walkways and public parking facilities located at 201 E. Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39201(the 

"2023 Urban Renewal Project"); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as 

amended and supplemented from time to time (the “City Bond Act”) and Sections 31-25-1 et seq., 

Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended and supplemented from time to time (the “Bank Act”), the 

City will issue either (a) general obligation bonds of the City, in one or more taxable or tax-exempt 

series in a total aggregate principal amount of not to exceed Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($9,500,000) (the “Series 2023 Bonds”),  (b) a general obligation bond of the City to be 

sold to the Mississippi Development Bank (the “Bank”), in one or more taxable or tax-exempt 

series, in a total aggregate principal amount of not to exceed Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($9,500,000) (the “Series 2023 City Bond”), and/or (c) by entering into a taxable or tax-

exempt loan(s) with the Bank to borrow money from the Bank in a total principal amount not to 

exceed Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($9,500,000) (the “Series 2023 

Loan”).  Such Series 2023 Bonds shall be issued in the form of one or more instruments.  The 

proceeds from sale of the Series 2023 Bonds shall be used to finance the Urban Renewal Project 

and/or Construction Project (as defined in the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution) and contributed 

to the Jackson Redevelopment Authority (“JRA”), an entity established as an urban renewal 

agency pursuant the Urban Renewal Act, to use all or a portion of the Series 2023 Bond proceeds 

as a leverage loan in accordance with the financing and as authorized pursuant to the Series 2023 

City Bond Resolution dated September 26, 2023 and the Series 2023 Indenture, dated the date of 

delivery thereof; and 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             859 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

WHEREAS, the Project Site, currently owned and operated by the City, will be ground 

leased to JRA, and  JRA, acting pursuant to Sections 57-105-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, 

as amended (the “MS NMTC Act”), intends to establish a “Public Benefit Corporation” (as defined 

therein) (the “PBC”) in order to facilitate the financing for the Construction Project and/or Urban 

Renewal Project utilizing federal New Markets Tax Credits Pursuant to Section 45D of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and, if available, Mississippi Equity Investment 

Tax Credits of the MS NMTC Act.  JRA will ground lease the Project Site to the PBC for purposes 

of financing the Construction Project and/or Urban Renewal Project pursuant to the MS NMTC 

Act.  JRA, the City and the newly formed PCB will enter into a joint development agreement, 

wherein the PBC will pay turnkey development payments to the City to facilitate the cost of 

construction of the Project.  Upon completion of the renovations, the PBC will lease back the 

Urban Renewal Project to the City for operations; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body has been presented with the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan 

in order to improve the 2023 Urban Renewal Area, and promote the safety, health, welfare, 

convenience and prosperity of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body, acting for and on behalf of the City, desires, in 

accordance with the Urban Renewal Act, to hold a public hearing with respect to such 2023 Urban 

Renewal Plan and direct that publication of notice of such public hearing be provided in 

accordance with the Urban Renewal Act; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body finds that the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan should be 

reviewed to determine if it is consistent with the City’s general plan for development (the 

"Comprehensive Plan"); and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body, upon review of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan by the 

Planning and Zoning Commission (the "Planning Commission") and the Governing Body’s 

determination that it is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and after holding a public hearing 

on the proposed approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 2023 Urban Renewal Project 

described therein in conformity with Section 43-35-13 of the Urban Renewal Act, will be 

authorized to approve the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and proceed with the Urban Renewal Project; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Project is in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution and the 

laws of the State of Mississippi (the "State"), is in the best interests of the citizens of the City and 

there are no other available funds on hand or otherwise available from regular sources to finance 

the Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 

CITY, ACTING FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE CITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

SECTION 1.  All statements, findings and determinations set forth in the above and foregoing 

recitations are hereby declared to be true and correct and are incorporated herein as facts. 

 

SECTION 2.  That the proposed the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan, attached hereto as EXHIBIT 

B and made a part hereof, is hereby acknowledged and incorporated fully herein by reference. 

 

SECTION 3.  That the real property described in EXHIBIT A hereto is hereby determined to be 

blighted in that the predominance of defective and inadequate street layout and faulty layout in 

relation to size, adequacy, accessibility, and usefulness of such property, and its economic disuse 

substantially impairs the sound growth of the City; such property as described in Exhibit A is 

therefore designated as an "urban renewal area" as defined in the Urban Renewal Act and 

appropriate for the 2023 Urban Renewal Project. 

 

SECTION 4.  That the City Clerk of the City (the "City Clerk") is hereby directed to immediately 

submit a true and correct copy of this Resolution and the proposed 2023 Urban Renewal Plan to 

the Planning Commission for its review and recommendations as to its conformity with the 

Comprehensive Plan for the development of the City as a whole, and further to direct that said 

Planning Commission recommendations and findings be submitted to the City Clerk for 

presentation to the Governing Body of the City within thirty (30) days after receipt of the 2023 

Urban Renewal Plan as required by Section 43-35-13 of the Urban Renewal Act. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             860 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

SECTION 5.  That a public hearing (the "Public Hearing") shall be held with respect to the 

proposed 2023 Urban Renewal Plan at the regular meeting place of the Governing Body, in the 

City Hall of the City, located at 219 S. President Street, Jackson, Mississippi 39201, at the hour of 

10:00 o'clock a.m. on October 10, 2023, or at some meeting or meetings subsequent thereto. 

 

SECTION 6.  That, in full compliance of the Urban Renewal Act, the City Clerk is hereby directed 

to publish, one (1) time prior to the Public Hearing date, a notice of said Public Hearing, attached 

heretofore as Exhibit C (the “Notice”) of Public Hearing in The Clarion Ledger and The 

Mississippi Link, both newspapers published in and having a general circulation in the City’s 

boundaries and the area within five miles of the City’s boundaries and qualified under the 

provisions of Section 43-35-13 of the Urban Renewal Act. 

 

SECTION 7.  That the City Clerk of the Governing Body shall be and is hereby directed to procure 

from the publisher of the aforesaid newspaper the customary proof of the publication of this 

Resolution and the required Notice of Public Hearing and have the same before the Governing 

Body on the date and hour specified in Section 5 hereof. 

 

SECTION 8.  If any one or more of the provisions of this Resolution shall for any reason be held 

to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any of the other provisions of 

this Resolution, but this Resolution shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid 

provision or provisions had not been contained herein. 

 

SECTION 9.  This Resolution shall be in effect immediately upon its passage and enactment 

according to law, or at the earliest date of effect under law, and shall be spread upon the minutes 

of the Governing Body of the City. 
 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Mike Williams, Deputy Director of Human and Cultural 

Services and Trey Harriston, of Butler Snow, who provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

  

Thereafter, President Bankscalled for a vote of said item:  

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 42: 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. President Banks stated said item would be taken 

up later in Executive Session.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 43: 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. President Banks stated said item would be taken 

up later in Executive Session.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 44: 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. President Banks stated said item would be taken 

up later in Executive Session.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             861 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

There came on for consideration, Agenda Item No. 45: 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. President Banks stated said item would be taken 

up later in Executive Session.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks recognized Council Member Lindsay who moved, seconded by Council 

Member Hartley to add an item to the agenda on an emergency basis, Order ratifying a contract 

with Delta Constructors, Inc. for sanitary sewer main line repairs at 4145 North State Street. 

The motion failed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – Grizzell. 

Absent – None. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

DISCUSSION: LANE CHAPEL CHURCH: President Banks recognized Council 

Member Stokes who expressed concerns regarding burned structures near Lane Chapel 

Church being a magnet for criminal activity. President Banks recognized Rev. Lauren Ellen 

Powell who petitioned the City for help to clean up the area around the church located at 

3304 Fontain Ave. President Banks recognized Louis Wright, Chief Administrative 

Officer, who stated he would contact Code Enforcement, Department of Planning and JPD 

to help address these issues.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

DISCUSSION: LAP BAKER- (JACKSON STATE UNIVERSITY): President Banks 

recognized Council Member Stokes who expressed concerns regarding the need to repave 

Jackson State Parkway and do better maintenance around the Jackson State University area. 

President Banks recognized Lap Baker, Community Leader, who expressed concerns 

regarding uncut grass and dilapidated houses contributing to crime around the Jackson 

State University and reiterated the need for a neighborhood revitalization plan for that area.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

DISCUSSION: GARBAGE RFP: President Banks recognized Council Member Foote 

who expressed concern regarding the lack of an active RFP for a garbage contract and 

expressed his hope that the City would issue and RFP soon in hopes of avoiding another 

garbage contract dispute.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

MONTHLY REPORT OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED ACCORDING TO 

SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED OF 1972. 

President Banks stated that all City Council members had received the monthly financial 

report for review. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 

▪ Council Member Stokes announced that there is a need to address the issue of 

wearing mask and carrying guns into convenience stores in the community. 

President Banks recognized John Williams, who stated he witnessed a guy 

carrying an illegal gun inside of a convenience store.  

• Louis Wright, Chief Administrative Officer, announced the following: 

 

▪ National Night Out will be October 24, 2023. Call (601) 960-2049 or (601) 960-

2324 to register for participation.  

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             862 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Note: Council Member Stokes left the meeting.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Lindsay who moved, seconded by Council 

Member Hartley to go into Closed Session to take up Agenda Items 42, 43, 44 and 45. The motion 

prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks announced to the public that the Council voted to go into Closed Session to 

discuss going into Executive Session regarding “Personnel Matters within the Office of the Clerk 

of Council”, to discuss Agenda Items No. 42, 43, 44 and 45.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

During Closed Session, Council Member Hartley moved, seconded by Council Member 

Lindsay to go into Executive Session to discuss personnel matters within the Office of the Clerk 

of Council.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved, seconded by Council Member Hartley, to come out of 

Executive Session.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks announced to the public that the Council voted to come out of Executive Session 

and action was taken. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

During Executive Session, the Council took action on Agenda Item No. 42, 43, 44 and 45. 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

 

             WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson passed an ordinance on 

December 20, 2019, which is recorded in Minute Book 6Q on pages 319-322; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the position of Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council was inherently established 

by the passage of the ordinance passed by the governing authorities on December 20, 2019; and 

 

            WHEREAS, after evaluating the candidate’s qualifications and experience, the governing 

authorities for the City of Jackson have determined that Jessica Whitlock is a suitable person to 

serve as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Jessica Whitlock shall be appointed to serve as Chief 

Deputy Clerk of the Council commencing on October 1, 2023. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Jessica Whitlock upon commencement of service as 

Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council shall be a full-time employee. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             863 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the compensation to be paid to Jessica Whitlock upon 

commencement of service as Chief Deputy Clerk of Council shall be $45,753.36 excluding any 

applicable fringe benefits. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Jessica Whitlock’s tenure as Chief Deputy Clerk of the 

Council shall continue and be at the will and pleasure of the Jackson City Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that no contract shall be construed as resulting from the 

appointment of Jessica Whitlock as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that Mississippi’s law concerning at will employment shall 

remain unchanged by the appointment of Jessica Whitlock as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Lindsay who moved; seconded by Council 

Member Grizzell, to amend said order to change the date to “October 1, 2023” to “October 9, 

2023”. The motion prevailed by the following votes: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 

 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

 

             WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson passed an ordinance on 

December 20, 2019, which is recorded in Minute Book 6Q on pages 319-322; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the position of Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council was inherently established 

by the passage of the ordinance passed by the governing authorities on December 20, 2019; and 

 

            WHEREAS, after evaluating the candidate’s qualifications and experience, the governing 

authorities for the City of Jackson have determined that Jessica Whitlock is a suitable person to 

serve as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Jessica Whitlock shall be appointed to serve as Chief 

Deputy Clerk of the Council commencing on October 9, 2023. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Jessica Whitlock upon commencement of service as 

Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council shall be a full-time employee. 

 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the compensation to be paid to Jessica Whitlock upon 

commencement of service as Chief Deputy Clerk of Council shall be $45,753.36 excluding any 

applicable fringe benefits. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Jessica Whitlock’s tenure as Chief Deputy Clerk of the 

Council shall continue and be at the will and pleasure of the Jackson City Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that no contract shall be construed as resulting from the 

appointment of Jessica Whitlock as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that Mississippi’s law concerning at will employment shall 

remain unchanged by the appointment of Jessica Whitlock as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             864 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

 

             WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson passed an ordinance on 

December 20, 2019, which is recorded in Minute Book 6Q on pages 319-322; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the position of Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council was inherently established 

by the passage of the ordinance passed by the governing authorities on December 20, 2019; and 

 

            WHEREAS, after evaluating the candidate’s qualifications and experience, the governing 

authorities for the City of Jackson have determined that Michael Nickols is a suitable person to 

serve as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Michael Nickols shall be appointed to serve as Chief 

Deputy Clerk of the Council commencing on October 1, 2023. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Michael Nickols upon commencement of service as 

Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council shall be a full-time employee. 

 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the compensation to be paid to Michael Nickols upon 

commencement of service as Chief Deputy Clerk of Council shall be $45,753.36 excluding any 

applicable fringe benefits. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Michael Nickols’ tenure as Chief Deputy Clerk of the 

Council shall continue and be at the will and pleasure of the Jackson City Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that no contract shall be construed as resulting from the 

appointment of Michael Nickols as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that Mississippi’s law concerning at will employment shall 

remain unchanged by the appointment of Michael Nickols as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Vice President Lee who moved; seconded by Council Member 

Lindsay, to amend said order to change the date to “October 1, 2023” to “October 9, 2023”. The 

motion prevailed by the following votes: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 

 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

             WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson passed an ordinance on 

December 20, 2019, which is recorded in Minute Book 6Q on pages 319-322; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the position of Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council was inherently established 

by the passage of the ordinance passed by the governing authorities on December 20, 2019; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             865 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

            WHEREAS, after evaluating the candidate’s qualifications and experience, the governing 

authorities for the City of Jackson have determined that Michael Nickols is a suitable person to 

serve as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Michael Nickols shall be appointed to serve as Chief 

Deputy Clerk of the Council commencing on October 9, 2023. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Michael Nickols upon commencement of service as 

Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council shall be a full-time employee. 

 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the compensation to be paid to Michael Nickols upon 

commencement of service as Chief Deputy Clerk of Council shall be $45,753.36 excluding any 

applicable fringe benefits. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Michael Nickols’ tenure as Chief Deputy Clerk of the 

Council shall continue and be at the will and pleasure of the Jackson City Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that no contract shall be construed as resulting from the 

appointment of Michael Nickols as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that Mississippi’s law concerning at will employment shall 

remain unchanged by the appointment of Michael Nickols as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

 

             WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson passed an ordinance on 

December 20, 2019, which is recorded in Minute Book 6Q on pages 319-322; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the position of Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council was inherently established 

by the passage of the ordinance passed by the governing authorities on December 20, 2019; and 

 

            WHEREAS, after evaluating the candidate’s qualifications and experience, the governing 

authorities for the City of Jackson have determined that Felicia Joyner is a suitable person to serve 

as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Felicia Joyner shall be appointed to serve as Chief 

Deputy Clerk of the Council commencing on October 1, 2023. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Felicia Joyner upon commencement of service as Chief 

Deputy Clerk of the Council shall be a full-time employee. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the compensation to be paid to Felicia Joyner upon 

commencement of service as Chief Deputy Clerk of Council shall be $46,842.72 excluding any 

applicable fringe benefits. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Felicia Joyner’s tenure as Chief Deputy Clerk of the 

Council shall continue and be at the will and pleasure of the Jackson City Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that no contract shall be construed as resulting from the 

appointment of Felicia Joyner as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that Mississippi’s law concerning at will employment shall 

remain unchanged by the appointment of Felicia Joyner as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             866 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Lindsay who moved; seconded by Council 

Member Hartley, to amend said order to change the date to “October 1, 2023” to “October 9, 

2023”. The motion prevailed by the following votes: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 

 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

 

             WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson passed an ordinance on 

December 20, 2019, which is recorded in Minute Book 6Q on pages 319-322; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the position of Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council was inherently established 

by the passage of the ordinance passed by the governing authorities on December 20, 2019; and 

 

            WHEREAS, after evaluating the candidate’s qualifications and experience, the governing 

authorities for the City of Jackson have determined that Felicia Joyner is a suitable person to serve 

as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Felicia Joyner shall be appointed to serve as Chief 

Deputy Clerk of the Council commencing on October 9, 2023. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Felicia Joyner upon commencement of service as Chief 

Deputy Clerk of the Council shall be a full-time employee. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the compensation to be paid to Felicia Joyner upon 

commencement of service as Chief Deputy Clerk of Council shall be $46,842.72 excluding any 

applicable fringe benefits. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Felicia Joyner’s tenure as Chief Deputy Clerk of the 

Council shall continue and be at the will and pleasure of the Jackson City Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that no contract shall be construed as resulting from the 

appointment of Felicia Joyner as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that Mississippi’s law concerning at will employment shall 

remain unchanged by the appointment of Felicia Joyner as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

    

 ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

 

             WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson passed an ordinance on 

December 20, 2019, which is recorded in Minute Book 6Q on pages 319-322; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the position of Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council was inherently established 

by the passage of the ordinance passed by the governing authorities on December 20, 2019; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             867 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

            WHEREAS, after evaluating the candidate’s qualifications and experience, the governing 

authorities for the City of Jackson have determined that Lashunda Franklin is a suitable person to 

serve as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Lashunda Franklin shall be appointed to serve as Chief 

Deputy Clerk of the Council commencing on October 1, 2023. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Lashunda Franklin upon commencement of service as 

Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council shall be a full-time employee. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the compensation to be paid to Lashunda Franklin upon 

commencement of service as Chief Deputy Clerk of Council shall be $55,267.76 excluding any 

applicable fringe benefits. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Lashunda Franklin’s tenure as Chief Deputy Clerk of 

the Council shall continue and be at the will and pleasure of the Jackson City Council. 

           

   IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that no contract shall be construed as resulting from the 

appointment of Lashunda Franklin as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that Mississippi’s law concerning at will employment shall 

remain unchanged by the appointment of Lashunda Franklin as Chief Deputy Clerk of the 

Council. 
                     

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Grizzell who moved; seconded by Council 

Member Hartley, to amend said order to change the date to “October 1, 2023” to “October 9, 

2023”. The motion prevailed by the following votes: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 

 

ORDER APPOINTING CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI. 

 

             WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson passed an ordinance on 

December 20, 2019, which is recorded in Minute Book 6Q on pages 319-322; and 

 

            WHEREAS, the position of Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council was inherently established 

by the passage of the ordinance passed by the governing authorities on December 20, 2019; and 

 

            WHEREAS, after evaluating the candidate’s qualifications and experience, the governing 

authorities for the City of Jackson have determined that Lashunda Franklin is a suitable person to 

serve as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Lashunda Franklin shall be appointed to serve as Chief 

Deputy Clerk of the Council commencing on October 9, 2023. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Lashunda Franklin upon commencement of service as 

Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council shall be a full-time employee. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the compensation to be paid to Lashunda Franklin upon 

commencement of service as Chief Deputy Clerk of Council shall be $55,267.76 excluding any 

applicable fringe benefits. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 12, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             868 

MINUTE BOOK 6X 
 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Lashunda Franklin’s tenure as Chief Deputy Clerk of 

the Council shall continue and be at the will and pleasure of the Jackson City Council. 

 

            IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that no contract shall be construed as resulting from the 

appointment of Lashunda Franklin as Chief Deputy Clerk of the Council. 

 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that Mississippi’s law concerning at will employment shall 

remain unchanged by the appointment of Lashunda Franklin as Chief Deputy Clerk of the 

Council. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until the Regular Council Zoning Meeting at 2:30 p.m. on September 18, 2023.  At 12:11 

p.m., the Council stood adjourned.   

 

 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST: 

  

             _______________________________        

                                                                        CITY CLERK 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 

 







 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   869 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Zoning Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi was convened in the Council Chambers in City Hall at 2:30 p.m. on September 18, 

2023, being the third Monday of said month when and where the following things were had and 

done to wit: 

 

 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 

Lee, Council Vice President, Ward 2 (via teleconference); Ashby Foote, 

Ward 1 (via teleconference); Brian Grizzell, Ward 4 (via teleconference) 

and Vernon Hartley, Ward 5. Directors: Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of 

Council; Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council; Ester Ainsworth, 

Zoning Administrator and Kristie Metcalfe, Deputy City Attorney. 

 

 Absent:    Kenneth I. Stokes, Ward 3 and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 7. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

   

The meeting was called to order by President Aaron Banks. 

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 

with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4218, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 

and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 

zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 

and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

 

ORDER GRANTING LEMUEL & ARCHIE TRIPP A CONDITIONAL USE 

PERMIT TO ALLOW FOR A COMMUNITY RECREATIONAL CENTER 

WITHIN A C-3 (GENERAL) COMMERCIAL DISTRICT FOR THE PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT 3181 J R LYNCH ST. (PARCEL #697-520-4), CASE NO. 4218. 

  

            WHEREAS, Lemuel & Archie Tripp has filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for a 

community recreational center within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located 

at 3181 J R Lynch St. (Parcel #697-520-4) in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds 

County, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 

has recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a community recreational 

center within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located at 3181 J R Lynch St. 

(Parcel #697-520-4); and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 

that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, September 18, 

2023 to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 

City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 

petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on August 3, 2023 and August 17, 2023 that a 

hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on August 23, 2023, all as provided for 

by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 

City Planning Board had recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit within the existing 

C-3 (General) Commercial District of the City of Jackson; and 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 

opinion that proposed use is compatible with the character of development in the vicinity relative 

to density, bulk and intensity of structures, parking, and other uses; would not be detrimental to 

the continued use, value, or development of properties in the vicinity and is in harmony with the 

Comprehensive Plan and that a Conditional Use Permit be granted to operate a community 

shanekiaj
Text Box
Consent Item No. 89.26.2023(S.Jordan, Banks)



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   870 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

recreational center for the property located at 3181 J R Lynch St. (Parcel #697-520-4) within the 

existing C-3 (General) Commercial District of the City of Jackson.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 

Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

Part of Lot 5, Jackson College Commercial Farms, more particularly described as follows: 

Begin at intersection of the South right of way line of Lynch Street and the East right-of-way 

line of Craft Street, as both streets are now laid out and in use (February, 1967) and run thence 

easterly along said South right of way of Lynch Street a distance of 160.0 feet to a point; thence 

leaving South right of way turn right through an angle of 90 degrees 30 minutes and run 

southerly a distance of 124.85 feet to a point; thence turn right through an angle, of 89 degrees 

30 minutes and run westerly a distance of 160.0 feet to a point on aforementioned East right-

of-way of Craft Street; thence run northerly along said East right of way of Craft Street a 

distance of 124.85 feet to the point of beginning, Said property containing 19,976 square feet 

or .46 acres, more or less. 

be and is hereby modified so as to approve a Conditional Use Permit to operate a community 

recreational center within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located at 3181 J 

R Lynch St. (Parcel #697-520-4). The Conditions of the Use Permit shall be that it is granted on 

an annual basis; that it be granted to Lemuel & Archie Tripp, the owners/operators of the 

community recreational center, that subsequent owners or operators of a community recreational 

center at the location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit and that compliance with 

adopted property maintenance, building, fire and Zoning codes be maintained at all times.  

However, that before a Use Permit is issued for any structure to be erected or use thereof on the 

said property, the applicant must meet the requirements established through the Site Plan Review 

process.  

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

President Banks recognized Lenuel & Archie Tripp, Applicant, who spoke in favor of a Use 

Permit to allow for community recreational center within a C-3 (General) Commercial District.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lee. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Lindsay and Stokes. 

 

Note:  Council Member Grizzell joined the meeting during the discussion. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 

with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4219, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 

and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 

zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 

and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 

 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   871 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 

 ORDER GRANTING KINYA GODBOLT A SPECIAL EXCEPTION TO ALLOW 

 FOR A CATERING SERVICE, WHERE THEY ARE A PART OF THE 

 OWNER/OPERATOR’S RESIDENCE WITHIN A R-1 (SINGLE-FAMILY) 

 RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 34 ELAINE 

 CT. (PARCEL #212-354, CASE NO. 4219. 

WHEREAS, Kinya Godbolt has filed a petition for a Special Exception to allow for a 

catering service, where they are a part of the owner/operator’s residence within a R-1 (Single-

Family) Residential District for the property located at 34 Elaine Ct. (Parcel #212-354), in the City 

of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing 

has recommended approval of a Special Exception to allow for a catering service, where they are 

a part of the owner/operator’s residence within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District; and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 

that a meeting of the Jackson City Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., September 

18, 2023 to consider said petition based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 

City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 

petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on August 3, 2023 and August 17, 2023 that a 

hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on August 23, 2023, as provided for by 

ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 

City Planning Board had recommended approval of a Special Exception for the above described 

property within an existing R-1 (Single-Family) Residential Zoning District of the City of Jackson; 

and 

WHEREAS, it appears to the Jackson City Council that the documents are in order, and 

that the recommendation of the Planning Board to approve a Special Exception to allow for a 

catering service, where they are a part of the owner/operator’s residence within a R-1 (Single-

Family) Residential District does support the promotion of the public health, safety, morals, the 

general welfare of the community and the granting of such will not adversely affect adjacent 

property owners.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI:  

That the property located in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Jackson, Mississippi, and 

being more particularly described as follows: 

LOT THIRTY-FOUR (34) ROLLING PINES, ACCORDING TO THE MAP OR PLAT 

THEREOF ON FILE AND OF RECORD IN THE OFFICE OF THE CHANCERY CLERK 

OF HINDS COUNTY AT JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, IN PLAT BOOK 29 AT PAGE 30, 

REFERENCE TO WHICH IS HEREBY MADE. 

be and is hereby granted a Special Exception to allow for a catering service, where they are a part 

of the owner/operator’s residence within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District for the 

property located at 34 Elaine Ct. (Parcel #212-354).   However, that before for any structure is 

erected or use thereof on the said property, the applicant must meet the requirements established 

through the Site Plan Review process. 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; President Banks seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Kinya Godbolt, Applicant, who spoke in favor of a Special 

Exception to allow for a catering service, where they are a part of the owner/operator’s residence 

within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   872 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lee. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Lindsay and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 

with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4220, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 

and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 

zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 

and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

 

 ORDER GRANTING JISHNU GOSAIN A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT TO 

 ALLOW FOR THE OPERATION OF A LIQUOR STORE IN A NEIGHBORHOOD 

 SHOPPING CENTER AND NOT IN COMBINATION WITH A CONVENIENCE T

 YPE GROCERY STORE OR SERVICE STATION WITHIN A C-3 (GENERAL) 

 COMMERCIAL DISTRICT FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4840 HIGHWAY 18 

 W. (PARCEL #831-100-2), CASE NO. 4220. 

 

            WHEREAS, Jishnu Gosain has filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for a liquor store 

in a neighborhood shopping center and not in combination with a convenience type grocery store 

or service station within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located at 4840 

Highway 18 W. (Parcel #831-100-2) in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 

Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 

has recommended approval of a Use Permit to allow for a liquor store in a neighborhood shopping 

center and not in combination with a convenience type grocery store or service station within a C-

3 (General) Commercial District for the property located at 4840 Highway 18 W. (Parcel #831-

100-2); and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 

that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, September 18, 

2023 to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 

City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 

petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on August 3, 2023 and August 17, 2023 that a 

hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on August 23, 2023, all as provided for 

by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 

City Planning Board had recommended approval of the petitioned Use Permit within the existing 

C-3 (General) Commercial District of the City of Jackson; and 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 

opinion that the proposed use would be compatible with the character of development in the 

vicinity relative to density, bulk and intensity of structures, parking, and other uses and that a Use 

Permit be granted to allow for a liquor store in a neighborhood shopping center not in combination 

with a convenience type grocery store or service station within the existing C-3 (General) 

Commercial District of the City of Jackson; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 702.05.02 (14) of the City of Jackson Zoning Ordinance, 

use permits for liquor stores are issued to the owner of the liquor store rather than to the owner of 

the land; do not run with the land but will allow the store to remain at a specific location until such 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   873 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

time as the ownership of the liquor store changes; and subsequent owners of a liquor store at this 

location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 

Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

The Land referred to herein below is situated in the First Judicial District of Hinds 

County, Mississippi, and is described as follows: 

Tax Parcel Identification Numbers: 831-100-2 and 830-81 

A parcel of land containing 1.3571 acres, more or less, lying and being situated in part 

of Lots l, 2, and 1 8 of Saunders Farm, a subdivision according to the map or plat thereof 

which is on file and of record in the office of the Chancery Clerk of Hinds County at 

Jackson, Mississippi, in Play) Book 2 at Page 107, and also in the Northeast 14 of the 

Southwest 14 and in the Northwest 14 of the Southeast !4 of Section Il, Township 5 

North, Range 1 West, First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, and being 

more particularly described as follows: 

Commencing at the Northwest comer of the Southeast ¼ of Section 11, Township 5 

North, Range 1 West, Hinds County, Mississippi, marked by a found railroad spike; 

thence North 90 degrees 00minutes 00 seconds East for a distance of 331.48 feet; thence 

South 00 degrees 00 minutes 00seconds East for a distance of 175.45 feet to a right of 

way monument marking the Easterly right of way of Mississippi Highway 18, as it is 

now laid out and exists, August 20, 1996; thence South 42 degrees.30 minutes 35 seconds 

West along said East right of way of Mississippi Highway 18 for a distance of 637.00 

feet to a set ½ inch iron pin; thence South 36 degrees 47 minutes 57 seconds West along 

said East right of way of Mississippi Highway 18 for a distance of 31.35 feet to a set ½ 

inch iron pin marking the POINT OF BEGINNING of the following described parcel; 

thence South 47 degrees 12 minutes 03 seconds East for a distance of 66.82 feet to a set 

'4 inch iron. pin; thence South 68 degrees 36 minutes 01 seconds East for a distance of 

64.65 feet to a set ½ inch iron pin; thence North 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds East 

for a distance of 94.52 feet to a set ½ inch iron pin; thence North 42 degrees 31 minutes 

43 seconds East for a distance of 231.55 feet to a found ½ inch pin marking the Southeast 

(being the most Southerly) comer of the Waffle House property; thence North 47 degrees 

29 minutes 25 seconds West for a distance of 200.00 feet to the Southeasterly, right of 

way of said Highway 18; thence South 42 degrees 30 minutes 35 seconds West for a 

distance of 287.17 feet to a point; thence ran South 36 degrees 47 minutes 57 seconds 

West for a distance of 31.35 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

TOGETHER WITH a non-exclusive easement ten (10) feet in width for a sanitary sewer 

line appurtenant to the conveyed property, as reserved in warranty deed from Brelon E. 

Grantham, Jr., et al, to Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., dated January 13, 1997, and recorded in 

Book 4724 at Page 596. 

be and is hereby modified so as to approve a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a liquor store 

in a neighborhood shopping center and not in combination with a convenience type grocery 

store or service station for the property located at 4840 Highway 18 W. (Parcel #831-100-2) 

within a C-3 (General) Commercial District.   The Use Permit shall be issued to the owner of 

the liquor store rather than to the owner of the land; shall not run with the land but will allow 

the store to remain at a specific location until such time as the ownership of the liquor store 

changes; and subsequent owners of a liquor store at this location must apply for and receive a 

new Use Permit,  will be granted on an annual basis and  remain in compliance with adopted 

property maintenance, building, fire and Zoning codes be maintained at all times.  However, 

that before a Use Permit is issued for any structure to be erected or use thereof on the said 

property, the applicant must meet the requirements established through the Site Plan Review 

process. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   874 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

President Banks recognized Jishnu Gosain, Applicant, who spoke in favor of a Use Permit to 

allow for operation of a liquor where part of a neighborhood shopping center and not in 

combination with a convenience type grocery store or service station within a C-3 (General) 

Commercial District.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lee. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Lindsay and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 

with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4221, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 

and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 

zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 

and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

 

 ORDER GRANTING ANDY ABRAMS FOUNDATION A CONDITIONAL USE 

 PERMIT TO ALLOW TRANSITIONAL HOUSING FOR SEVEN (7) TO TWELVE 

 (12) RESIDENTS WITHIN A R-4 (LIMITED MULTI-FAMILY) RESIDENTIAL 

 DISTRICT FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 142 MAGNOLIA ST (PARCEL 

 # 133-29), CASE NO. 4221. 

 

            WHEREAS, Andy Abrams Foundation has filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for a 

boarding home with a Variance from the required number of parking spaces within a R-4 (Limited 

Multi-family) Residential District for the property located at 142 Magnolia St (Parcel # 133-29) in 

the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted a Site Plan Review Application (SITE-23-41) prior 

to the submission of the Zoning Action Application which indicated that the proposed project 

would be a group home which is no longer a defined land use in the Zoning Ordinance but a 

function of the transitional housing land use; and   

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 

has recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for transitional housing for seven 

(7) to twelve (12) residents within a R-4 (Limited Multi-family) Residential District for the 

property located at 142 Magnolia St (Parcel # 133-29); and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 

that a meeting of the Jackson Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, 

September 18, 2023 to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before 

the Jackson City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 

petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on August 3, 2023 and August 17, 2023 that a 

hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on August 23, 2023, all as provided for 

by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that the Jackson 

City Planning Board had recommended approval of  a Conditional  Use Permit within the existing 

R-4 (Limited Multi-family) Residential District of the City of Jackson; and 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 

opinion that proposed use would not be detrimental to the continued use, value, or development of 

properties in the vicinity and that a Use Permit be granted to allow transitional housing for seven 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   875 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

(7) to twelve (12) residents for the property located at 142 Magnolia St (Parcel # 133-29) within 

the existing R-4 (Limited Multi-family) Residential District of the City of Jackson.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the properties located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 

Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

Lot Three (3) less a strip eight (8) feet wide off the entire North side thereof and Lot Four 

(4), less sixty (60) feet off the entire South side thereof of the F. C. Robertson Subdivision 

of a part of Lot Fifteen (15) and Sixteen (16) of the Smythe Survey, West Jackson, as 

shown by plat of record in Book A at Page 345 of the records of the Chancery Clerk of 

the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. Together with an undivided 1/5 

interest and to a strip of land eight (8) feet in width off the entire North side of the said 

Lot three (3) of the said F. E. Robertson subdivision, which is the alley upon which the 

above-described land abuts. 

LESS AND EXCEPT: being part of Lot Three (3) and Four (4), of the F. Robertson 

Subdivision as recorded in Plat Book A, at Page 345 of the Chancery Records of Hinds 

County, Mississippi and being more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at the NE corner of said Lot Three (3) and run Northwesterly along the North 

Boundary of said Lot (3), seventy (70) feet to the SW corner of Lot One (1); run thence 

Southwesterly, along the Southerly projection of the West Boundary of Lot One (1), 

seventy-one (71) feet more or less to the South boundary of that property conveyed to 

Roy G. Wilson, et ux, as recorded in Deed Book 1894 at Page 451 of the aforesaid 

Chancery Records; run thence Southeasterly along the South boundary of the said 

Wilson property seventy (70) feet to the East boundary of aforesaid Lot Four (4); run 

thence Northerly, along the East Boundary of said Lots Three (3) and Four (4), seventy-

one (71) feet more or less to the point of Beginning, less and except eight (8) feet off the 

North side of the above described property for an alley. 

The above description is intended to describe the East seventy (70) feet of that 

property conveyed to Roy G. Wilson, etux as recorded in Deed Book 1894 at Page 

451 of the Chancery Clerk Records of Hinds County, Mississippi 

be and is hereby modified so as to approve a Conditional Use Permit to allow transitional housing 

for seven (7) to twelve (12) residents for the property located at 142 Magnolia St (Parcel # 133-

29) within a R-4 (Limited Multi-family) Residential District. The Conditions of the Use Permit 

shall be that it is granted on an annual basis; that it be granted to the Andy Abrams Foundation, 

the owner/operator of the transitional house; that subsequent owners or operators of a transitional 

house at the location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit and that compliance with 

adopted property maintenance, building, fire and Zoning codes be maintained at all times.   

However, that before a Use Permit is issued for any structure to be erected or use thereof on the 

said properties, the applicant must meet the requirements established through the Site Plan Review 

process. 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Akili Kelly, representative for the Applicant, who spoke in favor of 

a Use Permit to allow for operation of a boarding home with a Variance from the required number 

of parking spaces within a R-4 (Limited Multi-Family) Residential District. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 

 

 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   876 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell, Hartley and Lee. 

Nays – Foote. 

Absent – Lindsay and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 

with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4222, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 

and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 

zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 

and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

 

 ORDINANCE GRANTING AFRICAN CHRISTIAN FELLOWSHIP USA, INC. 

 JACKSON CHAPTER A REZONING FROM I-1 (LIGHT) INDUSTRIAL 

 DISTRICT TO NMU-1 (NEIGHBORHOOD) MIXED USE DISTRICT, 

 PEDESTRIAN ORIENTED AND AN ORDER GRANTING A USE PERMIT TO 

 ALLOW FOR A COMMUNITY RECREATIONAL CENTER FOR 

 PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 1638 & 1640 S. GALLATIN ST. (PARCELS 175-

 101, 175-104, 175-104-1, 175-262, 175-266, 175-290 & 175-330).  CASE NO. 4222. 

 

WHEREAS, African Christian Fellowship USA, Inc. Jackson Chapter has filed a 

petition to rezone the properties located at 1638 & 1640 S. Gallatin St. (Parcels 175-101, 175-

104, 175-104-1, 175-262, 175-266, 175-290 & 175-330), in the City of Jackson, First Judicial 

District of Hinds County, Mississippi, from I-1 (Light) Industrial District to NMU-1, 

(Neighborhood) Mixed Use District, Pedestrian Oriented with a Use Permit to allow for the 

remodeling/ reconstructing of the buildings for religious and recreational activities; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 

has offered the recommendation to rezone the properties located at 1638 & 1640 S. Gallatin St. 

(Parcels 175-101, 175-104, 175-104-1, 175-262, 175-266, 175-290 & 175-330) from I-1 (Light) 

Industrial District to NMU-1, (Neighborhood) Mixed Use District, Pedestrian Oriented with a 

Conditional Use Permit to allow for a community recreational center; and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 

that a meeting of the Council would be held at the Jackson City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, 

September 18, 2023 to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed 

before the Jackson City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of 

said petition had been published in the  Mississippi Link on August 3, 2023 and August 17, 2023 

that a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on August 23, 2023, all as 

provided for by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and 

that the Jackson City Planning Board has offered the recommendation to rezone the properties 

located at 1638 & 1640 S. Gallatin St. (Parcels 175-101, 175-104, 175-104-1, 175-262, 175-266, 

175-290 & 175-330) from I-1 (Light) Industrial District to NMU-1, (Neighborhood) Mixed Use 

District, Pedestrian Oriented with a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a community 

recreational center; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council after having considered the matter, is of the 

opinion that such changes would be in keeping with sound land use practice and to the best 

interest of the City and that there has been a substantial change in the land use character of the 

surrounding area that justifies rezoning  the property and there is a public need for additional 

property in that area zoned in accordance with the request in said application since any previous 

Jackson City Council action for the properties at 1638 & 1640 S. Gallatin St. (Parcels 175-101, 

175-104, 175-104-1, 175-262, 175-266, 175-290 & 175-330); and     



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   877 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 

opinion that proposed use  is compatible with the character of development in the vicinity relative 

to density, bulk and intensity of structures, parking, and other uses and would not be detrimental 

to the continued use, value, or development of properties in the vicinity within the existing NMU-

1, (Neighborhood) Mixed Use District of the City of Jackson for the property at 1638 & 1640 S. 

Gallatin St. (Parcels 175-101, 175-104, 175-104-1, 175-262, 175-266, 175-290 & 175-330).  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

Tract 1: A certain lot or parcel of land lying in the Northwest Quarter of Section 7, Township 5 

North, Range 1 East, Hinds County, Mississippi, and being more particularly described by metes 

and bounds as follows, to-wit: 

Beginning at an iron pipe marking the Southwest corner of Lot 18, Jackson College Community 

Farms, run thence North along the West line of said Lot 18 327.8 feet to the Southern Right-of-

way of U. S. Highway #80, run then South 60 degrees 30 minutes East along the Southern Right-

of-way line of U. S. Highway #80 175 feet to the West line of Mississippi State property, run 

thence South 1 degree 45 minutes West along the West line of the aforementioned State property 

248.7 feet to the North line of Lynch Street, run thence North 88 degrees West along the North 

line of Lynch Street 153 feet to the point of beginning. 

Tract 2: Beginning at the Northeast Corner of that parcel of land now owned by the grantee as 

described in Hinds County Deed Record Book 976, page 294, said Corner being a point on the 

Southern right-of-way line of U. S. Highway #80, run thence South 60 degrees 30 feet East, 

parallel with and 100 feet from the center line of U. S. Highway No. 80, a distance of 233 feet, 

more or less, to a point 35 feet Westerly from the center line of present Lynch Street or North 

McRaven Road; run thence Southwesterly, parallel with and 35 feet from the center line of said 

street or road, 250 feet, more or less, to grantees present East property line; run thence North on 

said property line, 235 feet, more or less, to the point of beginning, containing 0.675 of an acre, 

more or less, and being situated in the Northwest quarter of section 7, Township 5 North, Range 

1 East, Hinds County, Mississippi. 

is hereby modified so as to approve the rezoning of the properties located at 1638 & 1640 S. 

Gallatin St. (Parcels 175-101, 175-104, 175-104-1, 175-262, 175-266, 175-290 & 175-330) from 

I-1 (Light) Industrial District to NMU-1, (Neighborhood) Mixed Use District, Pedestrian Oriented 

with a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a community recreational center.   The Conditions of 

the Use Permit shall be that the Use Permit be granted on an annual basis; be granted to, African 

Christian Fellowship USA, Inc., Jackson Chapter, the owner(s)/operator(s) of the community 

recreational center; that subsequent owners or operators of a community recreational center at 

this location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit; and compliance with adopted property 

maintenance, building, fire codes & Zoning Codes be maintained at all times. However, that 

before for any structure is erected or use thereof on the said property, the applicant must meet the 

requirements established through the Site Plan Review process.  The Zoning Administrator is 

ordered to note such change on the Official Zoning Map to the City of Jackson, Mississippi 

SECTION 2.  That the cost of publication of this Ordinance shall be borne by the petitioner.  

SECTION 3.  That this Ordinance shall be effective thirty (30) days after its passage and after 

publication of same by the petitioner.  

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

There was no representative from the Applicant.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   878 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lee. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Lindsay and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER GRANTING EXTENSION OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS AND USE 

PERMITS FOR ONE YEAR. 

            Coming for consideration are requests for the approval of the following for certification of 

renewal for one year and after the anniversary date of approval for Use Permit or Special Exceptions 

as follows: 

CASE NO. NAME LOCATION USE   GRANTED 

SE – 3844 

Ward 1 
 Anthony R. Simon 

621 E. Northside Dr. 

Jackson, MS 39206 

Professional              

Non-Retail Office 

09/16/13 

 

 

      3914 

      C-UP 

Ward 7 

 

 

 

Richard & Company, 

LLC - C/o Richard 

McKey Initially  

Issued to the  

Fondren Renaissance 

Foundation 
 

Patton Ave.  

Parcel #48-97 

Jackson, MS 39206 

Accessory Parking 

Lot 

09/21/15 

 

SE – 4097 

Ward 1 
 Lakeita F. Rox-Love 

5375 Red Fox Rd. 

Jackson, MS 39206 

Professional              

(Real Estate) Office 

09/21/20 

 

 

SE – 4137 

Ward 2 

 
 

Betty Sullivan 

 

1611 Countrywood 

Dr. 

Jackson, MS 39213 
 

Professional  

(Real Estate) Office 
9/20/21 

4141  

C-UP 

Ward 7 

 Miltoria Heath 
1110 Noel St.  

Jackson, MS 39202 

Commercial Child 

Care Center 
9/20/21 

 

C-UP   

4179  

Ward 5 
 

 Terrence Brent, Sr. 

 

540 Raymond Rd. – 

Suite 2                 

Jackson, MS 39202 
 

General  

Restaurant 
9/19/22 

 

    IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the Council of the City of Jackson that the said Use Permits 

and/or Special Exceptions be and the same are hereby extended for another year from and after the 

anniversary date granting said permits. 

President Banks moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Banks recognized Ester Ainsworth, Zoning Administrator and Kristie Metcalfe, 

Deputy City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of said item. 

 _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Grizzell and Lee. 

Nays – Foote and Hartley. 

Absent – Lindsay and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                            MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, 2023 2:30 P.M.                   879 

  MINUTE BOOK 6X 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until the next Regular Council Meeting to be held at 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, September 

26, 2023. At 3:32 p.m., the Council stood adjourned. 

 

 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

 

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST: 

 

                                         ____________     

      CITY CLERK 

 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 


















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































